
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Finance and Audit 
Committee

Members of the Finance and Audit Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned 
to attend a meeting to be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on 
Wednesday, 13 November 2019 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda 
is proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 3 - 8)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public. 

5. Treasury Management Training (6pm-7:15pm) TRAINING 
SESSION 

6. Audit & Counter Fraud Update - Q2 (Pages 9 - 34)

7. NFI Progress Report (Pages 35 - 42)

8. Treasury Management Mid-Year Review 2019/20 (Pages 43 - 60)

9. Corporate Risk Register Mid-Year review 2019/20 (Pages 61 - 
102)



10.General Fund Budget Monitoring Report - Q2 2019/20 (Pages 103 - 
126)

11.Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report - Q2 2019/20 (Pages 127 - 
142)

12.Audit Progress Report and Sector Update REPORT TO 
FOLLOW 

13.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

14.Exclusion of the public 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B

Items likely to be considered in private

None. 

Members

Cllr Gurbax Singh (Chair)
Cllr Colin Caller (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Derek Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Dakota Dibben
Sarah Gow
Nirmal Khabra
Tony Rice

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Finance and Audit Committee

Tuesday, 10 September 2019 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Gurbax Singh (Chair)
Cllr Colin Caller (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Derek Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Dakota Dibben
Sarah Gow
Nirmal Khabra
Tony Rice

Stuart Bobby Director (Corporate Services)
Anita Tysoe Service Manager (Customer and Theatre Services)
James Larkin Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
Andrew Barnett Principal Accountant (General Fund)
Alexandra Jarvis Principal Accountant (Housing and Exchequer)
Emily McKeown External Audit (Grant Thornton)
Carlie Simmonds Committee Services Manager

15. Cllr Ruth Martin 

The meeting observed a minutes silence as a mark of respect for Cllr Ruth Martin who 
recently passed away.

16. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting on Tuesday 23 July 2019 were signed by the Chair.

17. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Sarah Gow declared an interest in agenda item 6 (Local Government & Social Care 
Ombudsman Annual Review Letter) in that she worked for Kent County Council who was 
mentioned in the report. 

18. Annual Audit Letter 2018/19 

The Committee was provided with a summary of the key findings arising from the following 
work carried out by Grant Thornton LLP at Gravesham Borough Council for the year ended 
31 March 2019, as set out in the 2018/19 Audit Fee Letter:-

 auditing the 2018/19 financial statements; and
 assessing the Council's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources (Value for Money Conclusion).

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Finance and Audit Committee 10.09.2019

2

The External Auditor (Grant Thornton) drew Member’s attention to:-

 the executive summary as set out on agenda page 14; and 
 the final reports issued and fees charged as set out on agenda page 22.

The Committee was informed that as outlined in Grant Thornton’s audit plan, the 2018-19 
scale fee published by Public Sector Audit Appointments of £41,036, assumed that the 
scope of the audit would not significantly change. Following completion of the audit, it was 
established that the scope of work undertaken by the External Auditors had changed from 
what had originally been intended, resulting in additional fees to the Council of £5,200. 
However, Members were advised that the fees (including the additional fees) were still lower 
than those from the previous year. 

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that he had recently attended the Kent Finance 
Officers Group meeting and concern was expressed regarding the additional fees. It was 
agreed that each authority would hold off paying the additional fees until discussion had 
taken place with Grant Thornton.

The Committee expressed concern regarding the additional fees and agreed that the Council 
should hold off paying until discussions had taken place. 

Resolved that the contents of the report be noted.

19. Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman Annual Review Letter 

The Committee was advised that the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
(LG&SCO) publishes an annual review letter for each authority, summarising the complaints 
and enquiries they had been dealt with over the past year, along with the action taken i.e. 
whether the complaint was investigated. 

The Service Manager (Customer and Theatre Services) advised that complaints and 
enquiries would reach the LG&SCO following conclusion of the Council’s complaint 
procedure. The Council had a three stage procedure in place:-

 Stage One - In the first instance, complaints will be dealt with by the section 
responsible for the service. 

 Stage Two – If the complaint remains unresolved following stage one, there is a right 
of appeal to the Director of the service involved.

 Stage Three - If the complaint remains unresolved following stage two, there is a 
right of appeal to the Chief Executive.

The Service Manager (Customer and Theatre Services) drew Member’s attention to 
Gravesham Borough Council’s annual letter attached at appendix two of the report. 

For the year ending 31 March 2019, the LG&SCO received a total of 13 complaints or 
enquiries about Gravesham Borough Council services which was lower than the previous 
year (19) with the majority relating to Housing (7), followed by Environmental & Public 
Protection (4) and Benefits & Tax (2). 

Page 4



Finance and Audit Committee 10.09.2019

3

Of the 13 contacts, decisions were made for 12 of them as detailed at appendix three of the 
report. There was only one complaint officially investigated but it was not upheld. The final 
decision of the investigated complaint was attached at appendix four of the report.

Resolved that the contents of the report be noted.

20. Audit & Counter Fraud Update 

The Committee received a report which was the first of three updates that would be provided 
during 2019-20. The report detailed the work undertaken by the Audit and Counter Fraud 
Team between 1 April and 31 July together with the progress made against the annual 
workplan.

The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service drew Member’s attention to 
section 4.4 of the appendix which highlighted that, due to staff shortages, there had been a 
net loss of approximately 49 days from the original resource budget of 703 days for 
Gravesham. The intention will be to make up the lost time where feasible particularly as 
there was now a full staff complement. 

The Committee was informed that, despite the staff shortages, the first four months of 2019-
20 had been productive and the Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
highlighted that, as at 10 September 2019:-

 performance measure A&CF10 - Proportion of productive time spent on 
Assurance/Consultancy work was at 85%;

 performance measure A&CF11 - Proportion of productive time spent on 
proactive/reactive counter fraud work was at 50%; and

 performance measure A&CF12 - Proportion of agreed assurance assignments that 
had been delivered was currently at 21% with 39% underway. 

The Committee was also informed that the outstanding recommendations listed in section 
eight of the appendix (Private Housing Enforcement and Business Continuity Planning) were 
not a cause for concern as business continuity had been implemented since the report 
deadline and private housing enforcement was nearing completion.

With regard to the ‘Ethics’ audit/objective RMO1, the Committee noted that the review found 
that there was not a clear definition as to what ‘ethical values’ the Council holds and expects 
its employees to work by and that these values were not yet fully embedded into its 
recruitment, induction and appraisal processes. The Committee requested an approximate 
timescale for this recommended to be implemented.

The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service advised that he would look at 
the full report and would inform the Committee of the implementation date outside of the 
meeting. 

Resolved that the contents of the report be noted.

Page 5



Finance and Audit Committee 10.09.2019

4

21. Budget Monitoring Report - Q1 2019/20 

The Committee received the first budget monitoring report for 2019/20 showing the position 
up to 30 June 2019. 

The Cabinet noted the information provided on:- 

 actual performance against the approved Revenue and Capital budgets for 2019/20, 
including known variances agreed or identified through budgetary control activity; and

 other key arears of financial performance that may impact on the Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan or 
Financial Statements. 

Concern was expressed regarding the cost of £10,000 for the market café equipment and 
£23,000 for the introduction of a second till/redesign of the counter at Spotlites. 

The Service Manager (Customer and Theatre Services) advised that it was likely that the 
equipment for the market café would not be required as a competitor had expressed interest 
in acquiring a unit at the market so it was unlikely that Spotlites would continue to trade from 
the market.  The introduction of a second till/redesign of the counter at Spotlites would be 
value for money as it will enable the team to better serve customers, particularly during busy 
times.

The fact that the budget was being well managed was acknowledged and appreciated by the 
Committee. Officers confirmed that the Council will continue to maintain robust budgetary 
control actions to ensure good financial governance and respond to the pressures on the 
Council’s finances. 

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that the one year spending review announcement 
for 2020/21 was better than expected and that there would be no change to the Council’s 
Medium Term Financial Plan. The Council had delivered savings of around £3.7million to 
date and was well placed compared to other local authorities. 

The Director (Corporate Services) commended the cumulative effort of the Finance Team in 
that they had completed the Statement of Accounts by the 31 July 2019 deadline. Nationally, 
40% of Councils had not had their accounts signed off by the statutory deadline.

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that the Team was also responsible for an 
Investment portfolio (that includes both commercial properties and treasury management 
investments) which currently stood at circa £75million, and is netting the Council around 
£2.3million of income per annum. Previously, the portfolio was only generating £250K per 
annum.  The Council was one of a few that had a ten year cashflow forecast in place. 

The Committee thanked the Director (Corporate Services) and his team on the work that had 
been undertaken to date.

Resolved that the contents of the report be noted.

Page 6



Finance and Audit Committee 10.09.2019

5

22. Independent Review into the arrangements in place to support the 
transparency and quality of local authority financial reporting and 
external audit in England 

The Committee was informed that the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 led to the 
closure of the Audit Commission on 31 March 2015, replacing it with a new local framework 
for the audit of local government and certain NHS bodies that enabled these bodies to 
appoint their own auditors. Under the new arrangements, Gravesham Borough Council 
opted into a sector-led approach delivered by Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) to 
appoint the Council’s external auditor for a period of five years from 1 April 2018. Following a 
competitive process, Grant Thornton LLP was appointed as the Council’s auditor for that 
period. 

On 10 July 2019 James Brokenshire, the then Secretary of State for the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government, announced that Government would be instructing an 
independent review to examine local authority financial reporting and auditing. The review 
will be led by the former President of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance & 
Accountancy (CIPFA), Sir Tony Redmond. 

The terms of reference for the review were detailed in appendix two of the report for 
Members’ information. 

The review will make recommendations on how far the process, products and framework 
may need to improve and evolve to meet the needs of local residents and local taxpayers, 
and the wider public interest. Initial recommendations from the review will be reported to the 
Communities Secretary in December 2019, with a final report published in March 2020. 
Officers will submit updates to the Finance and Audit Committee as information becomes 
available.

Resolved that the contents of the report be noted.

23. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair 
is of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

The Principal Accountant (Housing and Exchequer) advised the intention was to provide 
further training on treasury management to Members of the Finance and Audit Committee as 
the mid-year Treasury Management Strategy Statement was due to be reviewed by the 
Committee on Wednesday 13 November 2019.

The Committee was invited to advise whether they would prefer for the training to take place 
on Tuesday 12 November 2019 or to form part of the meeting on Wednesday 13 November 
2019. The duration of the training would be no longer than 45 minutes. 

Resolved that the training forms part of the meeting on Wednesday 13 November 
2019 and that it be the first item on the agenda.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.36 pm

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Part A
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 13 November 2019

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
(Chief Audit Executive)

Subject: Audit & Counter Fraud Update 01 August to 30 September 
2019

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members with an update on the work, outputs and performance of the Audit & 
Counter Fraud Team for the period 01 August to 30 September 2019. 

Recommendations:
This report is for information only. 

1. Background

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards) require that: The chief 
audit executive must report periodically to senior management and the board on 
the internal audit activity’s purpose, authority, responsibility and performance 
relative to its plan. Reporting must also include significant risk exposures and 
control issues, including fraud risks, governance issues and other matters needed 
or requested by senior management and the board.

2. Update report 

2.1 The report at Appendix 2 is the second of three updates to be produced during 
2019-20; detailing the work undertaken by the Audit & Counter Fraud Team 
between 01 August to 30 September 2019 and the progress made against the 
annual workplan.

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 Nil 

Page 9 Agenda Item 6



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities to: undertake an 
effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control 
and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance. The Section 151 Officer of a local authority is responsible 
for establishing the internal audit service.  Gravesham Borough Council has 
delegated this responsibility to the Section 151 Officer of Medway Council to deliver 
internal audit services through the Shared Service to both authorities. The Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards are supported by CIPFA’s Local Government 
Application Note to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

An adequate and effective Audit & Counter Fraud function provides the council with 
assurance on the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of council resources 
in delivery of services, as well as helping to identify fraud and error that could have 
an adverse effect on the financial statements of the council.

Risk Assessment This report, summarising the work of the Audit & Counter Fraud team, provides a 
key source of assurance for the council on the adequacy and effectiveness of its 
internal control arrangements.  

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Page 10

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


3

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team supports the council in achieving all 
of its objectives set out in the Corporate Business Plan but is particularly relevant to 
Progress: Delivering an entrepreneurial authority, commercial in outlook and 
committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce 
and strong governance environment. 

Crime and Disorder The Audit & Counter Fraud Team provides an independent and objective opinion to 
the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in 
achieving the organisations’ objectives. The work of the team combined with a 
sound internal control environment has a positive contribution to community safety 
in its broadest sense.

Digital and website 
implications

The council’s performance management framework includes the publication of the 
outturns against the Performance Measures and Indicators in the Corporate 
Business Plan. The proportion of recommendations made by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Team that are implemented by Management is one of the council’s overall 
Performance Indicators (PI141) and is therefore reported to the public via the 
council’s Annual Report published on the council’s website. 

The Local Government Transparency Code requires the publication of data relating 
to Fraud Investigation; this is published in line with the requirements on the 
council’s website.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no direct safeguarding implications to this report.

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 22

Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council

Audit & Counter Fraud 
Update 

Gravesham Borough Council
For the period:

1 August – 30 September 2019

Page 13



Page 2 of 22

1. Introduction
1.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service for Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council was 

established on 1 March 2016. The team provides internal audit assurance and consultancy, proactive 
counter fraud and reactive investigation services, and the Single Point of Contact between both 
authorities and the Department for Work & Pensions Fraud & Error Service for their investigation of 
Benefits Fraud

1.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards) require that: The chief audit executive must 
report periodically to senior management and the board on the internal audit activity’s purpose, 
authority, responsibility and performance relative to its plan. Reporting must also include significant risk 
exposures and control issues, including fraud risks, governance issues and other matters needed or 
requested by senior management and the board.

2. Executive Summary
2.1 This report covers a short period of only two months, however, the following audit reviews have been 

finalised;

 Refunds – Opinion: Amber (2018-19 review finalised in 2019-20)
 Private Sector Housing – Disabled Facilities Grant - Opinion: Green 
 Housing Rent Administration & Collection - Opinion: Amber 
 Business Continuity – IT Backup Arrangements - Opinion: Amber 

2.2 In addition, three reviews have had fieldwork completed and have progressed to the quality control 
process, four reviews are currently underway and commencement of a number of others is being 
arranged with clients. As a consequence of this work, plan delievery as at 30 September was 29% 
complete, with a further 43% underway. Full details of the individual reviews can be found in section 5 
of this report.

2.3 Follow up of agreed recommendations has continued and perfromance as of 30 September stood at 
75%, with 24 of 32 recommendations due in the period having been implemented. Outstanding 
recommendations continue to be monitored in line with the agreed follow up process. Full details of the 
progress made in relation to recommendation follow up can be found at section 8.

2.4 Investigations concluded during the period have identified cashable savings of £142,599 in the form of 
additional council tax liabilities, both historic and future and non-cashable savings of £36,000 resulting 
from the recovery of two council properties.

2.5 There has been some impact on planned resources due to sickness and a vacancy for an Intelligence 
Analyst following the previous post holder taking a position within the team as an Audit & Counter 
Fraud Officer, resulting in a loss of 69 days from the projected 703 available at the start of the year.

2.6 The split of resources during the period has been heavily in favour of audit assurance audit assurance & 
consultancy with 88% of productive time spent in this area and on 12% in favour of pro-active and 
reactive counter fraud work; however, the balance for the year to date is 71% and 29 % respectively.  

3. Independence
3.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Charter was approved by the Finance & Audit Committee in March 2019 and 

sets out the purpose, authority and responsibility of the team. The Charter sets out the arrangements to 
ensure the team’s independence and objectivity through direct reporting lines to senior management 
and Members, and through safeguards to ensure officers remain free from operational responsibility 

Page 14



Page 3 of 22

and do not engage in any other activity that may impair their judgement. The work of the team during 
the period covered by this report has been free from any inappropriate restriction or influence from 
senior officers and/or Members.

3.2 Given its responsibilities for counter-fraud activities, the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service cannot 
provide independent assurance over the counter-fraud activities of either council. Instead, independent 
assurance over the effectiveness of these arrangements will be sought from an external supplier of audit 
services on a periodic basis. 

4. Resources
4.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service reports to the Section 151 Officers of Medway Council and 

Gravesham Borough Council. The team currently has an establishment of 14 officers, consisting of; the 
Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud, three Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leaders, eight Audit & 
Counter Fraud Officers (7.64FTE), one audit & Counter Fraud Intelligence Analyst and one Audit & 
Counter Fraud Assistant.

4.2 The Shared Service Agreement sets out the basis for splitting the available resources between the two 
councils, approximately 64% for Medway, with the remaining 36% for Gravesham. The establishment at 
the time the Audit & Counter Fraud Plans for 2019-20 were prepared, was forecasted to provide a total 
of 1,952 days available for audit and counter fraud work (net of allowances for leave, training, 
management, administration etc.)  The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan for Gravesham was prepared with a 
resource budget of 703 days. 

4.3 Net staff days available for Gravesham for the period 1 August to 30 September 2019 amounted to 114 
days and 95 days (90%) were spent on productive audit and counter fraud work.  Of this productive 
time, 83 days (88%) were spent on audit assurance and consultancy work, while 12 (12%) were spent on 
counter fraud and investigation work. In addition, 11 days were spent on SPOC related duties. The 
current status and results of all work carried out are detailed at section 5 of this report.

4.4 Staff sickness, a period of vacancy created by a promotion within the team and the retirement of one 
officer has affected the level of resources available. To date this has resulted in a net loss of 
approximately 69 days from the original resource budget of 703 days for Gravesham.

5. Results of planned Audit & Counter Fraud work
5.1 The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 2019-20 for Gravesham was approved by the Finance & Audit 

Committee in March 2019. The Plan is intended to provide a clear picture of how the council will use the 
Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service, reflecting all work to be carried out by the team for Gravesham 
during the financial year including the council’s core finance and governance arrangements, operational 
assurance work, proactive counter fraud work, responsive investigations and consultancy services. 

5.2 The tables below provide details of the work from 2018-19 that has been finalised in 2019-20, the 
progress of work undertaken as part of the 2019-20 annual plan and the results of investigative work 
completed during the period.  

Page 15



Page 4 of 22

2018-19 Internal Audit Assurance work completed in 2019-20 (items in italics reported at a previous meeting)

Ref Activity Day Budget Days Used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

5 Ethics 15 17.8 Final Report 
Issued

Findings already reported to Finance & Audit Committee – September 2019 
Meeting.

14 Use of Enforcement 
Services 
(Previously titled Use of 
Bailiffs)

10 13.8 Final Report 
Issued

Findings already reported to Finance & Audit Committee – September 2019 
Meeting.

16 Refunds 10 41.8 Final Report 
Issued

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - Adequate policies and procedures are in place for the administration of 
refunds.
The review found that a Corporate Refunds Procedure, setting out the council’s 
procedures for the refund of credits payable to customers, is in place and has been 
circulated to employees.
The Corporate Refunds Procedure requires that procedure notes are written and 
reviewed annually by each section processing refunds. Of the 11 sections which 
are noted in the Corporate Refunds Procedure as administering refunds, procedure 
notes only exist for Income and Sundry Debt, Housing, Customer Services and The 
Woodville Box Office, however not all are fully in line with the requirements within 
the Corporate Refunds Procedure.
Advice on how to request a refund and the circumstances in which a refund may or 
may not be given is limited; the Corporate Refunds Procedure is available on the 
council’s website within the About the Council – Budgets, audits & accounts – 
Other financial policies section, however cannot be easily located using the search 
function. Opinion: Amber.
RMO2 - Adequate arrangements are in place for the processing of refunds.
The review found appropriate action is taken within each individual section in 
relation to the identification of refunds, either by identification of credit balances 
or through requests from customers.
Refunds in regards to Housing, Council Tax and NNDR, and Income and Sundry 
Debt are only processed when an account has been overpaid. Similarly, refunds in 
regards to Parking are only processed when a ticket or permit has been overpaid 
or cancelled and refunds in regards to Planning are only processed when an 
application has been overpaid or withdrawn prior to validation. Refunds in regards 

P
age 16



Page 5 of 22

Ref Activity Day Budget Days Used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

to Bulky Waste are only processed on cancellation of the service and refunds in 
regard to The Woodville are only processed when an event is cancelled or at the 
General Manager’s discretion.
The review found that refunds are only administered when a written, or verbal 
request has been made (where bank details are not already held) and verification 
checks are carried out by all departments, however checks for debts due to other 
council services could not be evidenced by all departments.
Audit testing gave assurance that refunds are paid back via the original payment 
method used and system access to amend payment details is restricted. Testing 
also confirmed that all refunds processed via BACs are authorised by an officer 
with an appropriate authorisation limit. It was noted however that refunds 
reversed back to the originating card, are not all approved by an authorised officer.  
The Corporate Refunds Procedure has a dedicated section on procedures to 
recover monies when a refund has been administered in error. The review found 
that no departments had experienced any refunds issued in error, however audit 
testing did identify a human error whereby the amount refunded was more than 
that stated on the request form; this had already been rectified by the time the 
audit was undertaken. 
The council has a Charge-back policy in place which was rolled out on NETconsent 
in August 2012 to relevant officers. Audit discussions found that Housing, Parking, 
Income and Sundry Debt, Council Tax and NNDR were the only departments aware 
of chargebacks. Opinion: Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Three high, five medium and one 
low priority.
Recommendations relate to a review of the Corporate Refunds Procedure, 
implementation of procedure notes for individual departments, a review of 
information provided in respect of refunds on the council’s website, checks being 
made by Council Tax / NNDR with all relevant departments to identify other 
outstanding debts, investigations into enabling easy identification of card 
refunds, access rights within the Revenues & Benefits system being reviewed, 
provision made for customer services team leaders to be added to the 
authorised signatory list, all refunds being approved by an appropriately 
authorised officer, investigations being undertaken in relation to implementation 

P
age 17



Page 6 of 22

Ref Activity Day Budget Days Used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

of digital refund procedures for all services and the Charge-back policy being 
reviewed and re-circulated to relevant staff.

17 Write Offs 15 19.1 Final Report 
Issued

Findings already reported to Finance & Audit Committee – September 2019 
Meeting.

2019-20 Internal Audit Assurance work (items in italics reported at a previous meeting)

Ref Activity Day Budget Days Used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Core governance and financial systems assurance work
1 Governance framework 10 N/A Not Yet Started

2 Constitution 
maintenance

10 N/A Not Yet Started

3 Partnership framework 
and shared working 
arrangements 

10 10.6 Final Report Issued Findings already reported to Finance & Audit Committee – September 2019 
Meeting.

4 Treasury management 10 N/A Fieldwork 
Complete, In 
Quality Control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - In line with the CIPFA Code of Practice, the authority has an appropriate 
Treasury Management Strategy in place.
RMO2 - There are key controls in place to manage the appropriate investment of 
funds.

5 Creditors 10 N/A Not Yet Started

6 Income collection 10 N/A Not Yet Started

7 Insurances 10 N/A Terms of Reference 
being prepared

8 Budget monitoring 10 N/A Not Yet Started

9 Housing benefit 
overpayments

10 N/A Not Yet Started

P
age 18



Page 7 of 22

Ref Activity Day Budget Days Used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

10 Council tax recovery 10 N/A Fieldwork 
Complete, In 
Quality Control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - Arrangements are in place to recover unpaid council tax liabilities in a 
timely and equitable manner.

11 Housing rent 
administration and 
collection

10 13.4 Final Report Issued The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - Rent liability is accurately calculated.
The review found that the rent calculation is undertaken by Finance with due 
regard to Central Government directives that rents must be reduced by 1% per 
annum. The increase of the rents is undertaken as bulk upload and therefore 
largely automated. Testing found no errors with the rents being charged. Opinion: 
Green.
RMO2 - Adequate arrangements are in place for the administration of the 
Council’s rent accounts.
The review found that the properties owned by the council as social housing each 
have a unique identifying number, as do the tenants of these properties. Testing of 
income showed an issue with the service charges which has now been brought to 
Housing Income and Finance’s attention and left with them to resolve. The issue 
appears to have been caused, at least in part, by an unrealised error on the 
services charges spreadsheet used to update Capita and meant the wrong figures 
were provided/used. This is currently being further investigated by the Housing 
Income Team to ensure the correct figures will be used for the 2020-21 billing and 
steps are taken to ensure any tenants who overpaid their service charges are 
recompensed. 
Housing Income are proactive in chasing debts, especially where Universal Credit is 
in payment and are open to adopting new methods such as the ‘nudge theory’ to 
try and maximise collection rates.
It was found that the users for Capita are not regularly reconciled with the services 
to ensure only those officers whose roles make access appropriate have this 
access.  This could potentially allow for GDPR compliance to be breached and/or 
unauthorised access to be made. Opinion: Amber.
RMO3 - Adequate arrangements are in place for the accurate collection of rent.
The review found that tenants are advised of the rent due each week at the time 
they are offered the property, at the sign up, by being issued with a rent letter, and 
each quarter when a rent statement is issued. Where tenants fall into arrears, they 

P
age 19



Page 8 of 22

Ref Activity Day Budget Days Used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

are issued with reminder letters which also detail their current rent as well as the 
amount they are in deficit.  All of these contact methods, as well as the Tenants 
Handbook, issued to them at the time they sign up for the tenancy; give clear 
details of the methods that can be used to pay rent. 
Collection of the Direct Debits, Universal Credit, Standing Orders and bank to bank 
payments are dealt with by the Finance Team and they are responsible for 
uploading these. This is dependent on the banks supplying the data in good time to 
ensure posting can be undertaken at the correct time and any refunds allowed. 
Late posting due to the file being received late, may make an account look as if it is 
in deficit, whereas the payment is merely not posted. Opinion: Green.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: One high and one medium.
Recommendations relate to making further checks to ensure service charges are 
correct on entry and for a procedure for checking staff who have access to Capita 
are reconciled at least annually with the relevant Service Manager.

12 Asset management 15 N/A Terms of Reference 
being prepared

13 Performance data 
verification

3 2.8 Complete The team undertook verification checks on the 2018-19 performance measures 
selected for checking by the Corporate Performance Team. 

Corporate risks assurance work
14 Out of hours services 15 14.3 Final Report Issued Findings already reported to Finance & Audit Committee – September 2019 

Meeting.

15 Staff sickness 
management and 
monitoring 

15 N/A Fieldwork 
Underway

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - Appropriate arrangements exist for the reporting and recording of 
sickness absence.
RMO2 - Appropriate arrangements exist for the monitoring of sickness absence.

16 Apprenticeship scheme 15 N/A Terms of Reference 
being prepared

17 Public Place Protection 
Order Enforcement

10 N/A Fieldwork 
Complete, In 
Quality Control

The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - Appropriate arrangements are in place for the council to deliver / 
enforce the Public Space Protection Order in the town centre.   

P
age 20



Page 9 of 22

Ref Activity Day Budget Days Used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

RMO2 - Arrangements exist for enforcement services to be operated in line with 
legislation.

18 Unauthorised 
encampments

10 N/A Fieldwork 
Underway

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - Effective procedures are in place to deal with unauthorised 
encampments.
RMO2 - Effective records are kept regarding unauthorised encampments.

19 Woodville box office and 
ticketing 

10 N/A Not Yet Started

20 Garden waste collection 
service 

10 N/A Not Yet Started

21 Responsive repairs 
service (including 
supplies management) 

20 N/A Not Yet Started

22 Temporary 
accommodation 

10 N/A Fieldwork 
Underway

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - The provision of temporary accommodation is appropriately managed.
RMO2 - The budget for temporary accommodation is appropriately managed.

23 Sheltered housing 15 N/A Not Yet Started

24 Private sector housing – 
Disabled facilities grants

15 12.6 Final Report Issued The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - Arrangements are in place to facilitate and monitor the payment of 
Private Sector Housing - Disabled Facilities Grant.
The review found an up to date Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy is in place 
which sets out the various mandatory and discretionary grants available. The 
council is obliged to provide mandatory DFGs for works that are considered 
necessary to meet the needs of eligible disabled residents. A suitable budget is in 
place in order to do this and the budget is regularly monitored to ensure there are 
sufficient funds to cover the requested grants. Discretionary grants are only 
awarded if the budget allows, with mandatory grants taking priority.
Information is made available on the council’s website to enable residents to 
access Disabled Facilities Grants. All enquiries regarding DFGs have to be made via 
KCC in order that an Occupational Therapist (OT) Assessment can be carried out to 

P
age 21



Page 10 of 22

Ref Activity Day Budget Days Used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

assess the client’s needs; this is stated on the website, with contact details 
provided.
On receipt of a referral from the OT, arrangements exist for a Preliminary Test of 
Resources (PTR) to be carried out within seven days to assess entitlement for grant, 
including whether the client is required to make a financial contribution towards 
the cost of the work. PTRs are not carried out for referrals in respect of children 
and a fast track process is in place, which bypasses the need for a PTR, for grants 
below £6,000. Once the PTR has been carried out, the client is given an indication 
of the amount that could be granted and is invited to make an application. The 
forms used to apply for a grant have to comply with government standards and are 
supplied by a government affiliated company. Agents can be used by the client to 
assist with completing the application and gathering all supporting documentation. 
The council has six months to approve or refuse an application once all relevant 
paperwork has been received, however a local target of 20 days has been set. 
Arrangements exist for all decisions to be authorised and for the client to be 
notified of the decision. 
Audit testing carried out on a random sample of DFGs confirmed that PTRs had 
been carried out where appropriate, within seven days; appropriate supporting 
documents had been supplied with all applications; all grants had been authorised 
at the appropriate level; the client had been advised of whether the grant had 
been approved or refused within the appropriate timescale; the payment of grant 
had been made as per the grant award notification and any variations had been 
documented and explained; and, the invoices received matched the quotes that 
had been submitted.   
Under the provisions of the Disabled Facilities Grant, the Council is entitled to place 
a local land charge on the property if a grant application has been approved and 
paid. Land charges are applied when the value of the work is in excess of £5,000; 
the charge cannot exceed £10,000 in total and will only be recovered if the 
property is sold within 10 years of the certified completion date. Audit testing 
found that land charges are appropriately administered and monitored and any 
amounts repayable to the council are recovered. Opinion: Green.
Overall Opinion: Green. Recommendations: None.

25 Tenancy enforcement 10 N/A Not Yet Started

P
age 22



Page 11 of 22

Ref Activity Day Budget Days Used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

26 Business continuity – IT 
back-up arrangements 

10 6.4 Final Report Issued The review considered the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - There are adequate backup facilities in place.
The review found that the current process for backups is largely automated with 
backups taking place incrementally overnight and full backups running at 
weekends. This combination of weekly and incremental backups enables full data 
to be restored from the previous evening. The service are looking to improve the 
connectivity speed to recover data and to hold daily backup of data offsite, which 
would enable full data restoration to the previous evening in the event of a local 
disaster. Opinion: Amber.
RMO2 - Appropriate measures are in place to ensure the maintenance of the IT 
business continuity plan.
The review found that the IT Disaster Recovery Plan is unable to be completed 
without the Heads of Service and Managers identifying their critical functions and 
the maximum time they can be without IT. While steps are being undertaken to 
gather this information corporately, it remains to be seen how successful these are 
and if the policy is able to be completed and reviewed appropriately. 
Opinion: Amber.
Overall Opinion: Amber. Recommendations: Two high.
Recommendations relate to the introduction of a test schedule to comply with 
requirement of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 and the IT Disaster Recovery Plan 
being updated and reviewed in line with the overarching Business Continuity 
Plan. 

27 Property Acquisition 
Strategy

10 N/A Fieldwork 
Underway

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objectives:
RMO1 - Property investments are appropriately managed.

28 Finalisation of 2018-19 
planned work 

25 27.7 Complete The last review from 2018-19 has now been finalised.

29 Responsive assurance 
work 

10 N/A Underway None undertaken during the period. 

Counter Fraud Assurance Work
33 Council Tax Reduction 

Scheme 
15 N/A Proposal to remove Due to the change in management within revenues and benefits and concerns 

around the propsoed arrangements for the new banded scheme, the consultation 

P
age 23



Page 12 of 22

Ref Activity Day Budget Days Used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

has been delayed until at least 2020-21. As such it was determined that it would be 
more appropriate to delay this audit until the arrangements for the new scheme 
are confirmed. 

34 Flexi, TOIL and overtime 15 N/A Not Yet Started

Other consultancy services including advice & information

Activity Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

Romani Slovak Czech Community Group The team are in the process of reviewing the groups expenditure to confirm that money awarded by the council 
is being spent appropriately. This is ongoing.

Interreg  France (Channel) England Go Trade 
Project 

The Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leader has been appointed and undertaken training to deliver the First Level 
Controller role for Gravesham Borough Council as part of this project. 

LATCo Corporate Working Group  One of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team Leaders is part of a project group overseeing formation of a Local 
Authority Trading Compnay.   

GDPR An officer from Audit & Counter Fraud reviewed the draft project plan for the GDPR implementation.

Counter Fraud Activity

Ref Activity Day Budget Days Used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

36 Proactive investigation 
work 

30 N/A Not yet started Due to the volume of NFI matches to be reviewed, we have not undertaken any 
additional pro-active exercises at this time.

37 Data matching exercises 
(including NFI & KIN)

30 N/A Underway Checking of the matches received as part of the 2018-19 NFI exercise continues 
and a number of cases relating to council tax have been concluded. A full report 
detailing progress for the 2018-19 exercise for the council as a whole is being 
presented to the Finance & Audit Committee separately. 
The KIN project has identified some potential new businesses that are not 
registered for business rates and officers from audit & counter fraud are liaising 
with the revenues inspectors to conduct joint visits to these premises.

P
age 24



Page 13 of 22

Ref Activity Day Budget Days Used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & recommendations made

38 Fraud awareness 10 N/A Underway No awareness training undertaken during the period.

Reactive Investigations work: external investigations

Area
Number of 

referrals 
rejected

Number of 
investigations 

concluded
Summary of results Cashable Savings Non-cashable 

Savings Prevented Losses

Council Tax 3 153 120 cases concluded with the removal of the 
council tax discount/exemption and one 
case was concluded with the removal of the 
CTR award. 32 cases were concluded with no 
evidence of fraud.

£96,652.23 
(Historic Liability) 
£45,946.35 
(Additional 
liability for future 
years)

N/A N/A

Tenancy 1 3 Three cases concluded, two of which 
resulted in the recovery of council 
properties.  

N/A £36,000 N/A

Reactive Investigations work: internal investigations

Allegation Investigation activity & recommendations

No investigations undertaken during this period.

P
age 25



Page 14 of 22

6. Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme
6.1 The Standards require that: The chief audit executive must develop and maintain a quality assurance and 

improvement programme that covers all aspects of the internal audit activity. A Quality Assurance & 
Improvement Programme (QAIP) has been prepared to meet this requirement.  The Audit & Counter 
Fraud Shared Service’s QAIP was agreed by the Finance & Audit Committee in February 2019. 

6.2 The arrangements set out in the QAIP have been implemented with the collection and monitoring of 
performance data largely automated through the team’s time recording and quality management 
processes. It should be noted that the results recorded below have not been subjected to independent 
data quality verification. 

6.3 In line with the QAIP, the team monitor performance against a suite of 24 performance indicators based 
on the balanced scorecard, covering the four perspectives; financial, internal process, learning & growth 
and customer. The table below sets out the performance targets, which are grouped into measures for 
the service and those that are specific to the individual authority. Targets have been set for 17 of the 24 
indicators, however it should be noted that these are for full year outturns; as such outturns at present 
are not to target levels but are provided for Members information.  

Ref Indicator Target Outturn for report period
 

   

Non LA Specific Performance Measurements   
 

   

Cost of the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared 
Service:

 

Total Cost £676,792

A&CF1

LA Share

N/A

£209,667
A&CF2 Cost per A&CF day £400 £353

Proportion of staff with relevant professional 
qualification:
Relevant audit qualification 21%

A&CF3

Relevant fraud qualification

75%

50%
A&CF4 Proportion of non-qualified staff undertaking 

professional qualification training  
25% 7%

A&CF5 Time spent on CPD/non-professional 
qualification training, learning & 
development

70 days 18 days

A&CF6 Compliance with PSIAS 100% 98%
A&CF7 Staff turnover N/A 0 
 

   

LA Specific Performance Measurements   
 

   

A&CF8 Average cost per assurance review £5,000  £4,163
A&CF9 Proportion of available resources spent on 

productive work 
90%  83%

Proportion of productive time spent on:  
Assurance work 82%

A&CF10

Consultancy work 

65%

6%
Proportion of productive time spent on:  
Proactive counter fraud work 6%

A&CF11

Reactive counter fraud work 

35%

6%
A&CF11a Time spent on SPOC associated duties N/A  11 days

Page 26



Page 15 of 22

Proportion of agreed assurance assignments:  
Delivered 29%

A&CF12

Underway

95%

43%
A&CF13 Proportion of assignments completed within 

allocated day budget
90% 67%

A&CF14 Proportion of completed reviews subject to a 
second stage (senior management) quality 
control check in addition to the primary 
quality control review

10% 0% 

A&CF15 Proportion of recommended actions agreed 
by client management

90%  100%

Number of recommendations agreed that 
are: 

 

Not yet due 23
Implemented 24

A&CF16

Outstanding

N/A

8
A&CF17 Proportion of recommended actions 

implemented by agreed date
N/A 75%

A&CF18 Number of referrals received N/A  6
A&CF19 Number of investigations closed N/A  156

Value of fraud losses identified:  
Cashable (losses that can be recovered) £142,599
Non-cashable (notional savings based on 
national estimates) 

£36,000

A&CF20

Prevented losses (savings associated with 
blocked applications) 

N/A

£0

A&CF21 Customer satisfaction with individual 
review/assignment

95% 100% (based on two responses 
received during the period)

A&CF22 Customer satisfaction with overall service 95% A wider satisfaction survey was 
conducted in March 2019 and 
received 11 responses. Eight of the 
11 respondents (73%) were either 
satisfied or very satisfied with the 
overall service provided by Audit & 
Counter Fraud. The remaining three 
(27%) gave a neutral response.   

A&CF23 Member satisfaction with assurance 
provided (based on Chair of Audit Committee 
contribution to Appraisal of the Head of 
Audit & Counter Fraud role) 

Positive  

A&CF24 Opinion of external audit Positive  

Page 27



Page 16 of 22

7. Review of Audit & Counter Fraud Plan
7.1 Monitoring of the delivery of planned work is built into the team’s processes with individual officer time 

recording data feeding into an automated performance monitoring workbook; this tracks the 
performance of the team against the shared service work-plan as a whole and enables the supervisory 
staff to plan and support officers to deliver their individual work plans. On at least a quarterly basis, a 
projection of the resources that will be available to the year-end is carried out and compared to 
forecasts for each item of work on the plan to be completed. 

7.2 We are proposing to remove the planned counter fraud review of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme. 
This is due to the fact that the new scheme has been delayed, meaning that the timing of the review is 
no longer appropriate.  

7.3 While this is at the request of the service, the most recent resource review projects a loss of 
approximately 69 days from the original budget of  703. The removal of this review will account for 15 of 
those lost days. It is hoped that the balance of lost days can be recovered elsewhere. 

8. Follow up of agreed recommendations
8.1 Where the work of the team finds opportunities to strengthen the council’s risk management, 

governance and/or control arrangements, the team make and agree recommendations for 
improvement with service managers. The Standards require that a follow-up process is established: to 
monitor and ensure that management actions have been effectively implemented or that senior 
management has accepted the risk of not taking action. As with all audit work, resources should be 
prioritised based on risk. 

8.2 Service managers are asked to provide an update on action taken towards implementing all 
recommendations due on a monthly basis and are also asked to supply evidence to confirm that action 
has been taken in respect of all High priority recommendations, which is verfiied by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Team.  

8.3 The first of the two tables below details the current position in relation to the follow up process and the 
second details recommendations that are now more than six months over their planned implementation 
date; along with an update from the relevant Service Manager/Assistant Director/Director.

Page 28



Page 17 of 22

Status of Agreed Recommendations

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with management

Number of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive 

management response has been received

Private Housing 
Enforcement

Opinion: Amber
Three recommendations agreed: one high and two medium priority.
Recommendations related to appropriate records being maintained for PI15, the updating of 
the private housing enforcement policy and gaining understanding of whether Category two 
and non-urgent service requests are being handled in a timely manner.

Three recommendations due, three 
implemented.

Building Security Opinion: Amber. 
Five recommendations agreed: three high and two medium priority.
Recommendations relate to finalisation of the Security Policy, enhancement of arrangements 
for managing the Access Control System and enhancement of arrangements for managing 
temporary passes.

Five recommendations due, four 
implemented.
One high priority recommendation 
outstanding relating to enhancement of 
arrangements for managing the Access 
Control System. (see update in table below) 

Business Continuity No Opinion Delivered – Consultancy Review
Four recommendations agreed: one high, two medium and one low priority.
Recommendations relate to the re-designing of BCP templates, a programme of learning for 
managers, the incorporation of an audit trail in the BCP for reviews and testing and the 
identification of key essential services.

Four recommendations due, four 
implemented. 

Establishment 
Management

Opinion: Amber.
Five recommendations agreed: one high, three medium and one low priority.
Recommendations relate to ensuring consistent information is provided for all requests to 
make changes to the establishment, ensuring that HR implications are formally considered for 
each change, preparing a policy or procedure note setting out the process for making changes 
to the establishment, reviewing forms used to make changes to the establishment on Resource 
Link and carrying out periodic reconciliations between the establishment list and salaries 
budget.

Five recommendations due, five 
implemented.

Housing Allocations 
(Counter Fraud 
review)

Opinion: Amber.
Seven recommendations agreed: three high and four medium priority.
Recommendations relate to reviewing and, where appropriate, updating the current 
Allocations policy, refresher training in respect of document verification, applicants supplying 
original identification and supporting evidence in respect of all applications, application forms 

Five recommendations due, five 
implemented. 

P
age 29



Page 18 of 22

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with management

Number of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive 

management response has been received
and supporting documents being retained in all cases, the introduction of a formal process for 
all direct let authorisations, an annual review of the housing waiting list and annual  
declarations of interest being completed by all allocations staff.

VAT Opinion: Green.
Three low priority recommendations agreed.
Recommendations relate to improving VAT awareness to staff outside of Finance and 
implementing procedures in relation to VAT and bad debt write offs.

One recommendation due, none 
implemented. 
One low priority outstanding relating to VAT 
awareness training for staff. 

Brookvale Health & 
Safety 

Opinion: Amber. 
Four recommendations agreed: one high, two medium and one low priority. 
Recommendations relate to ensuring that training records are maintained and complete for all 
Brookvale operatives, a requirement for the officers undertaking risk assessments to be 
qualified to do so, ensuring that checks are made that the employment agencies who provide 
workers supply appropriate PPE and identifying an area suitable for first aid treatment, 
ensuring easy access and a washable floor.

Three recommendations due, three 
implemented. 

GDPR Opinion: Red. 
One high priority recommendation agreed. 
Recommendation relates to the implementation of an effective monitoring system once the 
Council has progressed its GDPR compliance sufficiently.

No recommendations due before 30 
September 2019.

Homelessness Opinion: Red. 
Four recommendations agreed: three high and one medium priority.  
Recommendations relate to the website being updated in line with the Homelessness 
Reduction Act, and the rebadging, implementation and publication of the Homelessness 
Prevention Strategy, as in line with the Rough Sleeping Strategy delivery plan, the creation of 
procedure notes to support the new requirements of the act, and looking at prevention 
measures and longer term accommodation options, in order to make better use of the 
temporary accommodation budget, and help prevent homelessness.

Three recommendations due, two 
implemented. 
One medium priority outstanding relating to 
the creation of procedure notes to support 
the new requirements of the act. 

Out of Hours 
Services

No Opinion Delivered – Consultancy Review
Two high priority recommendations agreed. 
Recommendations relate to establishing an Out of Hours Policy, putting in place payment 
schedules and ensuring officers verify the correct rate of payment. 

No recommendations due before 30 
September 2019.

P
age 30



Page 19 of 22

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with management

Number of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive 

management response has been received

Use of Enforcement 
Services

Opinion: Amber. 
Three recommendations agreed: one high, one medium and one low priority. 
Recommendations relate to the council’s Corporate Fair Debt Policy being circulated to all 
relevant staff, the council’s procedures and policy in respect of vulnerable debtors being 
reviewed and shared with the  Enforcement Agents, Debt Collection Agents and Sheriffs used, 
and appropriate agreements being put in place for all enforcement services, including expected 
performance arrangements then being put in place for performance to be monitored in line 
with the agreement, including documenting any meetings held.

One recommendation due, none 
implemented. 
One low priority outstanding relating to the 
council’s Corporate Fair Debt Policy being 
circulated to all relevant staff.

Ethics Opinion: Amber. 
Five recommendations agreed: two medium and three low priority. 
Recommendations relate to establishing a clear and consistent definition of what ethical values 
the council holds and expects its employees to work by, incorporating these ethical values into 
the recruitment, induction and appraisal processes, reviewing reporting arrangements outlined 
within the Anti-Fraud & Corruption Strategy and introducing arrangements to identify and 
collate reports of unethical behaviour received via the various council policies.

Four recommendations due, none 
implemeneted. 
Two medium and two low priority 
outstanding relating to establishing a clear 
and consistent definition of what ethical 
values the council holds and expects its 
employees to work by, incorporating these 
ethical values into the recruitment, 
induction and appraisal processes, and 
introducing arrangements to identify and 
collate reports of unethical behaviour 
received via the various council policies.

Refunds Opinion: Amber. 
Nine recommendations agreed: three high, five medium and one low priority. 
Recommendations relate to a review of the Corporate Refunds Procedure, implementation of 
procedure notes for individual departments, a review of information provided in respect of 
refunds on the council’s website, checks being made by Council Tax / NNDR with all relevant 
departments to identify other outstanding debts, investigations into enabling easy 
identification of card refunds, access rights within the Revenues & Benefits system being 
reviewed, provision made for customer services team leaders to be added to the authorised 
signatory list, all refunds being approved by an appropriately authorised officer, investigations 
being undertaken in relation to implementation of digital refund procedures for all services and 
the Charge-back policy being reviewed and re-circulated to relevant staff.

One recommendation due, one 
implemented. 

P
age 31



Page 20 of 22

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title Overall opinion and number of recommendations of each priority agreed with management

Number of recommendations due for 
implementation where a positive 

management response has been received

Housing Rent 
Collection & 
Administration 

Opinion: Amber. 
Two recommendations agreed: one high and one medium priority.
Recommendations relate to making further checks to ensure service charges are correct on 
entry and for a procedure for checking staff who have access to Capita are reconciled at least 
annually with the relevant Service Manager.

One recommendation due, one 
implemented.

Business Continuity 
– IT Backup 
Arrangements

Opinion: Amber.
Two high priority recommendations agreed.  
Recommendations relate to the introduction of a test schedule to comply with requirement of 
the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 and the IT Disaster Recovery Plan being updated and reviewed 
in line with the overarching Business Continuity Plan.

No recommendations due before 30 
September 2019.

P
age 32



Page 21 of 22

Recommendations still outstanding more than six months after scheduled implementation date

Directorate Audit & 
Counter Fraud 

Review title

Recommendation Priority Planned 
Implementation 

Date

Management Update

Communities Building 
Security

Enabled user groups should be 
reviewed and those no longer 
required removed from the ACS and 
vulnerable areas of the council 
buildings should be identified via risk 
assessment, an officer responsible for 
agreeing which officers can access 
each of these areas should be 
nominated and a process should be 
put in place to periodically review 
access to these areas.

High 31 March 2018 Although outstanding at 30 September 2019, the 
recommendation has since been implemented. 

P
age 33



Appendix A

Page 22 of 22

Definitions of audit opinions & Recommendation 
Priorities

Green – Risk 
management operates 
effectively and 
objectives are being 
met 

Expected controls are in place and effective to ensure risks are well 
managed and the service objectives are being met. Any errors 
found are minor or the occurrence of errors is considered to be 
isolated. Recommendations made are considered to be 
opportunities to enhance existing arrangements.

Amber – Key risks are 
being managed to 
enable the key 
objectives to be met 

Expected key or compensating controls are in place and generally 
complied with ensuring significant risks are adequately managed 
and the service area meets its key objectives. Instances of failure 
to comply with controls or errors / omissions have been identified. 
Improvements to the control process or compliance with controls 
have been identified and recommendations have been made to 
improve this.

Red – Risk management 
arrangements require 
improvement to ensure 
objectives can be met 

The overall control process is weak with one or more expected key 
control(s) or compensating control(s) absent or there is evidence 
of significant non-compliance.  Risk management is not considered 
to be effective and the service risks failing to meet its objectives, 
significant loss/error, fraud/impropriety or damage to reputation.  
Recommendations have been made to introduce new controls, 
improve compliance with existing controls or improve the 
efficiency of operations.

High The findings indicate a fundamental weakness in control that leaves the 
council exposed to significant risk. The recommended action addresses 
the weakness identified; to mitigate the risk exposure and enable the 
achievement of key objectives. Management should address the 
recommendation as a matter of urgency. 

Medium The findings indicate a weakness in control, or lack of compliance with 
existing controls, that leaves the system open to risk, although it is not 
critical to the achievement of objectives. Management should address the 
recommendation within a reasonable timeframe.

Low The findings have identified an opportunity to enhance the efficiency or 
effectiveness of the system/control environment. Management should 
address the recommendation as resources allow. 

Page 34



Classification: Part A
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 13 November 2019

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
(Chief Audit Executive)

Subject: National Fraud Initiative Exercise 2018-19 – Progress Report

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members with an update on the work completed in relation to the data matches 
received as part of the National Fraud Initiative Exercise. 

Recommendations:
This report is for information only. 

1. Background

1.1 The council proactively takes part in the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) exercise, 
which is co-ordinated by the Cabinet Office. This is a nationwide data matching 
exercise, comparing computer records held by the council against other computer 
records held by councils and other public bodies, with a view to identifying 
potential instances of fraud or irregularity. 

1.2 There are two separate exercises, one matches council tax single person discount 
(SPD) to the electoral register and is run on an annual basis. Data is submitted 
between December, once the electoral register has been published, and February 
the following year, with the results received within hours. 

1.3 The second exercise takes data from the council in relation to; 

 housing (tenancies, right to buy, waiting list),
 housing benefit,
 council tax reduction,
 residents parking permits,
 creditors (historic and standing),
 market traders,
 personal alcohol licences,
 payroll, and
 private hire (taxi) licences,

Page 35 Agenda Item 7



2

and is run on a bi-annual basis with data submitted in October and the results 
identified from the subsequent data matching released to the authority in January 
the following year. 

1.4 Matches can be reviewed by the individual services they relate to, with suspicious 
results referred to the Audit & Counter Fraud (A&CF) Service for investigation, or 
reviewed directly by the A&CF service.

1.5 This report provides an update on the 2018-19 exercise, which includes the 
matches resulting from all the data sets mentioned above, and gives an overview 
of the activity undertaken across the council in response to the potential 
discrepancies identified.

2. Progress

2.1 The matches received can be categorised in seven key areas of the council and 
progress as at 30 September 2019 is reported under each of those headings.

Council Tax 

2.2 The matches relating to council tax (CTAX) are checked by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Service and initially 2,253 matches were received across the various 
reports. These relate to persons with a single person discount where the data 
match has identified;

 Electoral roll with more than one person at the address (757 matches),
 Electoral roll suggesting an occupant who is about to reach 18 (56 matches), 

and
 Other council records showing alternative persons registered at the address 

(1440 matches).

2.3 The matches against other council data sets have not been given priority at this 
time. This is due to the fact that the majority of the councils data was submitted in 
October but the CTAX SPD data, on this occasion, was not submitted until the 
following February. This means there is likely to be a high number of false 
positives created by residents changing address in the period between data 
submissions.

2.4 To date the work has focused on the matches to the electoral roll and all of the 
757 matches indicating more than one individual at an address have been 
assessed and resulted in the following;

 197 matches remain open while enquiries are conducted
 419 closed with no evidence of fraud
 141 SPD removed (22 replaced with an alternative discount)

2.5 This represents a success rate of 18.63% to date and has led to additional CTAX 
liability of £100,061 and an additional £47,005 in future years in relation to 
discounts that will no longer be applied.

2.6 The 56 matches relating to persons about to turn 18 will be discussed with the 
CTAX department for a flag to be added to the relevant account for enquiries to be 
made with the customer at the appropriate time.

Page 36



3

2.7 In August 2019, the Cabinet office released new matches following a successful 
pilot for matching against PAYE data held by HMRC. This has produced an 
additional 2,559 matches where PAYE data indicates there may be additional 
occupants at addresses where an SPD is in place. 

2.8 As yet we have not had opportunity to review any of these matches and have no 
indication as to the age of the HMRC data that was used. It is therefore intended 
that a sample of those matches will be checked to gauge the likelihood of potential 
false matches as with the data from other council departments.

Housing Benefit 

2.9 Results linked to housing benefit (HB) are spread across 26 different reports. 
These reports identify potential employment, other income and additional 
residents that may not have been declared for the purpose of the benefit 
assessment. It should be noted that the majority of these people are also in 
receipt of council tax reduction as part of their claim.

2.10 The benefits section have been responsible for reviewing the 403 matches linked 
to those reports, using the risk score provided by the Cabinet Office to target the 
high priority matches first. Any instances of potential fraud are referred directly to 
the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) for further investigation.

2.11 As of 30 September, enquiries linked to 403 matches have resulted in the 
following;

 one match awaiting initial checks,
 three matches open for further enquiries (this includes cases referred to DWP 

for formal investigation),
 335 closed with no evidence of fraud or error 
 64 matches resulting in an overpayment of housing benefit/council tax 

reduction.

2.12 This represents a success rate of 67.39% to date and has led to the identification 
of housing benefit overpayments totalling £13,859.15 and excess council tax 
reduction awards of £4,219.77. In addition housing benefit awards have been 
reduced by a total of £744.88 per week (annual saving of £38,734) and council tax 
reduction awards have been reduced by a total of £51.93 per week (annual saving 
of £2,700)

2.13 An additional 112 matches from two new reports were received in August 2019 
linked to HMRC data, which identify potential additional occupants or capital in the 
form of property ownership that may not have been declared. These matches are 
going to be reviewed by the Audit & Counter Fraud Service.

Council Tax Reduction

2.14 Results linked to Council Tax Reduction (CTR) are spread across 25 different 
reports. As with the HB dataset matches, these reports identify potential 
employment, other income and additional residents that may not have been 
declared for the purpose of the benefit assessment and the majority of those 
people are also in receipt of HB as part of the same claim. 

2.15 As of 30 September, enquiries linked to 427 matches have resulted in the 
following;

Page 37



4

 13 matches awaiting initial checks,
 17 matches open for further enquiries (this includes cases referred to DWP for 

formal investigation where housing benefit is also in payment),
 352 closed with no evidence of fraud or error 
 45 matches resulting in an overpayment of housing benefit/council tax 

reduction.

2.16 This represents a success rate of 22.53% to date and has led to the identification 
of HB overpayments totalling £3,048.93 and excess CTR awards of £7,670.81. In 
addition HB awards have been reduced by a total of £106.01 per week (annual 
saving of £5,513) and CTR awards have been reduced by a total of £103.88 per 
week (annual saving of £5,402)

2.17 An additional 304 matches from three new reports were received in August 2019 
linked to HMRC data, which identify potential additional occupants or capital in the 
form of property ownership that may not have been declared. These matches are 
going to be reviewed by the Audit & Counter Fraud Service.

Payroll

2.18 Payroll matches are aimed at identifying employees who may have undeclared 
secondary employment that could lead to a failure to work their contracted hours 
and also any employees that are creditors providing services to the council, which 
could lead to potential undeclared interests or procurement corruption.

2.19 16 matches were received across eight reports and to date 13 have been closed 
with no evidence of fraud. The remaining three, which relate to employees that 
have been identified as creditors are yet to be reviewed.

Housing

2.20 Results linked to housing are spread across 28 different reports. These reports 
identify individuals who potentially have tenancies with more than one authority, 
discrepancies that suggest right to buy applications may be fraudulent, and 
individuals on the council waiting list that appear to have tenancies with other local 
authorities/Housing Associations or are on the waiting list of other local 
authorities.

2.21 The A&CF service are responsible for checking the 321 matches but to date only 
six have been checked; all of which have been closed with no evidence of fraud. 
This is due to the limited resources available in the team since April due to the 
period of vacancy for the Intelligence Analyst post. Priority was given to the CTAX 
matches as previous exercises have identified a higher percentage of success in 
that area.

2.22 Following the appointment of a new Intelligence Analyst who commenced 
employment on 09 September, work to assess these matches will be undertaken 
in the coming months to determine what action is required. 

Parking

2.23 Residents Parking Permits are matched to the deceased data held by the DWP to 
identify any active permits registered to customers who are now deceased.

Page 38



5

2.24 38 matches were received but are yet to be checked. This is due to the resource 
issues mentioned in paragraph 2.21. Assessment of this matches will commence 
as soon as possible.

Finance

2.25 Results linked to finance are spread across eight different reports. These reports 
identify potential duplicate payee records in the system, duplicate payments to 
creditors and overpayments of VAT. 

2.26 A total of 568 matches were received and have been reviewed by the finance 
service with the following identified to date;

 50 matches awaiting initial checks,
 five matches open for further enquiries,
 502 closed with no evidence of fraud or error 
 11 duplicate payments to creditors identified  

2.27 The success rate to date is only 1.94% but the duplicate payments identified total 
£25,583.26 and steps are being taken to recover monies or have credit notes 
added to the appropriate accounts for future invoices.

Overall Summary

2.28 Gravesham has received a total of 7057 matches since January 2019 as part of 
the 2018-19 NFI exercise. Overall performance to date is as follows;

 4947 matches awaiting initial checks (70%),
 222 matches open for further enquiries (3%),
 1627 closed with no evidence of fraud or error (23%)
 261 matches have led to the identification of an error (4%)

2.29 Work on the outstanding matches continues and a further update will be 
presented to Members along with the Audit & Counter Fraud Annual Report in 
June 2020.

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 Nil 

Page 39



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities to: undertake an 
effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control 
and governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance. The Section 151 Officer of a local authority is responsible 
for establishing the internal audit service.  Gravesham Borough Council has 
delegated this responsibility to the Section 151 Officer of Medway Council to deliver 
internal audit services through the Shared Service to both authorities. The Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards are supported by CIPFA’s Local Government 
Application Note to the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

An adequate and effective Audit & Counter Fraud function provides the council with 
assurance on the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of council resources 
in delivery of services, as well as helping to identify fraud and error that could have 
an adverse effect on the financial statements of the council.

Risk Assessment This report, summarising the work of the Audit & Counter Fraud team, provides a 
key source of assurance for the council on the adequacy and effectiveness of its 
counter fraud arrangements.  

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Page 40

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


7

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The work of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team supports the council in achieving all 
of its objectives set out in the Corporate Business Plan but is particularly relevant to 
Progress: Delivering an entrepreneurial authority, commercial in outlook and 
committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce 
and strong governance environment. 

Crime and Disorder The Audit & Counter Fraud Team provides an independent and objective opinion to 
the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its effectiveness in 
achieving the organisations’ objectives. The work of the team combined with a 
sound internal control environment has a positive contribution to community safety 
in its broadest sense.

Digital and website 
implications

The council’s performance management framework includes the publication of the 
outturns against the Performance Measures and Indicators in the Corporate 
Business Plan. The proportion of recommendations made by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Team that are implemented by Management is one of the council’s overall 
Performance Indicators (PI141) and is therefore reported to the public via the 
council’s Annual Report published on the council’s website. 

The Local Government Transparency Code requires the publication of data relating 
to Fraud Investigation; this is published in line with the requirements on the 
council’s website.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no direct safeguarding implications to this report.

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Finance and Audit Committee

Date: 13 November 2019

Reporting officer: Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Treasury Management Mid-Year Review 2019-20

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide a mid-year review update report to Members of the Finance and Audit Committee 
on treasury management activity undertaken during the period April to September 2019.

Recommendations:
1. The Finance and Audit Committee note the contents of this report.

1. BACKGROUND

1.1 Capital Strategy In December 2017, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy, (CIPFA), issued revised Prudential and Treasury Management 
Codes. As from 2019/20, all local authorities have been required to prepare a 
Capital Strategy which is to provide the following: - 
 a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and 

treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services; 
 an overview of how the associated risk is managed; 
 the implications for future financial sustainability. 

1.2 Treasury management The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly 
means cash raised during the year will meet its cash expenditure.  Part of the 
treasury management operations ensure this cash flow is adequately planned, 
with surplus monies being invested in low risk counterparties, providing adequate 
liquidity initially before considering optimising investment return.

1.3 The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of 
the Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing 
need of the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure the 
Council can meet its capital spending operations.  This management of longer 
term cash may involve arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term 
cash flow surpluses, and on occasion any debt previously drawn may be 
restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives.

Page 43 Agenda Item 8



1.4 Accordingly, treasury management is defined as:

“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, 
its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of 
the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks.”

2. INTRODUCTION

2.1 This report has been written in accordance with the requirements of the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice 
on Treasury Management (revised 2017).  The primary requirements of the Code 
are as follows:

 Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement 
which sets out the policies and objectives of the Council’s treasury 
management activities.

 Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set 
out the manner in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and 
objectives.

 Receipt by the Full Council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement - including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum 
Revenue Provision Policy - for the year ahead, a Mid-year Review Report 
and an Annual Report (stewardship report) covering activities during the 
previous year.

 Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and 
monitoring treasury management policies and practices and for the 
execution and administration of treasury management decisions.

 Delegation by the Council of the role of scrutiny of treasury management 
strategy and policies to a specific named body.  For this Council the 
delegated body is the Finance and Audit Committee.

2.2 This mid-year report has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management, and covers the following:

 An economic update for the first half of the 2019/20 financial year;
 A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 

Investment Strategy;
 The Council’s capital expenditure, as set out in the Capital Strategy, and 

prudential indicators;
 A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2019/20;
 A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2019/20;
 A review of any debt rescheduling undertaken during 2019/20;
 A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2019/20.

3. ECONOMIC BACKGROUND

3.1 The following economic performance update has been provided by Link Asset 
Services – Treasury Solutions as at 16 October 2019.

Page 44



3.2 If the UK does soon achieve a deal on Brexit agreed with the EU then it is possible 
that growth could recover relatively quickly. The MPC could then need to address 
the issue of whether to raise Bank Rate at some point in the coming year with low 
unemployment, this could cause wage inflation to accelerate which would then 
feed through into general inflation.  On the other hand, if there is a no deal Brexit 
and there was a significant level of disruption to the economy, then growth could 
weaken even further than currently and the MPC would be likely to cut Bank Rate 
in order to support growth. However, with Bank Rate still only at 0.75%, it has 
relatively little room to make a big impact and the MPC would probably suggest 
that it would be up to the Chancellor to provide help to support growth by way of a 
fiscal boost by e.g. tax cuts, increases in the annual expenditure budgets of 
government departments and services and expenditure on infrastructure projects, 
to boost the economy.

3.3 The first half of 2019/20 has seen UK economic growth fall as Brexit uncertainty 
continued. In its Inflation Report of 1 August, the Bank of England was notably 
downbeat about the outlook for both the UK and major world economies. The MPC 
meeting of 19 September reemphasised their concern about the downturn in world 
growth and also expressed concern that prolonged Brexit uncertainty would 
contribute to a build-up of spare capacity in the UK economy, especially in the 
context of a downturn in world growth.  This mirrored investor concerns around the 
world which are now expecting a significant downturn or possibly even a recession 
in some major developed economies. It was therefore no surprise that the 
Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) left Bank Rate unchanged at 0.75% throughout 
2019, so far, and is expected to hold off on changes until there is some clarity on 
what is going to happen over Brexit. 

3.4 As for inflation itself, CPI has been hovering around the Bank of England’s target of 
2% during 2019, but fell to 1.7% in August. It is likely to remain close to 2% over 
the next two years and so it does not pose any immediate concern to the MPC at 
the current time. However, if there was a no deal Brexit, inflation could rise towards 
4%, primarily as a result of imported inflation on the back of a weakening pound.

3.5 Employment has continued to rise, but at only a muted rate of 31,000 in the three 
months to July after having risen by no less than 115,000 in quarter 2 itself: the 
latter figure, in particular, suggests that firms are preparing to expand output and 
suggests there could be a return to positive growth in quarter 3.  Unemployment 
continued at a 44 year low of 3.8% on the Independent Labour Organisation 
measure in July and the participation rate of 76.1% achieved a new all-time high. 
Job vacancies fell for a seventh consecutive month after having previously hit 
record levels.  However, with unemployment continuing to fall, this month by 
11,000, employers will still be having difficulty filling job vacancies with suitable 
staff.  It was therefore unsurprising that wage inflation picked up to a high point of 
3.9% in June before easing back slightly to 3.8% in July, (3 month average regular 
pay, excluding bonuses).  This meant that in real terms, (i.e. wage rates higher 
than CPI inflation), earnings grew by about 2.1%. As the UK economy is very much 
services sector driven, an increase in household spending power is likely to feed 
through into providing some support to the overall rate of economic growth in the 
coming months.

4. INTEREST RATE FORECASTS

4.1 The Council’s treasury advisor, Link Asset Services, has provided the following 
interest rate forecast:

Page 45



4.2 The above forecasts have been based on an assumption that there is an agreed 
deal on Brexit at some point in time. Given the current level of uncertainties, this is 
a huge assumption and so forecasts may need to be materially reassessed in the 
light of events over the next few weeks or months.

4.3 The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) has left Bank Rate unchanged at 0.75% so 
far in 2019 due to the ongoing uncertainty over Brexit.  In its meeting on 1 August, 
the MPC became more dovish as it was more concerned about the outlook for both 
the global and domestic economies. That’s shown in the policy statement, based 
on an assumption that there is an agreed deal on Brexit, where the suggestion that 
rates would need to rise at a “gradual pace and to a limited extent” is now also 
conditional on “some recovery in global growth”. Brexit uncertainty has had a 
dampening effect on UK GDP growth in 2019, especially around mid-year. If there 
were a no deal Brexit, then it is likely that there will be a cut or cuts in Bank Rate to 
help support economic growth. The September MPC meeting sounded even more 
concern about world growth and the effect that prolonged Brexit uncertainty is 
likely to have on growth.

4.4 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably to the 
downside due to the weight of all the uncertainties over Brexit, as well as a 
softening global economic picture.

4.5 Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently 
include:

 Brexit – if it were to cause significant economic disruption and a major 
downturn in the rate of growth

 Bank of England takes action too quickly, or too far, over the next three 
years to raise Bank Rate and causes UK economic growth, and increases 
in inflation, to be weaker than we currently anticipate

 A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis

 Weak capitalisation of some European banks, particularly Italian banks

 Other European risks include German or other minority EU governments, 
strongly anti-immigration bloc within Europe and rising anti-immigration 
sentiment in Germany and France

 There are concerns around the level of US corporate debt which has 
swollen massively during the period of low borrowing rates in order to 
finance mergers and acquisitions. 

Page 46



 Geopolitical risks, for example in North Korea, but also in Europe and the 
Middle East, which could lead to increasing safe haven flows

4.6 The potential for upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB 
rates,:-

 Brexit – if agreement was reached all round that removed all threats of 
economic and political disruption between the EU and the UK

 The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in 
Bank Rate and, therefore, allows inflationary pressures to build up too 
strongly within the UK economy, which then necessitates a later rapid 
series of increases in Bank Rate faster than we currently expect

 UK inflation, whether domestically generated or imported, returning to 
sustained significantly higher levels causing an increase in the inflation 
premium inherent to gilt yields

5. TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT AND ANNUAL 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY UPDATE

5.1 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2019/20 was approved 
by Council on 26 February 2019.

5.2 As a result of the Finance Lease entered into with Reef in relation to the St 
Georges Centre in 2018/19, the authorised limit and operational boundary were 
subsequently amended.  This was reported to the Finance and Audit Committee as 
part of the annual treasury review on 11 June 2019 and approved by Council on 
25 June 2019.

5.3 There are no policy changes to the TMSS; the details in this report update the 
position in the light of the updated economic position and budgetary changes 
already approved.

6. THE COUNCIL’S CAPITAL POSITION (PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS)

6.1 This part of the report is structured to update:

 The Council’s capital expenditure plans;

 How these plans are being financed

 The impact of changes in the capital expenditure plans on the prudential 
indicators and the underlying need to borrow; and

 Compliance with the limits in place for borrowing activity.

6.2 Prudential Indicator for Capital Expenditure - The following below shows the revised 
estimates for capital expenditure and the changes since the capital programme was 
agreed by Council as part of the budget.  

Page 47



Capital Expenditure 2019/20
Original 
Estimate

£m

2019/20
Current 
Position

£m

2019/20
Revised 
Estimate

£m

Non HRA 8.259 1.396 6.579

HRA 15.889 10.037 18.367

Commercial 
activities/non-financial 
investments

12.122 0.010 6.946

Total 36.270 11.443 31.892

6.3 The general fund capital programme for 2019/20 totals £23.933m.  However, the 
revised estimate for Commercial activities in the table above reflects expected 
slippage against the Brookvale Accommodation and Land at Dering Way schemes.  
The revised estimate for Non HRA in the table above reflects information from the 
most recent cashflow provided by Reef for the Heritage Quarter – St George’s 
Centre, which shows expenditure in the region of £2.435m in 2019/20 against a 
working budget of £8.272m.

6.4 The revised estimated for the HRA reflects the acceleration of the New Build 
Programme as reported in the Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring 
Report Quarter Two 2019/20.

6.5 Changes to the Financing of the Capital Programme - The table below draws 
together the main strategy elements of the capital expenditure plans (above), 
highlighting the original supported and unsupported elements of the capital 
programme, and the expected financing arrangements of this capital expenditure.  
The borrowing element of the table increased the underlying indebtedness of the 
Council by way of the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), although this will be 
reduced in part by revenue charges for the repayment of debt (Minimum Revenue 
Provision).  This direct borrowing need may also be supplemented by maturing 
debt and other treasury requirements.

Capital Expenditure 2019/20
Original 
Estimate

£m

2019/20
Current 
Position

£m

2019/20
Revised 
Estimate

£m

Total 36.270 11.443 31.892

Financed by:

Capital Receipts 0.925 0.058 1.507

Grants 6.475 1.076 4.385

Reserves 8.762 3.271 10.088

Revenue 0.000 0.000 0.000

Major Repairs Reserve 8.221 7.027 8.966

Total Financing 24.383 11.432 24.946

Page 48



Borrowing Need 11.887 0.011 6.946

6.6 The borrowing need for 2019/20 currently stands at £6.946.  At this stage it is 
intended to fund capital expenditure in relation to the Property Acquisition 
Programme and Land Acquisition Programme from internal cash balances as 
opposed to taking on additional external borrowing.

6.7 Changes to the Prudential Indicator for the Capital Financing Requirement  
(CFR), External Debt and the Operational Boundary - The table below shows the 
CFR, which is the underlying external need to borrowing for a capital purpose.  
Based on the current capital expenditure forecasts for 2019/20, the revised CFR as 
at year end is expected to be lower than originally estimated.

Capital Financing 
Requirement

2019/20
Original 

Estimate*
£m

2019/20
Revised 
Estimate

£m
CFR – Non HRA 103.863 101.617

CFR – HRA 77.598 79.826

CFR – Commercial 
activities/non-financing activities 36.133 30.270

Total CFR 217.594 211.713

Net Movement in CFR 7.222 1.341
*Updated June 2019

6.8 Prudential Indicator for External Debt and the Operational Boundary – The table 
below shows the current level of debt against the expected debt position over the 
financial year.

External Debt Operational BoundaryExternal Debt and 
Operational Boundary Current Debt 

Position

£m

2019/20
Original 

Estimate*
£m

2019/20
Revised 
Estimate

£m
Borrowing 93.872 124.100 124.100

Borrowing – 
Commercial/non-
financing activities

0.000 30.000 30.000

Other long term 
liabilities 93.625 96.300 96.300

Total 187.497 250.400 250.400
*Updated June 2019

6.9 The operational boundary is the maximum amount of borrowing which the council 
is permitted to undertake on a day to day basis and must not be breached other 
than for temporary cash flow demand purposes.  The operational boundary for 
2019/20 was retrospectively increased by Finance and Audit Committee on 11 
June 2019.  This level has not been breached during the first six months of 

Page 49



2019/20.  There is also no requirement to further increase the operational 
boundary at this stage.

6.10 Limits to Borrowing Activity - The first key control over the treasury activity is a 
prudential indicator to ensure that over the medium term, net borrowing 
(borrowings less investments) will only be for a capital purpose.  Gross external 
borrowing should not, except in the short term, exceed the total CFR in the 
preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2019/20 and next two 
financial years.  This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future 
years.  The Council has approved a policy for borrowing in advance of need which 
will be adhered to if this proves prudent.

Borrowing Activity 2019/20
Original 
Estimate

£m

2019/20
Current 
Position

£m

2019/20
Revised 
Estimate

£m

Debt as at 1 April 93.911 93.912 93.912

Debt repayment (4.819) (0.040) (4.819)

New Loan 5.900 0.000 0.000

Gross Debt 94.992 93.872 93.831

Other long term liabilities 93.432 93.625 93.432

Total liabilities 188.424 187.497 187.263

CFR (year-end position) 217.594 209.025 211.713

6.11 The Director (Corporate Services) reports that no difficulties are envisaged for the 
current or future years in complying with this prudential indicator.

6.12 Prudential Indicator for the Authorised Limit - A further prudential indicator 
controls the overall level of borrowing. This is the Authorised Limit which 
represents the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited, and needs to be set and 
revised by Members.  It reflects the level of borrowing which, while not desired, 
could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term. It is 
the expected maximum borrowing need with some headroom for unexpected 
movements. This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003.

Authorised limit for 
External Debt

2019/20
Original 

Estimate*
£m

2019/20
Current 
Position

£m

2019/20
Revised 
Estimate

£m

Borrowing 124.100 124.100 124.100

Borrowing – Commercial 
activities/non-financial 
investments

35.000 35.000 35.000

Other long term liabilities 97.800 97.800 97.800

Total 256.900 256.900 256.900
*Updated June 2019

Page 50



7. INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO 2019/20

7.1 In accordance with the Treasury Management Code, it is the Council’s priority to 
ensure security of capital and liquidity, and to obtain an appropriate level of return 
which is consistent with the Council’s risk appetite.  As set out in Section 3, it is a 
very difficult investment market in terms of earning the level of interest returns 
commonly seen in previous decades as rates are very low and in line with the 
current 0.75% Bank Rate.  The continuing potential for a re-emergence of a 
Eurozone sovereign debt crisis and its impact on banks, prompts a low risk 
strategy.  Given this risk environment, and the fact that increases in Bank Rate are 
likely to be gradual and unlikely to return to the levels seen in previous decades, 
investment returns are likely to remain low.

7.2 The Council held £32.314m of market investments and £20.035m in pooled 
investment funds (ie Property Funds and Multi Asset Funds) as at 30 September 
2019 (£34.891m and £20.364m respectively as at 31 March 2019).  The internally 
managed investment portfolio yield for the first six months of the year is 0.960% 
against the 3 month LIBID benchmark of 0.66%.  Appendix 2 provides a pictorial 
representation of investment balances and returns for the first six months of this 
year as well as the yield generated.

7.3 Appendix 3 provides full list of investments held as at 30 September 2019.

7.4 The Director (Corporate Services) confirms that the approved limits within the 
Annual Investment Strategy were not breached during the first six months of 
2019/20.

7.5 As per the Quarter 2 Budget Monitoring Report, currently there is a favourable 
forecast income from investments of £75k.  When setting the investment income 
budget for the Multi Asset Funds, a prudent view of a 3% return was assumed 
given that at the that time, the investment had only been held for approximately 
nine months.   However, currently the dividend returns from Multi Asset Funds are 
around 4%.

7.6 Similarly when setting the investment income budget for Property Funds, whilst the 
investments has been held since 2016, a prudent view was taken that returns 
would be around 3% given the uncertain economic conditions surrounding Brexit.  
Whilst there has been a small decrease in the Net Asset Value of the Council’s 
investment as a result of these uncertainties in recent months, dividend returns are 
around 3.6%.

7.7 Investment Counterparty Criteria – The current investment counterparty criteria 
selection approved in the TMSS is meeting the requirement of the treasury 
management function.

8. PROPERTY FUNDS AND DIVERSIFIED INCOME FUNDS

8.1 In the 2016/17 £10m was placed in three Externally Managed Property Funds.  In 
2017/18 a further £10m was placed in three Multi Asset Funds.

8.2 The table shows the Net Asset Value (NAV) for each of the Property Funds and 
Multi Asset Funds as at end of September compared to the Purchase Price, along 
with the average gross return on investment to date.

Page 51



Purchase 
Price Sept NAV % Change 

NAV

Average Gross 
Return on 
Investment

Property Funds

CCLA £1,873,528 £1,928,102 2.91% 5.02%

Lothbury £4,949,648 £5,283,266 6.74% 2.92%

Hermes £2,883,821 £3,269,727 13.38% 3.85%

Multi Asset Funds

JP Morgan £5,000,000 £4,939,863 -1.20% 3.40%

Jupiter £3,000,000 £2,751,555 -8.28% 3.55%

Aberdeen £2,000,000 £1,862,148 -6.89% 5.14%

Total £19,706,997 £20,034,661 1.66% -

Note  – The average gross return is based on the 12 months to 30 September.  

8.3 Monitoring continues as to the performance as well as the suitability of the 
Property Funds and Multi Asset Funds on a regular basis.

8.4 The NAV on the Property Funds has fallen slightly from its highest position in 
Quarter 4 of 2018/19, but recent valuations still result in total capital growth of 
7.97%.

8.5 Multi Asset Funds continue to be volatile due to their exposure to the equity 
markets.  However there has recently been an increase in the NAV which has 
reduced the capital loss on these products to 4.46%.  This is an improved position 
from December 2018, when the capital loss stood at 9.71%.  Officers continue to 
monitor the position of these funds closely and meet with the Fund Managers 
regularly to understand to how the fund is being managed.

8.6 It must be remembered that investment in Property Funds and Multi Asset Funds 
need to be viewed as a long term investments and that values can go up as well as 
down.  This is particularly relevant following the introduction of International 
Financial Reporting Standard 9 (IFRS9) which came into effect from 1 April 2018.  
More information on IFRS9 is included in this report at section 13.

9. CASHFLOW

9.1 A cashflow forecast is regularly presented to Members of the Finance and Audit 
Committee.  Officers are currently in the process of reviewing the assumptions 
contained within the cashflow and an updated version will be available shortly.

10. BORROWING

10.1 The Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) for 2019/20 is £211.713m.  
The CFR denotes the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes. If 
the CFR is positive the Council may borrow from the PWLB or the market (external 

Page 52



borrowing) or from internal balances on a temporary basis (internal borrowing).  
The balance of external and internal borrowing is generally driven by market 
conditions.  The table at Para 6.8 shows the Council has borrowings of £93.872m 
and has utilised £24.168m of cashflow funds in lieu of borrowing.  This is a prudent 
and cost effective approach in the current economic climate but will require 
ongoing monitoring in the event that upside risk to gilt yields prevails.

10.2 The graph below show the movement in PWLB certainty rates for the first six 
months of the year to date.  PWLB rates have been on a falling trend during this 
period and longer rates have almost halved to reach historic lows.  The 20 year 
PWLB target (certainty) rate for new long term borrowing fell from 2.50% to 2.00% 
during this period.

10.3 On 9 October 2019 the Treasury announced an increase in the cost of borrowing from 
the PWLB by 1%.  There had been no indication that this would happen and the 
implications are that the Council will need to reassess future external borrowing 
requirements.  Representations are going to be made to HM Treasury to suggest that 
areas of capital expenditure that the Government are keen to see move forward e.g. 
housing, should not be subject to such a large increase in borrowing.

10.4 Whereas this Council has previously relied on the PWLB as its main source of funding, 
it will now have to consider alternative cheaper sources of borrowing. At the current 
time, this is a developmental area as this event has also taken the financial services 
industry by surprise.  Various financial institutions are expected to enter the market or 
make products available to local authorities. Members will be updated as this area 
evolves.

10.5 It is possible that the Municipal Bond Agency will be offering loans to local authorities in 
the future. This Authority may make use of this new source of borrowing as and when 
appropriate.

Page 53



11. DEBT RESCHEDULING

11.1 Debt rescheduling opportunities have been very limited in the current economic 
climate given the consequent structure of interest rates, and following the increase 
in the margin added to the gilt yields which has impacted PWLB rates since 
October 2010. No debt rescheduling was undertaken during the first six months of 
2019/20.

12. IFRS 9

12.1 From 1 April 2018 the accounting standard IFRS 9 was introduced.  This means 
that we now value pooled investments such as Property Funds and Multi Asset 
Funds on the balance sheet as “fair value through profit and loss”.   As a result any 
fluctuations in market valuations could impact on the Council’s year end “Surplus 
or Deficit on the Provision of Services” rather than holding the changes in an 
unusable reserve on the Council’s balance sheet.  In 2018/19, the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) introduced a statutory 
override for five years to allow Local Authorities to either build up a sufficient 
reserve to mitigate the effect of changes in valuations or give them sufficient time 
to disinvest from such funds.

12.2 At the end of 2017/18 a reserve called “Interest Equalization Reserve” was 
established, to mitigate in part, the impact of IFRS 9.  Following the introduction of 
the statutory override during 2018/19 there was no requirement to draw down 
funds from this reserve and the reserve balance remains at £500k.  

13. OTHER

13.1 In February 2015 the Authority became a shareholder in the Municipal Bonds 
Agency (MBA), with an investment of £20,000.  The MBA was established by the 
Local Government Association (LGA) in the belief that it would provide councils 
with the opportunity to raise funds at significantly lower rates that those offered by 
the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB).

13.2 The MBA have not yet issued any loans as there have been some legal issues 
around joint and several guarantee which required all local authorities borrowing 
from the MBA to guarantee the money owed by the Agency to those who have 
lent it funds to finance its loans.  However, the MBA now believe they have 
overcome these issues with the appointment of a new external provider to operate 
scheme and are working towards their first bond issue by the end of this financial 
year. 

13.3 Officers are continuing to work closely with the MBA and will consider the 
appropriateness of any borrowing offer when the need to borrow arises.

14. BACKGROUND PAPERS

14.1 There are no Background Papers pertaining to this Report.

Page 54



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal As per section 1.13B.67 of the Council’s Constitution, the Chief Finance officer has 
delegated responsibility from Cabinet. 

 “in respect of borrowing and investments to arrange such loans as are legally 
permitted to meet the Council’s borrowing requirements”

Finance and Value 
for Money 

A summary of the perceived risks associated with Treasury Management were 
identified in the Treasury Management Strategy approved by Council on 26 
February 2019.  Officers continue to monitor the risks on a day to day basis and 
identify mitigating actions to minimise risks.

In order to achieve a balanced budget, the authority relies upon generating 
maximum interest from its investments whilst minimising the exposure to risk.  In 
order to achieve this, investments are only placed with institutions which meet the 
criteria set out within this report.  Investment durations do not exceed those as 
advised by Capita Asset Services credit ratings which are associated with the 
specific institutions.

Where the authority is required to borrow to meet the needs of the authority, 
officers will seek advice from Capita Asset Services on timings and options in order 
to ensure the best deal for the authority.

Risk Assessment The risks associated with Treasury Management and capital expenditure are 
detailed within this report.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Equality Impact a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 

Page 55

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Successfully 
Managing Key Business Risks.

Crime and Disorder Treasury Management activities are carried out in accordance with the Treasury 
Management Strategy and Annual Investment Strategy which minimises the risk of 
criminal activities.  The arrangements to ensure appropriate governance around 
capital expenditure are set out in the Capital Strategy. 

Digital and website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 56



Year Quarter Month Date Deals Average Balance Weighted Average Rate Weighted 
Average Time To 

Maturity (days)

2019/2020 1 April April average £29,426,753.85 0.93529% 96.40

May May average £31,416,937.57 0.95378% 106.59

June June average £32,860,590.55 0.97905% 108.08

2019/2020 Q1 average £31,236,762.60 0.95680% 103.94

2 July July average £33,687,134.01 0.98666% 97.93

August August average £34,631,127.59 0.95133% 97.37

September September average £34,973,275.93 0.94949% 79.06

2019/2020 Q2 average £34,424,612.91 0.96237% 91.49

2019/2020 average £32,839,397.73 0.95974% 97.38

Deposits Dashboard 
Gravesham Borough Council (Accounts: GENERAL FUND, HRA, Heritage Quarter - Capital 
Contribution, Heritage Quarter - Rent Reserve)

Start Date: 01/04/2019

As of Date: 30/09/2019

Page 1 of 2Report Generated at 04/11/19 10:06. Data As At 30/09/19

P
age 57



Type Amount %

Fixed £20,000,000 61.89%

MMF £6,313,848 19.54%

Call £6,000,000 18.57%

Total £32,313,848

Counterparty Name Amount %

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited £8,000,000 24.76%

Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) £8,000,000 24.76%

Santander UK plc £6,000,000 18.57%

Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc £4,004,000 12.39%

Insight Liquidity Sterling C5 £2,309,848 7.15%

Toronto-Dominion Bank £2,000,000 6.19%

Standard Chartered Bank £2,000,000 6.19%

Svenska Handelsbanken £0 0.00%

GS Sterling Liquid Reserve Institutional Inc £0 0.00%

Deutsche Managed Sterling Advisory £0 0.00%

SLI Sterling Liquidity/Cl 3 £0 0.00%

Aberdeen Liquidity Fund (Lux) Sterling Fund (Class K) £0 0.00%

Total £32,313,848

Type Amount %

UK £16,000,000 49.51%

Australia £8,000,000 24.76%

Not Defined £6,313,848 19.54%

Canada £2,000,000 6.19%

Sweden £0 0.00%

Total £32,313,848

Page 2 of 2Report Generated at 04/11/19 10:06. Data As At 30/09/19

P
age 58



Class Type Deal Ref Start / 
Purchase Date Maturity Date Counterparty Profile Rate Principal O/S 

(£)
0 7 Deposit Fixed 857 12/10/18 11/10/19 Australia and New Zealand Banking Group 

Limited
Maturity 1.0400% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 858 25/10/18 25/10/19 Australia and New Zealand Banking Group 
Limited

Maturity 1.0600% -5,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 863 07/11/18 06/11/19 Toronto-Dominion Bank Maturity 1.1600% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 125 05/04/19 04/10/19 Standard Chartered Bank Maturity 1.0000% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 864 15/05/19 15/05/20 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) Maturity 1.2500% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 864a 15/05/19 15/05/20 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) Maturity 1.2500% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 865 15/07/19 01/07/20 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) Maturity 1.2500% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 866 31/07/19 01/07/20 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) Maturity 1.2500% -1,000,000.00

Fixed Total 1.1370% -20,000,000.00

8 Deposit Call - 95 days notice 132 02/08/19 Santander UK plc Maturity 0.0100% -1,000,000.00

Call - 95 days notice Total 0.0100% -1,000,000.00

8 Deposit Call - 35 days notice 124 05/02/19 Santander UK plc Maturity 0.8500% -5,000,000.00

Call - 35 days notice Total 0.8500% -5,000,000.00

11 Deposit MMF Invesco RR MMF 11/06/18 Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity 0.7117% -1,158,974.71

Deposit MMF 250Invesco MMF 01/04/16 Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity 0.7117% -2,845,025.29

Deposit MMF Insight Sterling Liquidity Fund 12/07/18 Insight Liquidity Sterling C5 Maturity 0.6588% -2,309,848.44

MMF Total 0.6923% -6,313,848.44

15 Deposit VNAV Fund 94 09/02/18 Aberdeen Diversified Income Funds Maturity 0.0000% -1,862,147.90

Deposit VNAV Fund 95 14/02/18 Jupiter Asset Management Maturity 0.0000% -2,751,575.74

Deposit VNAV Fund 96 22/02/18 JP Morgan Asset Management Maturity 0.0000% -4,939,862.54

Deposit VNAV Fund 51 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -2,738,803.62

Deposit VNAV Fund 49 27/05/16 CCLA Local Authorities Property Fund Maturity 0.0000% -1,928,101.80

Deposit VNAV Fund 52 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -530,923.26

Deposit VNAV Fund 50 01/07/16 Lothbury Maturity 0.0000% -5,283,265.67

VNAV Fund Total 0.0000% -20,034,680.53

Deposit Total 0.5993% -52,348,528.97

Tot
al

To
tal Grand Total -52,348,528.97

Principal Outstanding
Gravesham Borough Council (Accounts: GENERAL FUND, HRA, Heritage Quarter - Capital 
Contribution, Heritage Quarter - Rent Reserve)

As At: 30/09/2019

Page 1 of 1Report Generated for Gravesham Borough Council at 17/10/19 09:24

P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Draft report to Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 13 November 2019 (MT 22 October 2019)

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Mid-Year Review of the 2019-2020 Corporate Risk Register 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Finance and Audit Committee with mid-year progress information 
in respect of all risks recorded in the 2019-20 Corporate Risk Register which can be found at 
appendix two of this report.  

Recommendations:
Members are requested to:

1. Note the progress made, as set out in appendix three, in managing or mitigating each 
risk recorded within the 2019-2020 Corporate Risk Register.

2. Voice any concerns regarding the extent of progress that has been made so that if 
required; these concerns can be raised at the next Cabinet meeting.

3. Start preparing for the development of the 2020-2021 Corporate Risk Register, putting 
forward suggestions for any current risks that should be removed and/or proposing 
any new and emerging risks that should be considered for assessment.

1. Introduction and Background

1.1 The 2019-2020 Corporate Risk Register was approved by Council on 16 April 2019 
and is attached at appendix two to this report for Member information. Seven 
strategic risks were identified as being above the Council’s risk tolerance threshold 
and were therefore included in the register:  

1. Ongoing financial viability of the council
2. Changes in national priorities and legislative change
3. Organisational capacity/resilience
4. Implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 
5. Universal Credit
6. Withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union
7. Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data

Page 61 Agenda Item 9



2

1.2 The council’s Risk Management Strategy states that the Finance and Audit 
Committee has a responsibility to monitor the effective development and operation of 
risk management and corporate governance in the council. This report is therefore 
presented to the committee to enable Members to monitor the impact of 
management actions specified in the Corporate Risk Register at the mid-year point 
and inform the process to develop the Corporate Risk Register for 2020-21.

2. Monitoring of actions - Corporate Risk Register 2019-20 

2.1 The Corporate Risk Register for 2019-20 included a number of actions intended to 
enable the council to effectively manage or mitigate each risk. Appendix three of this 
report provides an update on the risk management activity and includes information 
such as:

 The risk background, consequences, controls and management actions 
that were documented and agreed in the 2019-20 Corporate Risk Register; 

 A management action update as at the mid-year review point, providing 
further details of the actions that have been carried out to date to manage 
or mitigate the risk

 A colour coded quarterly risk assessment to illustrate how effective risk 
management actions have been in controlling risks, where Red is 
inadequate; Amber is Satisfactory and Green is Good.

2.2 Members of the Finance and Audit Committee are requested to review the 
management action as reported in appendix three and discuss whether any further 
action is necessary to manage or mitigate each risk. Where it is considered that 
sufficient control action is not being taken concerns should be raised so that they can 
be referred to Cabinet for further consideration.

3. Development of the 2020-2021 Corporate Risk Register

3.1 The development of the council’s Corporate Risk Register for 2020-2021 will 
commence in December 2019.  Members are therefore requested to put forward 
suggestions for any new or emerging risks for consideration and/or recommend 
which of the existing risks should be carried forward. By way of assistance, the risks 
listed below were considered for inclusion the 2019-20 Corporate Risk Register but 
were omitted for the reasons stated:

1. Business Rates Retention Scheme - The risk was present in the 2018-19 
Risk Register however up to date details around the risk were incorporated 
into Risk 1 - Ongoing financial viability of the Council; and the risk was 
therefore not carried forward to 2019-2020 as a standalone risk.

2. General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) -The risk was also present 
in the 2018-19 Risk Register and in light of the actions that the council 
implemented during the year, it was found to carry a low likelihood following 
reassessment.  Whilst the risk was not included in the 2019-20 register; it 
was agreed that it will be managed at departmental level and continue to be 
monitored by the Information Governance Group which meets regularly.

Page 62



3

3.2 One risk has been identified by Officers as potentially needing to be included in the 
2020-21 Corporate Risk Register

1. Investment Risk – Over the past couple of years the authority has 
purchased a number of Investment Properties and now has investments in 
Property Funds and Multi Asset Funds.  The authority is now reliant on 
these investments to generate rental and investment income to support the 
revenue budget.  Whilst this risk is referred to within different sections of the 
current Strategic Risk Register, given the value of the investments and the 
authority’s reliance upon the rental and investment income it is felt that it 
may be necessary to incorporate this into the Corporate Risk Register as a 
separate risk.

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS

4.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report.

Page 63



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There is a specific risk within the Register which highlights the potential issues 
associated with proposed legislative changes that may affect the council moving 
forward.  Senior Management are being kept up to date with legislative change to 
ensure that they are able to be fully aware of potential changes proposed to assess 
how these may affect the council.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no financial or value for money implications arising from the Corporate 
Risk Register itself.
‘Ongoing financial viability of the Council’ is one of the key corporate risks identified 
within the Corporate Risk register and a specific update against this risk is included 
within appendix three.

Risk Assessment The regular review of strategic risks facing the council aids the council in managing 
risk effectively as a contribution to effective strategic decision-making.  It is 
important that the council’s approach to risk is reviewed on a regular basis by both 
officers and Members to ensure new risks are identified and action being taken to 
mitigate existing risks is effective

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Page 64

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s arrangement to identify, assess and monitor strategic risks contribute 
to the delivery of Corporate Plan Objective #3: Progress: drive service improvement 
and corporate governance.

Crime and Disorder The risk of Crime and Disorder is considered in the annual review and development 
of the Corporate Risk Register.

Digital and website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 

GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Corporate Risk Register 

2019-2020 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

 

Page 67



2 | P a g e  

  
Gravesham’s Corporate Risk Register is the result of an annual strategic risk management 
exercise conducted to identify, analyse and prioritise those risks that may affect the ability of 
the council to achieve its corporate objectives.  The key risks facing the council were 
identified through discussion with Cabinet Members, Finance and Audit Committee 
Members, Members, Directors, Assistant Directors, Service Managers and other senior 
managers. 

 

The Corporate Risk Register outlines the key strategic risks facing the council, the controls 
currently in place to respond to these risks and any further action required by the council to 
properly manage these risks.  The actions that the council has in place/needs to implement 
are assessed as one of the following: 

 

 Good – actions in place will mitigate the risk and no further action is required. 

 Adequate – whilst the action will help to mitigate the risk, there is still further work 
that can be undertaken to further mitigate the risk. 

 Inadequate – the action is either not already in place or is not mitigating the risk and 
therefore further work is required. 

 

The following matrix is utilised when assessing whether a risk is a high, medium or low risk 
for the council: 
 

The Risk Matrix 
 

L
IK

E
L

IH
O

O
D

 

Very 
High 

5 5 10 15 20 

High 4 4 8 12 16 

Medium 3 3 6 9 12 

Low 2 2 4 6 8 

Very 
Low 

1 1 2 3 4 

High Risk 1 2 3 4 

Medium Risk 
Negligible Significant Serious Critical 

Low Risk 

IMPACT 

 

Page 68



3 | P a g e  

Guidance used for assessing Likelihood and Impact    

 

 

Likelihood: 

Rating Score  

Very High 5 

 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is 
almost certain that this issue will occur sometime within the next 
year.  The issue may have already occurred in previous years 
either at the council or elsewhere. 

High 4 
 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is very 
likely that this issue or event will occur in the coming year. 

Medium 3 
 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members the issue 
is more likely to occur than not in the coming year.  

Low 2 

 
On the evidence and knowledge of officers and members it is 
unlikely that this event will occur in the coming year.  Occurrences 
of this risk have occurred in the past but occurrences are very few 
and far between. 

Very Low 1 
 
On the evidence and knowledge that this event would occur in 
either the coming year or in future years. 

 
 

Impact: 

Rating Score  

Critical 4 

 
The financial impact on the authority would critically threaten the 
council’s financial stability.  The delivery of service to the public 
could be affected either permanently or for a long duration and the 
council could not achieve its key objectives.  There would be a 
seriously damaging impact on the council’s reputation through poor 
media coverage. 

Serious 3 

 
The financial impact on the authority would be serious although 
would not threaten the stability of the council’s financial position.  
Services would experience disruption with the delivery of services 
being affected for a number of days.  Whilst the council’s 
objectives would be met there would be significant delays in 
achieving them.  The council would endure poor media coverage 
for a period of time affecting the council’s reputation which would 
take some time to recover from.  

Significant 2 

 
There would be a financial impact on the authority however this 
would be manageable within the council’s existing financial 
resources.  There may be disruption to services and possibly 
delays in achieving the council’s objectives.  There may be poor 
media coverage which could affect the council in the long term. 

Negligible 1 

 
There is little or no financial impact of the risk to the authority.  
There would be no disruption to the delivery of the council’s key 
objectives or frontline services.  It is unlikely that this risk will 
impact on the council’s reputation. 

Page 69



4 | P a g e  

Given that the council works in an ever-changing environment it will be necessary to 
conduct similar risk management exercises on a periodic basis.  Progress against 
management actions recorded in the register will be reported to Cabinet on a quarterly 
basis and the register will be reviewed on a six-monthly basis by the Finance and Audit 
Committee.    

 
As a contribution to good corporate governance, risk management also forms a part of the 
annual business planning process – each departmental business plan has a specific service 
risk register to identify the key risks facing that service.  This reinforces the corporate risk 
management approach through each Service Manager giving proper formal consideration to 
both corporate and operational risks

Page 70



5 | P a g e  

 

The Risk Ongoing financial viability of the Council Risk No. 1 

Assessment 
Date 

 January 2019 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12 

 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

Leader of the Executive (but affects all portfolios) 

Risk 
Background 

Funding pressures on local government continue to put 
unprecedented strain on the financial sustainability of local authorities.  
2019-20 will be the final year of the multi- year local government 
finance settlement and the council has experienced a cash reduction 
in government funding levels of some £5m (65%) since 2010-11 
m(excluding New Homes Bonus Scheme,).  
When drafted, the council’s Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2016-17 
to 2019-20 identified a funding gap by 2019-20 of £2.5m. This 
identified gap has increased since 2016 due to changes in the design 
of the New Homes Bonus Scheme and the council not meeting the 
‘deadweight’ level required to secure funding under the scheme every 
year, slower than predicted increases in the Bank of England base 
rate and employee pay awards being greater than budgeted.  The 
council has taken great strides in proactively managing its financial 
position through its Bridging the Gap activity and a further £1.3m of 
activity was agreed by Cabinet in November 2018 to meet the 
additional pressures that have become apparent since 2016.  In 
setting the budget for 2019-20 the council will be realising base 
budget reductions of some £3.5m derived from this activity within its 
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP). 
There is little information currently available regarding the level of 
government funding the council might anticipate receiving after 2019-
20.  The 2019 Spending Review is expected in Spring 2019 and will 
set the envelope of spending for the Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government (MHCLG).  The Fair Funding Review, to be 
implemented in 2020-21, will set new finding baselines for individual 
local authorities based on their assessed relative needs and the 
assessed relative resources the authority can access.  There is an 
expectation that the Resource Departmental Expenditure Limit for the 
MHCLG will be squeezed and the Fair Funding review (the design of 
which is expected to be known in Autumn 2019) will see a greater 
concentration of resources directed to authorities with Upper Tier 
responsibilities; both of these events will put further pressure on the 
council’s financial sustainability.  Linked to this, the future design of 
the Business Rates Retention Scheme is still unclear.  Business Rates 
is the second largest funding stream for the council, after Council Tax, 
and will be equivalent to around 25% of the council’s net revenue 
budget in future years.  

Consequences  Inability to plan effectively due to the lack of clarity around the 
future level of government funding support and how the business 
rates retention scheme will operate in practice. 

 Potential for MHCLG to reduce the total funding available to the 
council (including retained business rates) beyond the levels 
projected in the MTFP to support other departmental funding 
pressures.  

 Council exposed to increased financial risk and volatility from 
changes to funding and any redesigned business rates scheme.  

Page 71



6 | P a g e  

 Unplanned cuts in services needed and/or drop in quality of 
delivery, potentially leading to damage to Council’s reputation.  

 Financial savings not achieved.  

 Budgets exceeded and/or reserves depleted.  

 Problems stored up for the future.  

 Minimum working balance of £1.25 million is not maintained.   

 New legislative requirements not met.  

 Uncertainty over future large projects.  

 Potential for infrastructure to deteriorate. 

 Potential for the introduction of further statutory discounts for 
Business Rates payers without compensation from central 
government. 

Controls already 
in place  

 Medium Term Financial Strategy in place 

 Medium Term Financial Plan in place 

 Robust Budget Monitoring arrangements in place 

 Responding actively to government consultation on the Fair 
Funding Review and Retained Business Rates Scheme Design 

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 

Medium Term Financial Plan 

Budget monitoring process 

Risk Owner (s) Director (Corporate Services); Assistant Director (Corporate Services 

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk 

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) 
Target 
Date 

General Revenue Reserve increased from £2 million 
to £4 million to mitigate financial risks.  
Reassessment of Commercial Income Protection 
Reserve to a level equivalent to 15% of rental income. 
Continued delivery of Bridging the Gap activity and 
additional £1.3m of activity approved by Cabinet in 
November 2018. 
Development of a new Medium Term Financial 
Strategy for the council once the outcomes of the Fair 
Funding Review and Retained Business Rates 
Scheme design are known. 

Director 
(Corporate Services) 

Assistant Director 
(Corporate Services) 

On-going 

Continued maintenance of the Medium Term Financial 
Plan.   

Modelling of the effects of the Fair Funding review and 
Retained Business Rates Retention Scheme once 
known. 

Assistant Director 
(Corporate Services) 

On-going  

Continuation of the programme of development for the 
council’s Financial Management System. 

Continue compliance with budget monitoring 
arrangements 

 
Assistant Director 

(Corporate Services) On-going 

Continuation of approach to responding to central 
government consultations on funding for local 
government 

Assistant Director 
(Corporate Services) 

On-going 

Target for end of the 2019-20 financial year 

Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12 

    

Page 72



7 | P a g e  

The Risk Changes in national priorities and legislative 
change 

Risk No. 2 

Assessment 
Date 

 January 2019 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

All Portfolios 

Risk 
Background 

The council needs to keep abreast of developments in legislation to 
ensure that it is best placed to respond to any changes it may face. 
Failure to account for the Government’s legislative programme may 
involve:  

 Change of direction for the council may be required.  

 Changes result in additional costs/ workloads for staff.  

 Severe financial position encountered which may restrict which 
services the council can deliver (see Risk 1).  

 Failure to meet stakeholder expectations.  

 Funding pressures / increased costs of working.  

 Staff morale falls with potential for sick absence due to stress.  

 Increased scrutiny from Members and other relevant bodies.  

Consequences  Change of direction for the council may be required.  

 Changes result in additional costs/ workloads for staff.  

 Severe financial position encountered which may restrict which 
services the council can deliver (see Risk 1).  

 Failure to meet stakeholder expectations.  

 Funding pressures / increased costs of working.  

 Staff morale falls with potential for sick absence due to stress.  

 Increased scrutiny from Members and other relevant bodies. 

Controls already 
in place  

 Circulation of monthly policy & legislative briefings 

 Proactive arrangements to respond to consultations from central 
government departments and agencies. 

 Establishment of new Member training and development plan for 
the next three years 

 Maintenance of interaction with partner agencies 

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes 

Corporate Plan 2015-19  
Medium Term Financial Strategy and Medium Term Financial Plan  

Risk Owner (s) Chief Executive and Management Team  

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk 

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) 
Target 
Date 

Continued circulation of monthly policy & legislative 
briefings 

Corporate 
Performance 

Manager 
 

On-going 

Make proactive arrangements to respond to 
consultations from central government departments 
and agencies. 

Wider Management 
Team 

 

On-going  
 

 

Page 73



8 | P a g e  

 

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) 
Target 
Date 

Develop a Member Induction Programme to support 
all Members elected to the Council in the May 2019 
Local Elections.  Continue to deliver a training and 
development plan to Members. 

Committee Services 
Manager/Wider 

Management Team 

On-going 
 

Maintain interaction with partnership agencies Committee Services 
Manager/Corporate 

Performance 
Manager 

On-going 

Target for end of the 2019-20 financial year 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

Page 74



9 | P a g e  

 

The Risk Organisational capacity/ resilience Risk No. 3 

Assessment 
Date 

 January 2019 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

Deputy Leader (but affects all portfolios) 

Risk 
Background 

The council’s Management Team have put in place a number of 
arrangements to help to deal with the reduction in Government 
funding over the medium term, including approval of all new 
appointments and the cessation of temporary staff contracts and non-
contractual overtime (except in exceptional circumstances). The 
recent announcements on local government finance are going to 
require decisions to be taken about future service delivery, and these 
actions are likely to see changes to the staff establishment. This, in 
turn, will place greater demands on remaining staff, exposing the 
council to key person dependency and the risk of poor resilience. 
Management and staff can help improve organisational capacity and 
resilience by identifying critical tasks, working flexibly across 
departments and developing the skills and abilities of key leaders and 
staff. The council also need to ensure that it has plans in place to cope 
with other potential impacts on capacity which may result from severe 
weather, building damage or pandemic to ensure that key services 
can continue to be delivered 

Consequences  Council unprepared for changes resulting in pressure being placed 
on resources, this in turn could lead to the council struggling to 
meet changes in demand for services. 

 Services areas with reduced staff will suffer a greater impact which 
in turn will add pressures on already stretched recourses. 

 Increased organisational stress can negatively impact productivity, 
which in turn can reduce staff motivation, create low morale and 
increase sickness and stress levels.  

 The council will be required to provide additional help and support 
to overcome the problems that result from increased 
organisational stress. 

 Increases in liability claims and weaknesses in internal controls 
could result due to there being insufficient staff resources to carry 
out essential roles and responsibilities.  

 Cuts in services and a potential drop in service quality is also 
possible.  
 

Controls already 
in place  

Effective allocation of resources 

Flexible working arrangements 

Provision of training and support  

Workforce Support 

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes 

Corporate Business Plan 2015-19 

Workforce Development Plan 

Risk Owner (s) Chief Executive and Management Team 

Page 75



10 | P a g e  

 

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk 

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) 
Target 
Date 

Management Team to continue with consistently 
reviewing staff vacancies and restructuring 
opportunities to ensure that resources are allocated 
effectively in each area, this will be complemented by 
regular budgetary and performance management data 
which identifies areas of the council that are 
experiencing pressures 

Management Team On-going  

Shared service opportunities will continue to be 
explored and provide more flexibility to staff who 
transfer to larger authorities. 

Management Team On-going  

Appraisals will continue to be carried out on an annual 
basis and training needs identified.  Workforce 
development will maintain liaison with Service 
Managers and above to identify training programme 
for the year ahead which will be monitored by HR. All 
employees will be given access to a wide range of e-
leaning and the ability to book onto physical training 
courses  

Director 
(Communities) 

On-going  

Joint staff forum meetings are to continue and be held 
every 8 weeks with members of management team in 
attendance as well as trade union representatives.  

HR will maintain monthly catch up meetings with the 
Trade Unions in order to discuss concerns that may 
be raised by their members. 

Director 
(Communities) 

On-going  

Target for end of the 2019-20 financial year 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

 

Page 76



11 | P a g e  

 

The Risk Implementation of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 

Risk No. 
4 

Assessment 
Date 

January 2019 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

Housing (H) 

Risk 
Background 

The Homelessness Reduction Bill received Royal Assent on 27th April 
2017 and is now an Act. The date of enactment is 1 April 2018. The 
Homelessness Reduction Act (HR Act) amends Part 7 of the Housing 
Act 1996. There are 13 clauses that amend many of the previous 
homelessness duties and brought in a substantial number of new 
duties. The Council’s Housing Options Service has got to grips with 
the new duties as required in order to comply with the legislation. The 
Act places additional burdens on the council and whilst some financial 
assistance was made available by the Government to assist in 
meeting the new duties, this has so far not been sufficient to meet the 
new burden, particularly in relation to the increased cost of temporary 
accommodation provision. The limited supply of dwellings to assist in 
meeting the new duties also continues to be an area of concern.  
 
There remains a risk of legal challenge if the authority is unable to 
meet the new legal duties arising from the Homelessness Reduction 
Act. There is also a financial risk to the Council due to an increase in 
temporary accommodation costs if there are insufficient resources to 
manage the increase in demand for the service. Funding from the 
Government provided to tackle homelessness is for an initial period of 
3 years to ensure that the new legislation can be successfully 
implemented and there are still no guarantees of similar levels of 
funding beyond March 
 

Consequences  New legislative requirements not met. 

 Budgets depleted in attempts to fulfil the additional requirements. 

 Reputational damage 

 Adverse impact on staff morale and retention due to the required 
significant changes to the assessment process and the focus of 
casework, including a doubling of homelessness applications.  

 The service needs to be ‘geared up’ to manage a large increase in 
applications and the casework that will be required for each 
application under the HRAct changes 

Controls already 
in place  

 Maintain an understanding of the level of additional duties 

 Team Structure reviewed to deliver additional duties 

 Service to continue following cessation of New Burdens funding 

 

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes 

Medium Term Financial Plan 

Risk Owner (s) Director (Housing and Regeneration); Assistant Director (Housing) 

Page 77



12 | P a g e  

 

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk 

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) 
Target 
Date 

Keep abreast of any amendments or changes in the 
level of additional duties 

Assistant Director 

(Housing) 

Ongoing 

 

Regular review of Team Structure to ongoing ability 
to deliver the required duties and promote 
awareness / understanding of additional team 
workload 

Assistant Director 

(Housing) 
Ongoing 

Ensuring sustainability of the service 
following cessation of New Burdens 
funding 

Assistant Director 

(Housing) 

Ongoing 

 

Target for end of the 2019-20 financial year 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

 

Page 78



13 | P a g e  

 

The Risk Universal Credit Risk No. 5 

Assessment 
Date 

January 2019 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12 

 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

Performance & Administration (PA) 

Risk 
Background 

Gravesham adopted Universal Credit ‘Live’ service in its most basic 
form on the 18 May 2015 for single residents only in prescribed 
circumstances. The impact was minimal and did not produce a risk 
score. Universal Credit live service was closed to new claims from 31 
December 2017. 
Universal Credit ‘Full’ service commenced in May 2018 and is 
available for all types of claimant with the exception of a few 
categories. 
The Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) has overall 
responsibility for implementing Universal Credit, although the Council 
has a key role in in providing Universal Support to residents who wish 
to claim. However Gravesham Citizens Advice provides the Assisted 
Digital Support and Personal Budgeting Support on our behalf. 
From 1 April 2019 the DWP will sub contract Citizens Advice to do the 
Assisted Digital Support and Personal Budgeting Support directly. 
Gravesham has its own housing and under the housing benefit 
scheme a weekly transaction was paid to the housing account without 
the tenant having to take responsibility and providing security of 
payment for the Council and security of tenancy for the customer. 
Under UC there is no certainty that Housing will receive the housing 
cost payment if the customer receives the payment direct. 

Consequences There remains much uncertainty as to the exact direct and indirect 
consequences of the changes upon the authority, particularly whether 
resources to support the scheme will still be required to be retained by 
the council (and at what level) once administration of Universal Credit 
is taken over by the Department for Work and Pensions in its entirety. 
Initial data shows that currently in Full service caseload has dropped 
and the number of new claims received is starting to reduce however 
the workload has actually increased as a result of the number of 
notifications that the DWP JCP send through on a daily/weekly basis.  
Direct consequences are;  

 A reduction in HB caseload  

 A reduction in council dwelling rental income and increase 
in rent arrears as payments will be made direct to the 
tenant, rather than direct to the rent account as they are 
now  

 Increase in workload for Housing Team  

 Increases in evictions/homelessness/voids  

 Rise in level of corporate debt  

 Customers may suffer hardship  
 
Indirect consequences are also expected, with increased costs of 
cash handling through the shift away from rebating benefit to cash 
transactions  

 

Page 79



14 | P a g e  

 

Controls already 
in place  

 Regular Meetings planned to take place with JCP Senior Officers. 

 Customers given help with claiming Universal Credit and 
managing finances. 

 Monitoring the impact of Universal Credit upon the Housing 
collection rate. 

 Contact with residents as well as social and private landlords to 
establish impact on Universal Credit  

  Maintain briefing arrangements for members and staff and provide 
regular updates of any changes 

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes 

Corporate Business Plan 2015-19 

Revenues & Benefits Business Plan 

HRA Business Plan 

Risk Owner (s) Director (Corporate Services) Service Manager Revenues & Benefits 

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk 

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) 
Target 
Date 

Continued liaison and meetings with the JCP by 
revenues and Benefits Officers, alongside officers 
from Housing, Customer Services and the Citizens 
Advice Bureau. 

Service Manager 
(Revenues and 

Benefits) 

Assistant Revenues 
and Benefits 

Manager 

On-going 

 

Citizens Advice to provide Personal Budgeting 
Support and Assisted Digital Support with the help of 
funding from the JCP. 

Service Manager 
(Revenues & 

Benefits) 

Assistant Director 
(Housing) 

On-going 

 

Housing officers have access to the Landlord Portal, 
are aware of all tenants in receipt of UC and continue 
to closely monitor Rent Accounts. Opportunities to 
make arrangements for direct payment where 
appropriate will be sought. 

Assistant Director 
(Housing) 

On going 

 

Liaison will continue with the DWP, CAB, Housing, 
Private /Social landlords, council tenants and 
Customer Services to ensure that residents can be 
kept informed of how the introduction of UC Full 
Service will affect them.  

Service Manager 
(Revenues & 

Benefits) 

On-going 

 

Briefing arrangements will be maintained to keep 
Members and staff regularly updated of any changes 
that occur. 

Service Manager 
(Revenues & 

Benefits) 

On-going 

 

Target for end of the 2019-20 financial year 

Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12 

 

Page 80



15 | P a g e  

 

 

The Risk Withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the 
European Union 

Risk No. 
6 

Assessment 
Date 

January 2019 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

Cabinet Portfolio All Portfolios 

Risk 
Background 

In June 2016, the United Kingdom (UK) voted to leave the European 
Union (EU).  The UK is scheduled to leave the EU at 11pm local time 
on 29 March 2019.  A withdrawal agreement and political declaration 
on future ties with the bloc were announced by the Prime Minister in 
November, though there has been little public support for this and the 
House of Commons vote on the exit agreement was lost on 15 January 
2019.  This has led to a heightened level of political and economic 
uncertainty around the future of the country as well as uncertainty as to 
whether Brexit will actually take place on 29 March 2019. In a ‘No Deal’ 
situation, the UK would revert to World Trade Organisation rules after 
29 March 2019. 

Consequences  Lack of clarity on when the EU withdrawal may take place or impact 
on government spending plans. 

 Difficulty in delivering services due to disruption to the road network 
as a consequence of increased border and customs checks on port 
freight traffic.  Disruption in particular to waste collection and 
disposal and to staff ability to reach their usual place of work. 

 Potential for council income from services to reduce due to service 
disruption or changes to customer behaviour (car parking). 

 Potential longer term impacts on staffing and future recruitment and 
legal and regulatory framework of the country. 

 Potential impacts on the council’s supply chain and the 
procurement of supplies and services (through actual supply and 
inflation-linked contracts). 

 Potential to cause instability in interest rates, affecting investment 
decisions, returns from current investments and pension fund 
liabilities.  Potential to cause a downgrading in UK sovereign rating 
and UK institutional ratings, limiting options for investment 
decisions. Impact may also be felt on existing commercial property 
rental income returns and capital values. 

 Potential impacts on funding for longer term regeneration and 
infrastructure development plans. 

 Increased risk of intentional attempts to disrupt council services 
around 29 March 2019 through cyber and other means. 

 Social Unrest and increase in public disorder. 

 

Page 81



16 | P a g e  

Controls already 
in place  

 The council is part of the Kent Resilience Forum (KRF) who are co-
ordinating Kent-wide Brexit contingency planning arrangements 

 Business Continuity Plans up to date and in place for all services. 

 Arrangements are in place to enable some staff to work from 
alternative locations or work flexibly in the event that they are 
unable to travel to their normal place of employment.  

 Engagement with key partners and key supply chain providers to 
seek assurance on their preparedness. 

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes 

Business Continuity Plans 

Risk Owner (s) Management Team 

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk 

Required Management Action Lead Officer(s) 
Target 
Date 

Proactive engagement with County-wide contingency 
planning arrangements. 

David Hughes  

(as part of the KRF 
Executive Board) 

On-going 

Business Continuity Plans to be reviewed and 
updated to ensure they remain fit for purpose. 

Wider Management 
Team On-going 

IT Infrastructure to support remote working where 
possible. 
Consideration of alternative working patterns where 
this may support service continuity, or review hours of 
service provision. 
Consideration of additional staffing or temporary 
redeployment of staff to high priority services 
Consideration of reciprocal cross-authority working 
opportunities to support critical service delivery and 
enable staff to work at their nearest local authority 
temporarily. 

Wider Management 
Team On-going 

Maintain interaction with key partners and supply 
chain providers to seek assurance on their 
preparedness 

Wider Management 
Team On-going 

Target for end of the 2019-20 financial year 

Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 

 

Page 82



17 | P a g e  

 

The Risk Cyberattack Resulting in data breach or 
Corruption of data 

Risk No. 
7 

Assessment 
Date 

January 2019 

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE 

Likelihood 3 Impact 4 Score 12 Likelihood 3 Impact 4 Score 12 

Cabinet 
Portfolio 

Leader 

Risk 
Background 

As more reliance grows on IT Systems the risks surrounding a 
cyberattack disrupting those systems becomes more important. Whilst 
there is no specific targeted threat to local government (confirmed by 
the National Cyber Security Centre), criminal activity via Cyber 
methods remains the most likely motivation. The "Official 2019 Annual 
Cybercrime Report,” by Cybersecurity Ventures lists Cyber Crime as 
the  world's biggest criminal growth industry. 
 
Whilst technical and non-technical controls can be put in place to 
reduce the ease at which an IT Infrastructure can be attacked, 
unknown vulnerabilities (zero day threats) and / or a determined 
attacker can defeat even the most secure systems. 
 
Alongside protecting systems should be well practiced incident 
response plans 

Consequences A cyberattack can result in the unavailability of systems for normal 
use, destruction of systems and data, and the theft of data for criminal 
use. 

Controls already 
in place  

 Technical security controls 

 Security policies 

 IT health checks and penetration tests 

 Incident Response Plans 

 Cyberattack exercise scenarios 

 Mandatory training for staff and Members on cyber security 

Key corporate 
documents and 
processes 

Business Continuity Plans 

Risk Owner (s) Director (Corporate Services) 

Additional actions required to further mitigate risk 

Required Management Action 
Lead 

Officer(s) 
Target 
Date 

Ensure technical controls (such as firewalls, anti-virus, 
filtering, log monitoring) remain in place and are regularly 
reviewed. 

Ensure offsite backup arrangements remain in place and 
are regularly reviewed. 

Continue with maintaining participation in local and national 
Warning, Advice and Reporting Points for up to date 
situational intelligence information 

Continue maintaining  direct engagement with the National 
Cyber Security Centre and use of their Active Cyber 

Service 
Manager (IT 

Services 

On-going 

Page 83



18 | P a g e  

Defence tools 

Complete improvements to existing controls which includes 
additional backup facilities, faster recovery from backups 
and a partnership approach to proactively monitoring 
security event information. 

Expand existing Business Continuity Plans so they cover in 
more detail the specifics of cyberattacks. 

Engage with the Local Resilience Partnership through the 
MHCLG Pathfinder programme to ensure multi-agency 
response is appropriate 

Conduct regular exercises to assess cyberattack recovery 
plans 

Service 
Manager (IT 

Services 
Ongoing 

Required Management Action 
Lead 

Officer(s) 
Target 
Date 

Rollout training to all staff and members to raise awareness 
of the cyber threat and to promote good practice to 
minimise the human risk factor 

Service 
Manager (IT 

Services 
Ongoing 

Target for end of the 2019-20 financial year 

Likelihood 3 Impact 4 Score 12 

 

Page 84



Gravesham Borough Council
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2019-20 Corporate Risk Register)

Gravesham Borough Councils Corporate Risk Register Outlines the key strategic Risks facing the council and controls that are implemented to manage these risks. 
It also details any further action required by the council to ensure risks are being sufficiently controlled.

The Risks that were identified and formally approved by Full Council on the 16th April 2019 are listed below. These risks have been documented in the 2019-20 - Corporate Risk Register:

Risk 1: Ongoing financial viability of the Council 

Risk 2: Changes in national priorities and legislative change  

Risk 3: Organisational capacity/ resilience
 
Risk 4: Implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 

Risk 5: Universal Credit

Risk 6: Withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union

Risk 7:  Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data. 

This document provides mid-year progress information in respect of the management of each of the above risks.  The effectiveness of risk management actions that have been carried out as at mid-year, are 
assessed as being one of the following:

   Actions in place will mitigate the risk and no further action is required.

Whilst the action will help to mitigate the risk, there is still further work that can be undertaken to further mitigate the risk.

The action is either not already in place or is not mitigating the risk and therefore further work is required.

Good

Satisfactory

Inadequate

P
age 85



Gravesham Borough Council
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2019-20 Corporate Risk Register)

Risk: 1. On-going financial viability of the Council Owners: Director (Corporate Services); Assistant Director (Corporate Services

Risk Background: 
Funding pressures on local government continue to put unprecedented strain on the financial sustainability of 
local authorities. 2019-20 will be the final year of the multi- year local government finance settlement and the 
council has experienced a cash reduction in government funding levels of some £5m (65%) since 2010-11 
(excluding New Homes Bonus Scheme). 

When drafted, the council’s Medium-Term Financial Strategy 2016-17 to 2019-20 identified a funding gap by 
2019-20 of £2.5m. This identified gap has increased since 2016 due to changes in the design of the New 
Homes Bonus Scheme and the council not meeting the ‘deadweight’ level required to secure funding under 
the scheme every year, slower than predicted increases in the Bank of England base rate and employee pay 
awards being greater than budgeted. The council has taken great strides in proactively managing its financial 
position through its Bridging the Gap activity and a further £1.3m of activity was agreed by Cabinet in 
November 2018 to meet the additional pressures that have become apparent since 2016. In setting the 
budget for 2019-20 the council will be realising base budget reductions of some £3.5m derived from this 
activity within its Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP). 

There is little information currently available regarding the level of government funding the council might 
anticipate receiving after 2019-20. The 2019 Spending Review is expected in Spring 2019 and will set the 
envelope of spending for the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG). The Fair 
Funding Review, to be implemented in 2020-21, will set new finding baselines for individual local authorities 
based on their assessed relative needs and the assessed relative resources the authority can access. There 
is an expectation that the Resource Departmental Expenditure Limit for the MHCLG will be squeezed and the 
Fair Funding review (the design of which is expected to be known in Autumn 2019) will see a greater 
concentration of resources directed to authorities with Upper Tier responsibilities; both of these events will put 
further pressure on the council’s financial sustainability. Linked to this, the future design of the Business 
Rates Retention Scheme is still unclear. Business Rates is the second largest funding stream for the council, 
after Council Tax, and will be equivalent to around 25% of the council’s net revenue budget in future years. 

Consequences:
 Inability to plan effectively due to the lack of clarity around the future level of government funding 

support and how the business rates retention scheme will operate in practice.
 Potential for MHCLG to reduce the total funding available to the council (including retained 

business rates) beyond the levels projected in the MTFP to support other departmental funding 
pressures.

 Council exposed to increased financial risk and volatility from changes to funding and any 
redesigned business rates scheme.

 Unplanned cuts in services needed and/or drop in quality of delivery, potentially leading to 
damage to Council’s reputation.

 Financial savings not achieved.
 Budgets exceeded and/or reserves depleted.
 Problems stored up for the future.
 Minimum working balance of £1.25 million is not maintained.
 New legislative requirements not met.
 Uncertainty over future large projects.
 Potential for infrastructure to deteriorate.
 Potential for the introduction of further statutory discounts for Business Rates payers without 

compensation from central government.

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12

Risk AssessmentControls to eliminate, reduce or 
transfer risk Lead Officer(s)

Required Management Action as originally 
documented in the 2019-20 Corporate Risk 

Register
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year Review

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
1.1 Medium Term Financial Strategy in 
place

Director ( Corporate Services) 
Assistant Director (Corporate 
Services) 

General Revenue Reserve increased from £2 
million to £4 million to mitigate financial risks. 
Reassessment of Commercial Income 
Protection Reserve to a level equivalent to 15% 
of rental income. 
Continued delivery of Bridging the Gap activity 
and additional £1.3m of activity approved by 
Cabinet in November 2018. 

 General Fund Revenue Reserve remains at £4m to help 
mitigate financial risks.

 Commercial Income Protection Reserve set at a level 
equivalent to 15% of rental income as recorded in the 
Medium Term Financial Plan.

 Delivery of Bridging the Gap activity continues, with an 
update on progress due to be presented to Cabinet in 
November 2019.

P
age 86



Gravesham Borough Council
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2019-20 Corporate Risk Register)

Risk AssessmentControls to eliminate, reduce or 
transfer risk Lead Officers(s)

Required Management Action as originally 
documented in the 2019-20 Corporate Risk 

Register
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year Review

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
Director ( Corporate Services) 
Assistant Director (Corporate 
Services)

Development of a new Medium Term Financial 
Strategy for the council once the outcomes of 
the Fair Funding Review and Retained Business 
Rates Scheme design are known

On the basis of the announcements of the Chancellor of   
Exchequer in September 2019.a one-year Medium Term 
Financial Strategy Statement will be prepared, with a full 
Strategy drafted for the period after 2021/22 once the 
outcomes of the Spending Review 2020, Fair Funding 
Review and Retained Business Rates Scheme design are 
known.

1.2  Medium Term Financial Plan in 
place

Assistant Director (Corporate 
Services)

There is continued maintenance of the Medium 
Term Financial Plan.
Modelling of the effects of the Fair Funding 
review and Retained Business Rates Retention 
Scheme once known.

The MTFP continues to be maintained and presented to 
Management Team and Members on a periodic basis as part 
of the council’s budget monitoring arrangements. At the 
present time, the MTFP indicates 2025-26 as the point at 
which further savings must be delivered.

1.3 Budget Monitoring Process Assistant Director (Corporate 
Services) 

There is continuation of:
•The programme of development for the 
council’s Financial Management System.
•Compliance with budget monitoring 
arrangements.
•The approach to responding to central 
government consultations on funding for local 
government

Budget monitoring arrangements continue to be in place and 
operating effectively. Development of the Financial 
Management System progresses, with all users now migrated 
to the web-based version of the system which provides 
budget holders with improved functionality.
The budget setting exercise for 2020-21 commenced in 
September and will focus on high risk areas within the 
council’s budget. 

P
age 87



Gravesham Borough Council
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2019-20 Corporate Risk Register)

Risk 2.: Changes in national priorities and legislative change Owner: Chief Executive & Management Team

Risk Background: 
The council needs to keep abreast of developments in legislation to ensure that it is best placed to 
respond to any changes it may face. Failure to account for the Government’s legislative programme 
may involve: 

 Change of direction for the council may be required. 
 Changes result in additional costs/ workloads for staff. 
 Severe financial position encountered which may restrict which services the council can 

deliver (see Risk 1). 
 Failure to meet stakeholder expectations. 
 Funding pressures / increased costs of working. 
 Staff morale falls with potential for sick absence due to stress. 
 Increased scrutiny from Members and other relevant bodies. 

Consequences:
 Change of direction for the council may be required.
 Changes result in additional costs/ workloads for staff.
 Severe financial position encountered which may restrict which services the council can deliver (see 

Risk 1).
 Failure to meet stakeholder expectations.
 Funding pressures / increased costs of working.
 Staff morale falls with potential for sick absence due to stress.
 Increased scrutiny from Members and other relevant bodies.

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15

Risk Assessment
Controls to eliminate, reduce or 

transfer risk Lead Officer(s)
Required Management Action as originally 

documented in the 2019-20 Corporate 
Risk Register

Management Action Update as at Mid-Year Review

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
2.1 Circulation of monthly policy & 
legislative briefings

Corporate Performance Manager Continued circulation of monthly policy & 
legislative briefings 

Regular policy and legislative briefings were delivered 
throughout the 6-month period to ensure officers are fully 
informed of government initiatives or potential changes 
affecting service areas and the wider council. From this 
activity relevant Service Managers report to Management 
Team on government proposals impacting upon their 
areas and the potential impact on the council’s progress 
towards achieving its corporate objectives.
The Queen’s Speech 2017 introduced the government’s 
formal programme of prospective legislation for 2017-19. 
Arguably the most notable piece of legislation for local 
government enacted during the period was the 
Homelessness Reduction Act, of which relevant provisions 
commenced in April 2018. 
‘Brexit’ has had a significant impact on the parliamentary 
timetable, with the volume of wider legislation relating to 
local government much reduced in the two years to date. 
The Queen’s Speech took place on 14 October and tools 
to monitor the government’s legislative programme will be 
used to provide insight on any impact on local government.  

P
age 88



Gravesham Borough Council
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2019-20 Corporate Risk Register)

Risk Assessment
Controls to eliminate, reduce or 

transfer risk Lead Officer(s)
Required Management Action as originally 

documented in the 2019-20 Corporate 
Risk Register

Management Action Update as at Mid-Year Review

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
2.2 Proactive arrangements to respond to 
consultations from central government 
departments and agencies.

Wider Management Team Make proactive arrangements to respond to 
consultations from central government 
departments and agencies.

During the year to date, the council has continued to 
effectively represent its position in the process of central 
government consultations. This is carried out individually on 
behalf of the council, or collaboratively with other 
neighbouring district authorities, or as part of a wider 
network group (Local Government Association, District 
Councils’ Network (DCN) etc.). Adopting this approach 
ensures that the views of the council are communicated 
back to government so that they may be taken into account 
as policy decisions are formulated ahead of any new 
legislative programme. 
In the last six months the council’s efforts have included 
formal responses to the following consultations:

 Proposals for reform of the building safety 
regulatory system;

 Consistency of Household and Business Recycling 
Collections

 Introducing a Deposit Return Scheme

2.3 Establishment of a new Member 
training and development plan for the next 
three years. 

Committee Services 
Manager/Wider Management 
Team

Develop a Member Induction Programme to 
support all Members elected to the Council in 
the May 2019 Local Elections. Continue to 
deliver a training and development plan to 
Members.

The Member induction training programme was delivered to 
all Members of the Council (newly elected and returning 
Councillors) following the Local Elections in May 2019.  This 
was an intensive programme during the first few months of 
the new Council term (May - July) designed to:- 

 highlight key Council information such as corporate 
policies and priorities; 

 allow Members to acquire the essential skills 
required for certain roles/Committees; and 

 assist in preparing Members, especially newly 
elected, for their decision-making roles and 
responsibilities. 

A ‘training needs analysis questionnaire’ will soon be 
distributed to all Members allowing them to highlight any 
further training needs that they have identified. All Members’ 
responses will be analysed and incorporated into the 
Council's ongoing Member Training and Development Plan.  
This will commence from May 2020 to allow time for newly 
elected Members to familiarise and settle themselves into 
their elected Member role. Ad-hoc training sessions will be 
arranged, during that time, if the need arises; by way of 
example, a Communications and Social Media Briefing has 
been arranged for December 2019.

P
age 89



Gravesham Borough Council
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2019-20 Corporate Risk Register)

Risk Assessment
Controls to eliminate, reduce or 

transfer risk Lead Officer(s)
Required Management Action as originally 

documented in the 2019-20 Corporate 
Risk Register

Management Action Update as at Mid-Year Review

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2.4 Maintenance of interaction with partner 
agencies

Wider Management Team Maintenance of interaction with partner 
agencies 

The council has a long history of effective partnership 
working arrangements for a variety of projects, boards and 
operational commitments that enable the authority respond 
to, and deliver against, legislative demands.
The council’s Corporate Partnership Register details the 
various working arrangements in place with key 
stakeholders, ranging from fully-shared services with 
another local authority to project working groups established 
for single issues.  The individual partnership arrangements 
outlined within the register are evaluated on an annual basis 
by lead officers and this process commenced during 
September 2019. In the autumn, the partnership 
arrangements will then subsequently be presented for 
review by the respective Cabinet Committees in order to 
consider their formal governance arrangements and the 
financial value being delivered.

P
age 90



Gravesham Borough Council
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2019-20 Corporate Risk Register)

Risk 3:  Organisational capacity/ resilience Owner: Chief Executive & Management Team

Risk Background: 
The council’s Management Team have put in place a number of arrangements to help to deal with the 
reduction in Government funding over the medium term, including approval of all new appointments and 
the cessation of temporary staff contracts and non-contractual overtime (except in exceptional 
circumstances). The recent announcements on local government finance are going to require decisions to 
be taken about future service delivery, and these actions are likely to see changes to the staff 
establishment. This, in turn, will place greater demands on remaining staff, exposing the council to key 
person dependency and the risk of poor resilience. Management and staff can help improve organisational 
capacity and resilience by identifying critical tasks, working flexibly across departments and developing the 
skills and abilities of key leaders and staff. The council also need to ensure that it has plans in place to 
cope with other potential impacts on capacity which may result from severe weather, building damage or 
pandemic to ensure that key services can continue to be delivered 

Consequences:
 Council unprepared for changes resulting in pressure being placed on resources, this in turn could 

lead to the council struggling to meet changes in demand for services.
 Services areas with reduced staff will suffer a greater impact which in turn will add pressures on 

already stretched recourses.
 Increased organisational stress can negatively impact productivity, which in turn can reduce staff 

motivation, create low morale and increase sickness and stress levels.
 The council will be required to provide additional help and support to overcome the problems that 

result from increased organisational stress.
 Increases in liability claims and weaknesses in internal controls could result due to there being 

insufficient staff resources to carry out essential roles and responsibilities.
 Cuts in services and a potential drop in service quality is also possible.

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15

Risk AssessmentControls to eliminate, reduce or 
transfer risk Lead Officer(s) Required Management Action as originally 

documented in the 2019-20 Corporate Risk Register Management Action Update as at Mid-Year Review
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

3.1 Effective allocation of resources Management Team Management Team to continue with consistently 
reviewing staff vacancies and restructuring 
opportunities to ensure that resources are allocated 
effectively in each area, this will be complemented by 
regular budgetary and performance management data 
which identifies areas of the council that are 
experiencing pressures

Management Team continue to receive all requests to fill 
vacant posts as a means of managing the staffing resources 
of the council and ensuring these are effectively allocated, 
taking into account financial and service performance 
information.  Management Team also receive periodic 
information regarding staff resourcing costs v budget, which 
includes information on vacancies to enable discussion on 
this.
As part of the budget setting process for 2020/21, 
Management Team recently evaluated vacant positions 
within the authority so that these can be considered for 
release, freeing up financial capacity for other areas of the 
Council’s business.
Reviews of the delivery of existing shared services continue, 
with Legal, HR, Payroll and Audit & Counter Fraud all 
assessed as continuing to work well, providing much 
needed resilience and offering more career opportunities for 
staff.

Continue to develop and use technology where possible to 
free up resources that could be allocated to other tasks.

P
age 91



Gravesham Borough Council
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2019-20 Corporate Risk Register)

Risk AssessmentControls to eliminate, reduce or 
transfer risk Lead Officer(s) Required Management Action as originally 

documented in the 2019-20 Corporate Risk Register
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year Review

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

3.2 Flexible working arrangements Management Team Shared service opportunities will continue to be 
explored where there is a sound business case to do 
so.

Shared Service arrangements continue to be explored.  All 
shared services consider flexible working arrangements in 
order to provide resilience to all partners. 
The council has increased its use of mobile technology 
enabling officers to remote work away from the office, 
creating greater opportunities for flexible working.  
Applications for formal flexible working arrangements 
continue to be considered, taking into account impact on the 
business; flexible working can be more limited in smaller 
and customer-facing departments due to the need for cover 
in the office.
Apprentice posts focus on ensuring at the end of the training 
contract they are ‘job ready’ and seeking to train 
apprentices in areas where the council may be having 
difficulties in recruitment.
Consideration if vacant/new posts can be undertaken on a 
part time or job share basis.

3.3 Provision of training and support Director (Communities) Appraisals will continue to be carried out on an annual 
basis and training needs identified. Workforce 
development will maintain liaison with Service 
Managers and above to identify training programme for 
the year ahead which will be monitored by HR. All 
employees will be given access to a wide range of e-
leaning and the ability to book onto physical training 
courses.

The council retains a budget for supporting staff training and 
development.  
Appraisals continue to be carried out on an annual basis to 
identify training needs and monthly one to one meetings to 
monitor.
All employees are able to access a wide range of e-learning 
and face to face training opportunities via the HRA Shared 
Service iShare training system.

P
age 92



Gravesham Borough Council
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2019-20 Corporate Risk Register)

Risk AssessmentControls to eliminate, reduce or 
transfer risk Lead Officer(s)

Required Management Action as originally 
documented in the 2019-20 Corporate 

Risk Register
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year Review

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
3.4 Workforce Support Director (Communities) Joint staff forum meetings are to continue 

and be held every 8 weeks with members of 
management team in attendance as well as 
trade union representatives.
HR will maintain monthly catch up meetings 
with the Trade Unions in order to discuss 
concerns that may be raised by their 
members

The Joint Staff forum continues to meet on a bi-monthly basis to 
…
Investors in People and work programme
Trade Union meetings
Anything else

P
age 93



Gravesham Borough Council
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2019-20 Corporate Risk Register)

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15

Risk 4:  Implementation of Homelessness Reduction Act Risk Owner: Director (Housing and Operations) Assistant Director  (Housing Policy and Management)

Risk Background: 
The Homelessness Reduction Bill received Royal Assent on 27th April 2017 and is now an Act. The date of 
enactment is 1 April 2018. The Homelessness Reduction Act (HR Act) amends Part 7 of the Housing Act 
1996. There are 13 clauses that amend many of the previous homelessness duties and brought in a 
substantial number of new duties. The Council’s Housing Options Service has got to grips with the new 
duties as required in order to comply with the legislation. The Act places additional burdens on the council 
and whilst some financial assistance was made available by the Government to assist in meeting the new 
duties, this has so far not been sufficient to meet the new burden, particularly in relation to the increased 
cost of temporary accommodation provision. The limited supply of dwellings to assist in meeting the new 
duties also continues to be an area of concern. 
There remains a risk of legal challenge if the authority is unable to meet the new legal duties arising from the 
Homelessness Reduction Act. There is also a financial risk to the Council due to an increase in temporary 
accommodation costs if there are insufficient resources to manage the increase in demand for the service. 
Funding from the Government provided to tackle homelessness is for an initial period of 3 years to ensure 
that the new legislation can be successfully implemented and there are still no guarantees of similar levels of 
funding beyond March.

Consequences:
 New legislative requirements not met. 
 Budgets depleted in attempts to fulfil the additional requirements. 
 Reputational damage 
 Adverse impact on staff morale and retention due to the required significant changes to the 

assessment process and the focus of casework, including a doubling of homelessness applications. 
 The service needs to be ‘geared up’ to manage a large increase in applications and the casework 

that will be required for each application under the HRAct changes 

Risk Assessment
Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer(s)

Required Management Action as 
originally documented in the 2019-20  

Corporate Risk Register
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year Review

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2.1 Maintain an understanding of the levels of 
additional duties

Assistant Director (Housing) Keep abreast of any amendments or 
changes in the additional duties

Regular interaction is maintained with advisers at the 
MHCLG to ensure awareness of any amendments or 
changes to the duties required of the council.

2.2 Team Structure reviewed to deliver additional 
duties.

Assistant Director (Housing) Regular review of Team Structure to 
ongoing ability to deliver the required duties 
and promote awareness / understanding of 
additional team workload.

Adequacy of current team structure is monitored and 
along with the Locata system which was introduced prior 
to the implementation of the Act, suggests that no change 
is required at present.

2.3 Service to continue following cessation of New 
Burdens funding

Assistant Director (Housing) Ensuring sustainability of the service
following cessation of New Burdens
funding

Investigations into alternative sourcing of Temporary 
Accommodation, is ongoing in order to reduce the level of 
expenditure incurred in providing Temporary 
Accommodation.

P
age 94



Gravesham Borough Council
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2019-20 Corporate Risk Register)

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15 Likelihood 4 Impact 3 Score 12

Risk 5: Universal Credit Risk Owner: Director (Corporate Services) Head of Revenues and Benefits

Risk Background: 
Gravesham adopted Universal Credit ‘Live’ service in its most basic form on the 18 May 2015 for single 
residents only in prescribed circumstances. The impact was minimal and did not produce a risk score. 
Universal Credit live service was closed to new claims from 31 December 2017.
Universal Credit ‘Full’ service commenced in May 2018 and is available for all types of claimant with the 
exception of a few categories.
The Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) has overall responsibility for implementing Universal Credit, 
although the Council has a key role in in providing Universal Support to residents who wish to claim. 
However Gravesham Citizens Advice provides the Assisted Digital Support and Personal Budgeting 
Support on our behalf.
From 1 April 2019 the DWP will sub contract Citizens Advice to do the Assisted Digital Support and 
Personal Budgeting Support directly.
Gravesham has its own housing and under the housing benefit scheme a weekly transaction was paid to 
the housing account without the tenant having to take responsibility and providing security of payment for 
the Council and security of tenancy for the customer.
Under UC there is no certainty that Housing will receive the housing cost payment if the customer receives 
the payment direct

Consequences:
There remains much uncertainty as to the exact direct and indirect consequences of the changes upon the 
authority, particularly whether resources to support the scheme will still be required to be retained by the 
council (and at what level) once administration of Universal Credit is taken over by the Department for Work 
and Pensions in its entirety.
Initial data shows that currently in Full service caseload has dropped and the number of new claims received 
is starting to reduce however the workload has actually increased as a result of the number of notifications 
that the DWP JCP send through on a daily/weekly basis.
Direct consequences are;
 A reduction in HB caseload
 A reduction in council dwelling rental income and increase in rent arrears as payments will be made 

direct to the tenant, rather than direct to the rent account as they are now
 Increase in workload for Housing Team
 Increases in evictions/homelessness/voids
 Rise in level of corporate debt
 Customers may suffer hardship
Indirect consequences are also expected, with increased costs of cash handling through the shift away from 
rebating benefit to cash transactions

P
age 95



Gravesham Borough Council
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2019-20 Corporate Risk Register)

Risk Assessment
Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer(s)

Required Management Action as originally 
documented in the 2019-20  Corporate Risk 

Register
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year 

Review

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
5.1 Regular Meetings Planned to take place with 
JCP Senior Officers

Head of Revenues and Benefits
Assistant Revenues and 
Benefits Manager

Continued liaison and meetings with the JCP by 
revenues and Benefits Officers, alongside officers 
from Housing, Customer Services and the Citizens 
Advice Bureau.

Meetings were scheduled at the beginning of the 
year to take place monthly.  These have been 
taking place as planned and are regularly attended 
by Housing Income Officers, Citizens Advice, JCP 
and Housing Benefits. We have recently included 
Housing Options in our attendees list. Any issues 
are highlighted and discussed by all organisations 
which is invaluable for successful networking and 
keeping up to date with latest changes. 

On a weekly basis we take part in a telekit for 
improving the customer experience. This is hosted 
by the DWP and involves staff from the Jobcentre, 
UC Service centre and Local Authorities.

We are also carrying out a Job Shadowing exercise 
where JCP staff are spending time at the Civic 
Centre with HB staff, Housing Income and Housing 
Options staff.  This will be reciprocated for Local 
Authority staff to attend the Jobcentre.

5.2 Customers given help with claiming Universal 
Credit and managing finance.

Head of Revenues and Benefits
Assistant Revenues and 
Benefits Manager

Citizens Advice to provide Personal Budgeting 
Support and Assisted Digital Support with the help of 
funding from the JCP

Citizens Advice (CA) now provide a Help to Claim 
Service which is funded directly by the DWP. This 
support is given in the early stages of the Universal 
Credit claim, from application through to first 
payment. It is a dedicated service which is free to 
the claimant, independent, confidential and 
impartial. CA do attend our meetings and regularly 
keep us informed of any issues they may 
encounter.  As well as providing a service out of 
the Civic Centre they do also have a presence in 
the Jobcentre where appointments are scheduled.

5.3 Monitoring the impact of Universal Credit 
upon the Housing Collection rate 

Assistant Director (Housing) Housing officers have access to the Landlord Portal, 
are aware of all tenants in receipt of UC and continue 
to closely monitor Rent Accounts. Opportunities to 
make arrangements for direct payment where 
appropriate will be sought.

Housing Income Officers are leading on UC cases 
and investment has been made in a software 
solution to better focus the limited resources in the 
team.  The number of Alternative Payment 
Arrangements (Direct Payments) is increasing 
monthly.  A new suite of letters has been created to 
make contact with tenants when Housing are 
aware that a tenant has claimed UC.  Rent arrears 
are reported monthly.

P
age 96



Gravesham Borough Council
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2019-20 Corporate Risk Register)

Risk AssessmentControls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer(s)
Required Management Action as originally 
documented in the 2019-20  Corporate Risk 

Register Management Action Update as at Mid-Year 
Review Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

5.4  Contact with residents as well as social and 
private landlords to establish impact on Universal 
Credit 

Head of Revenues and Benefits Liaison will continue with the DWP, CAB, Housing, 
Private /Social landlords, council tenants and 
Customer Services to ensure that residents can be 
kept informed of how the introduction of UC Full 
Service will affect them.

Regular liaison continues with the DWP, CA and 
Housing.  We have updated our correspondence 
that is issued to claimants where necessary to 
advise on claiming Universal Credit.  We do have 
ad-hoc contact with landlords and organisations 
whereby any advice is given. Equally we sign post 
to the Jobcentre and GOVUK as and when 
appropriate.

5.5  Maintain briefing arrangements for members 
and staff and provide regular updates of any 
changes

Head of Revenues and Benefits Briefing arrangements will be maintained to keep 
Members and staff regularly updated of any changes 
that occur.

Briefings for staff take place on a regular basis 
through Team Meetings and Staff bulletins.  
Members are kept up to date via briefings at P&A.  
Also Universal Credit was included in the recent 
Member training that was rolled out.

P
age 97



Gravesham Borough Council
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2019-20 Corporate Risk Register)

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 5 Impact 4 Score 20 Likelihood 5 Impact 3 Score 15

Risk 6: Withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European Union Risk Owner: Management Team 

Risk Background: 
In June 2016, the United Kingdom (UK) voted to leave the European Union (EU). The UK is scheduled to 
leave the EU at 11pm local time on 29 March 2019. A withdrawal agreement and political declaration on 
future ties with the bloc were announced by the Prime Minister in November, though there has been little 
public support for this and the House of Commons vote on the exit agreement was lost on 15 January 2019. 
This has led to a heightened level of political and economic uncertainty around the future of the country as 
well as uncertainty as to whether Brexit will actually take place on 29 March 2019. In a ‘No Deal’ situation, 
the UK would revert to World Trade Organisation rules after 29 March 2019.

Consequences:
 Lack of clarity on when the EU withdrawal may take place or impact on government spending plans.
 Difficulty in delivering services due to disruption to the road network as a consequence of increased 

border and customs checks on port freight traffic. Disruption in particular to waste collection and 
disposal and to staff ability to reach their usual place of work.

 Potential for council income from services to reduce due to service disruption or changes to customer 
behavior (car parking).

 Potential longer term impacts on staffing and future recruitment and legal and regulatory framework of 
the country.

 Potential impacts on the council’s supply chain and the procurement of supplies and services (through 
actual supply and inflation-linked contracts).

 Potential to cause instability in interest rates, affecting investment decisions, returns from current 
investments and pension fund liabilities. Potential to cause a downgrading in UK sovereign rating and 
UK institutional ratings, limiting options for investment decisions. Impact may also be felt on existing 
commercial property rental income returns and capital values.

 Potential impacts on funding for longer term regeneration and infrastructure development plans.
 Increased risk of intentional attempts to disrupt council services around 29 March 2019 through cyber 

and other means.
 Social Unrest and increase in public disorder.

Risk Assessment
Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer(s)

Required Management Action as originally 
documented in the 2019-20  Corporate Risk 

Register
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year 

Review

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
6.1 County-wide contingency planning Chief Executive (as part of the 

KRF Executive Board)
Proactive engagement with County-wide  contingency 
planning arrangements

The council is a key partner of the Kent 
Resilience Forum (KRF), which co-ordinates 
the Kent-wide Brexit contingency planning 
arrangements. The council is in regular contact 
with sub groups of the KRF and associated 
tactical and strategic planning meetings and 
has taken part in desktop exercises linked to 
Operation Fennel – the county’s response to 
anticipated traffic disruption at ports and 
associated road network. 

6.2 Review of Business Continuity Plans Wider Management Team Business Continuity Plans to be reviewed and updated 
to ensure they remain fit for purpose

The council has recently adopted a new 
Business Continuity Management System that 
consists of an overarching Framework 
document, a corporate Business Continuity 
Plan (made up of a series of individual 
Directorate BC plans) and a series of 
Predetermined Decisions/Activation Cards.

P
age 98



Gravesham Borough Council
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2019-20 Corporate Risk Register)

Risk Assessment
Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer(s)

Required Management Action as 
originally documented in the 2019-20  

Corporate Risk Register
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year Review

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

6.3 Review of IT infrastructure, working patterns, 
staffing levels  and cross authority working 
arrangements

Wider Management Team IT Infrastructure to support remote working 
where possible.
Consideration of alternative working 
patterns where this may support service 
continuity, or review hours of service 
provision.
Consideration of additional staffing or 
temporary redeployment of staff to high 
priority services
Consideration of reciprocal cross-authority 
working opportunities to support critical 
service delivery and enable staff to work at 
their nearest local authority temporarily

A mapping exercise has been undertaken to highlight 
those officers that live in areas at risk of traffic disruption, 
Associated IT equipment that enables officers to be able 
to work from home, is currently being sourced and 
allocated across the council. 
Directorates have outlined longer term risks within their 
own Business Continuity plans, of which the need for re-
deployment to specific services has been highlighted 
where necessary so that high-level mission critical 
activities are maintained. 
GovRoam capability is available at a number of public 
buildings throughout the county including council offices 
and libraries for access to the Kent Public Service 
Network (KPSN). 

6.4 Interaction with key partners and supply chain 
providers

Wider Management Team Maintain interaction with key partners and 
supply chain providers to seek assurance 

on their preparedness

Through the Business Continuity planning process, 
departments have highlighted and contacted key 
suppliers to make sure providers have put in place 
measures to mitigate disruption to supply lines in the 
event of a no-deal scenario.  
The council has also set up a page on the council 
website outlining information and advice for the wider 
local business community, as well as holding a Business 
Breakfast session for local companies to attend in order 
to gain further guidance on key areas in the event of a 
no-deal scenario.

P
age 99



Gravesham Borough Council
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2019-20 Corporate Risk Register)

INHERENT RISK SCORE RESIDUAL RISK SCORE
Likelihood 3 Impact 4 Score 12 Likelihood 3 Impact 4 Score 12

Risk 7: Cyberattack Resulting in data breach or corruption of data Risk Owner: Director (Corporate Services) 

Risk Background: 
As more reliance grows on IT Systems the risks surrounding a cyberattack disrupting those systems 
becomes more important. Whilst there is no specific targeted threat to local government (confirmed by the 
National Cyber Security Centre), criminal activity via Cyber methods remains the most likely motivation. The 
"Official 2019 Annual Cybercrime Report,” by Cybersecurity Ventures lists Cyber Crime as the world's 
biggest criminal growth industry.
Whilst technical and non-technical controls can be put in place to reduce the ease at which an IT 
Infrastructure can be attacked, unknown vulnerabilities (zero day threats) and / or a determined attacker can 
defeat even the most secure systems.
Alongside protecting systems should be well practiced incident response plans

Consequences:
A cyberattack can result in the unavailability of systems for normal use, destruction of systems and 
data, and the theft of data for criminal use.

Risk Assessment
Controls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer(s)

Required Management Action as originally 
documented in the 2019-20  Corporate Risk 

Register
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year 

Review

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

7.1 Implementation of Technical Security Controls Assistant Director 
(Transformation & IT)

Ensure technical controls (such as firewalls, anti-
virus, filtering, log monitoring) remain in place and 
are regularly reviewed

Technical control arrangements remain in place.  
Work is underway to replace the existing firewall 
with a device that also provides email and web 
filtering capabilities, reducing the footprint in the IT 
server room.
The log monitoring system is in the process of being 
upgraded.

7.2  Back up arrangements in place Assistant Director 
(Transformation & IT)

Ensure offsite backup arrangements remain in 
place and are regularly reviewed 

Offsite backup arrangements remain in place and 
continue to be regularly reviewed. 

7.3 Maintain participation with relevant warning 
bodies 

Assistant Director 
(Transformation & IT)

Continue with maintaining participation in local 
and national Warning, Advice and Reporting 
Points (WARP) for up to date situational 
intelligence information

The council continues to be part of the Kent WARP 
Group and regularly sends representatives to events 
held by the National Cyber Security Centre.

7.4 Maintain direct engagement with Cyber 
bodies 

Assistant Director 
(Transformation & IT)

Continue maintaining direct engagement with the 
National Cyber Security Centre and use of their 
Active Cyber defence tools.

The council continues to engage with the National 
Cyber Security Centre and make use of their Active 
Cyber defence tools.

P
age 100



Gravesham Borough Council
 Mid-Year Review of Corporate Risks

(Review of ALL risks detailed in the 2019-20 Corporate Risk Register)

Risk AssessmentControls to eliminate, reduce or transfer risk Lead Officer(s)
Required Management Action as originally 
documented in the 2019-20  Corporate Risk 

Register
Management Action Update as at Mid-Year 

Review Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

7.5 Improvements to existing controls Assistant Director 
(Transformation & IT)

Complete improvements to existing controls 
which includes additional backup facilities, faster 
recovery from backups and a partnership 
approach to proactively monitoring security event 
information.

A review of the council’s data storage infrastructure 
is currently underway, seeking to better utilise and, 
where appropriate, upgrade the resources we have.  

7.6 Expansion of Business Continuity plans Assistant Director 
(Transformation & IT)

Expand existing Business Continuity plans so the 
cover in more detail the specifics of cyberattack

As part of the data storage review, Business 
Continuity plans will have to be updated.  This will 
be an ongoing process between now and the new 
year.

7.7  Engagement with Local Resilience 
Partnership

Assistant Director 
(Transformation & IT) Engage with the Local Resilience Partnership 

through the MHCLG Pathfinder programme to 
ensure multi-agency response is appropriate

IT Services continue to be engaged with the Local 
Resilience Partnership and, most recently, has been 
involved in conference calls with the MHCLG 
regarding Brexit and data implications.

7.8 Conduct Cyberattack exercise scenarios Assistant Director 
(Transformation & IT)

Conduct regular exercises to assess cyberattack 
recovery plans

IT Services are in the process of developing a plan 
to test the recovery of system and data in the event 
cyberattacks and non-cyber related incidents.  
Current arrangements for the recovery of data 
remain effective and in place.

P
age 101



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Draft Report for Cabinet
Draft report for Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 11 November 2019 / 12 November 2019

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: General Fund Budget Monitoring Report 2019/20 – Quarter 
Two

Purpose and summary of report:
To provide Members with information on actual performance against the approved Revenue 
and Capital budgets for 2019/20, including known variances agreed or identified through 
budgetary control activity.
To update Members on other key arears of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, or Financial 
Statements.

Recommendations:

1. This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
council’s finances and financial performance.  This report therefore provides an 
assessment of performance against approved budgets for the 2019/20 financial year for 
the first quarter to 30 September 2019 as well as updating Members on other key areas 
of financial performance. 

1.2. The council continues to operate robust budgetary control actions to ensure good 
financial governance and respond to the pressures on the council’s finances.  In addition 
to the reporting of financial performance through regular budget monitoring reports, 
these actions include:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to 
Management Team for discussion and approval;

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;

 Requiring recruitment activity (relating to both permanent and temporary 
appointments, and including use of overtime) to be considered and approved by 
Management Team;

 Monitoring the delivery of activity under the council’s Bridging the Gap Strategy, 
as set out in the current Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

Page 103 Agenda Item 10



2

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

General Fund - Revenue

2.1. At the end of Quarter Two there is projected underspend for the year of £568,330.  
Movements affecting the forecast position against the original budget for the year in the 
main pertain to continued implementation of Bridging the Gap activity.

2.2. The council ended 2018/19 in a favourable position, enabling budgets totalling £184,670 
to be approved for carry forward into 2019/20.

2.3. The level of Working Balances at year-end is projected to be £9.72m, constituted of the 
minimum working balances of £1.25m, the General Fund reserve of £4.00m and usable 
Working Balances of £4.47m. 

2.4. Movements in the year are projected to result in a net decrease in reserves of £0.76m, 
with the level of reserves being £11.24m at start of year and projected to be £10.48m at 
year- end.

2.5. Significant risks to the General Fund’s financial position continue to come from the lack 
of clarity regarding the long-term future of local government funding.

2.6. General Fund - Capital

2.7. The revised budget of the General Fund Capital Programme for the year is £23.93m, 
including £11.68m to support furtherance of the council’s land and commercial property 
portfolio and £8.27m to fund the initial works to redevelop the St George’s Shopping 
Centre.  Actual spend to the end of Quarter Two was £1.02m. 

3. GENERAL FUND - REVENUE

3.1. Budget 2019/20

3.1.1. The approved Original Budget Requirement for 2019/20 was £11,474,270, funded by 
retained Non-Domestic Rates, New Homes Bonus, Council Tax and use of £742,500 
Usable Working Balances, in accordance with the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

3.1.2. Following some limited changes to the responsibilities of Directors and Assistant 
Directors from 2nd September, the former Environment & Operations and Housing & 
Regeneration directorates have been adjusted to Housing & Operations and Planning & 
Development respectively. This reflects the transfer of Housing Services from Housing & 
Regeneration to Housing & Operations. The table on the next page and subsequent 
commentary reflects the revised structure and sets out the current assessment of 
performance against the Original Budget by Directorate, based on known variances as 
at 30 September 2019.

Page 104



3

 

Directorate / Budget Heading
Original 
Budget 

2019/20 (£)

Forecast 
2019/20 (£)

Variation 
2019/20 (£)

Chief Executive 28,000 28,000 0
Communities 3,793,880 3,339,630 (454,250)
Corporate Services 3,682,040 3,682,040 0
Housing & Operations 2,608,450 2,578,450 (30,000)
Planning & Development 2,148,620 2,148,620 0
Items Carried Forward from 2018-19 0 184,670 184,670
Non-Directorate Specific 1,134,900 1,134,900 0
Interest and Investment Income (843,720) (918,720) (75,000)
Government Grant Funding (1,213,840) (1,282,970) (69,130)
Transfers to/ (from) reserves (622,740) (538,550) 84,190
Transfers to/ (from) balances 611,150 611,150 0
Transactions below the line 147,530 63,340 (84,190)
BUDGET REQUIREMENT 11,474,270 11,030,560 (443,710)

Business Rates Income (3,085,050) (3,209,670) (124,620)
Council Tax Income (6,892,290) (6,892,290) 0
Parish Precepts (339,740) (339,740) 0
New Homes Bonus (611,150) (611,150) 0
Transfers to/(from) the Collection Fund 196,460 196,460 0
Use of Working Balances (742,500) (742,500) 0
BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND) 0 (568,330) (568,330)
Table 1: General Fund Revenue Outturn by Directorate / Budget heading

 
3.2. CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S DIRECTORATE – NIL VARIANCE

3.2.1 There are no significant variances to report.

3.3. COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE –  £454k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.3.1. Acquisition of Units at Springhead Park: £235k favourable variance – as part of the 
council’s continuing Property Acquisition Programme, the purchase of several industrial 
units at Springhead Park was completed in February 2019.  Due to the timing of this 
acquisition compared to budget-setting arrangements, this was not able to be reflected 
in the 2019/20 original budget and therefore there is now a current year favourable 
variance of £235k to report.  

3.3.2. Council-owned Garages: £160k favourable variance – within the council’s Balancing 
the Budget initiatives identified in November 2018, a review of council-owned garages 
and clarification of the legal position has resulted in a reallocation of income and 
expenditure between the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and General Fund. It has 
been determined that where such garages or parking spaces are being used by non-
council tenants, the associated income and expenditure should be appropriated to the 
General Fund, rather than the HRA as has traditionally been the case. The resultant 
effect is a projected net benefit to the General Fund of £160k in 2019/20 with £180k 
anticipated in future years.

Page 105



4

3.3.3. Acquisition of site at 35-36 New Road, Gravesend: £56k favourable variance – as 
part of the same strategy described in paragraph 3.3.1., the council acquired in January 
2019 the site at 35-36 New Road, Gravesend, currently tenanted by Bon Marche. This 
was also not completed in time to be reflected in the 2019/20 original budget and 
therefore there is now additional income of £56k to report. 

Bon Marche went into administration during October 2019.  At the time of writing this 
report, Bon Marche continues to trade whilst the business is being marketed, and it is 
the current view of the appointed Administrator that there will be interest to take on the 
business.  The status of the business will be monitored to assess any impact on the 
council.

3.3.4. Member Allowances: £13k favourable variance – following the local elections in May 
2019 a revised cabinet and committee structure has been established by the new 
administration. The result of this in terms of allowances payable is a reduction of £13k 
compared to the original budget.

3.3.5. Safer Stronger Communities: Neutral variance – the council has successfully 
secured grant funding of around £30k from the Police and Crime Commissioner to 
support Community Safety Unit (CSU) activity that will assist with intelligence and 
evidence gathering, particularly to help reduce organised crime, offending related to 
drug supply and environmental crime such as fly-tipping.  Most of the funding awarded 
has been used to purchase three state-of-the-art rapid deployment CCTV cameras, 
which also have Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) capacity.  These will be 
deployed across the Borough for short periods of time as an additional tool to support 
multi-agency/joint operations.  A small amount of funding has also been set aside as a 
contingency amount to enable the CSU to respond to any emerging priorities that 
become known during the course of the year.

3.3.6. CCTV – Riverside Leisure Area: neutral variance – a review of CCTV arrangements 
across the borough identified the need for additional coverage at the Riverside Leisure 
Area. Resultantly, reserve funding of £16k from the Corporate Priorities Reserve has 
been made available to support the installation of new cameras.

3.3.7. Borough Market: £10k adverse variance – the latest income projections for the market 
show an anticipated year-end deficit of £17k, attributable to continuing unit vacancies in 
particular with the unexpected recent departures of stall-holders due to personal 
circumstances. Compensating underspends on staffing and running expense budgets of 
£7k have reduced the overall projected variance to £10k for the year.

3.4 CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE – NEUTRAL VARIANCE

3.4.1 Making Tax Digital: neutral variance – as the result of an HMRC directive requiring 
organisations to report VAT and Corporation Tax returns using automated internet 
submissions, £14k of reserve funding has been made available to support this 
workstream. This budget has financed the purchase and implementation of a new Civica 
module to facilitate digital transfers between the council and HMRC.
 

3.4.2 Income Cash Management System: neutral variance – the council’s Income Cash 
Management system enables a range of critical functions to be delivered, such as the 
receipting of income payments across all departments, and facilitates the bank 
reconciliation process. In order to ensure the most recent version is used and remains 
supported by the provider, Capita, it is now necessary to upgrade to the current version 
of software. Reserve funding of £11k has been made available to finance this upgrade 
and the support necessary from Capita to enable this to take place.

Page 106



5

3.4.3 Corporate Debt Pilot System: neutral variance – funding from the Corporate Priorities 
Reserve of £8k has been made available to support a pilot project for the central 
collation, analysis and management of debt across the council. The project involves 
utilising specialist software to draw account balance data from different council systems, 
carry out matching activity and guide officers in determining specific courses of action 
for individuals owing multiple amounts to the council.

3.5     HOUSING & OPERATIONS DIRECTORATE –  £30k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.5.1 Controlled Parking Zone Review: £30k favourable variance – the Service Review 
process identified a need to update some aspects of the existing Controlled Parking 
Zones. Implementation of the new arrangements went live in May 2019; as result of 
moving away from five-year permits to a system of annual permit renewal, a 
favourable variance has been realised in 2019/20 of £30k. 

3.5.2 Parking equipment: neutral variance – funding of £33k has been transferred from 
the Service Review Reserve in order finance the purchase of new equipment and 
signage to enable the operation of new parking schemes within the town centre. 

3.6 PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT –  NEUTRAL VARIANCE

3.6.1 There are no significant variances to report.

Page 107



6

3.7 ITEMS CARRIED FORWARD FROM 2018/19 – £185k

3.7.1 The following items from 2018/19 have been approved for carry forward to 2019/20 by 
the Section 151 Officer and the Council’s Management Team: 

Summary of General Fund Revenue 2018/19 year-end carry forward requests

Directorate Service Amount Reason for carry-forward request into 2019/20

Communities Regeneration £980 Maintenance works are required on the town pier access system, this 
budget is required to offset the cost of this work.

Communities Younger Persons Fund £1,810 Unspent budget to be rolled forward to to pay for grant funded projects 
already identified in 2019/20.

Communities Older Persons Fund £2,050 To be rolled forward to pay for various projects which have already been 
identified.  These include a TV for Portreeve Resident's Association and 
Defribrillator's at Meopham Parish Council, Istead Rise Memorial Hall and 
Vigo Village Hall.

Communities Property Services £5,000 The final 2018/19 service charge for St John's House has not yet been 
received.  As the building was empty for a few months this charge may 
exceed the original estimate.  As such this budget carry forward is being 
requested to cover that eventuality as a one off event.

Communities Community 
Engagement 

£7,610 Unspent MOD grant to be rolled forward.  The MOD have agreed that this 
money can be carried forward and used against an appropriate project 
next year.

Communities Woodville Halls £10,000 Equipment for market café.  Spotlites are interested in taking on a unit in 
the market to provide the café there. This approach will give the market a 
much needed offer and ensure there is the provision needed.  Spotlites 
will be able to use staff & stock across both sites making this a cost-
effective second business for them. To do this, there will be a need to 
purchase equipment including fridges, hot warmers, tea/coffee machine.  
In the very unlikely event the offer did not work, the equipment would 
be reused in the main Spotlites kitchen.                                            

Communities Community 
Engagement 

£10,590 To support a range of initiatives for next year – community cohesion, 
tackling hate crime, building footfall in the town etc. This will be linked to 
ongoing work and the Altogether Stronger project that the council has 
just received approval for.

Communities Woodville Halls £22,000 The auditorium floor needs repairing, sanding and varnishing each year. 
However, as this has not been undertaken for a number of years, 
replacement of the floor is now required.                                   

Communities Woodville Halls £23,000 This budget will pay for the introduction of a second till at Spotlites and a 
redesign of the counter to accommodate this. This will enable the team 
to better serve customers, particularly during busy times.                 

Communities Woodville Halls £70,000 The current dimmer rack responsible for the auditorium lighting needs to 
be replaced; however, a survey is required to ascertain whether this is 
the most appropriate route or whether a change to the overall lighting 
installation is more appropriate / cost effective. Ring-fencing the balance 
of savings (£70k) is expected to cover the majority of the cost of this 
work. 

Corporate Services Corporate 
Performance

£1,520 The Corporate Plan as a project operates over a rolling four year basis. In 
years 2 and 3 virtually no monies are committed. However, year 4 
(2018/19) has a sizeable portion spent as we carry out preparatory work 
on the new plan and year 1 (2019/20) will likely see all monies spent.  The 
bulk of the budget will be committed to the various communication and 
promotional aspects of the new Corporate Plan; imagery, printing etc. 

Environment and 
Operations

Horticulture £3,450 Some of the Playground budget was set aside to fund the cost of the 
replacement parts at Woodlands Park Play Area.  The replacement head 
unit was not received by 31/03/19 due to a delay with the delivery. The 
budget now needs to be used to offset this cost in 2019/20.  

Environment and 
Operations

Car Parking £26,660 The underspend achieved in 2018/19 is needed to supply & install CPZ 
Parking Signs in 2019/20.

Total carry-forward requests £184,670

Table 2: Items Carried Forward from 2018/19

Page 108



7

3.8 INTEREST AND INVESTMENT INCOME – £75k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE 

3.8.1 Interest & Investment Income: £75k favourable variance – when setting the 
investment income budget for the Multi Asset Funds, a prudent view of a 3% return 
was assumed given that at that time, the investment had only been held for 
approximately nine months.  However, there are currently dividend returns of around 
4% being experienced from the Multi Asset Funds.

3.8.2 When setting the investment income budget for Property Funds, whilst the 
investments had been held since 2016, a prudent view was taken that returns would 
be around 3% given the uncertain economic conditions surrounding Brexit.  Whilst 
officers have seen a small decrease in the Net Asset Value of the council’s 
investment as a result of these uncertainties, dividend returns are holding at around 
4%.

3.8.3 The combined effect of the above are favourable variances of £45k and £30k 
respectively, thus giving an overall projected benefit of £75k for 2019/20.

3.9 FUNDING STREAMS – £194k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.9.1 Government Grant Funding – Section 31 grants – see Business Rates income 
section below.

3.9.2 Transfers to/(from) reserves & Transactions below the line: net neutral variance 
– under accounting arrangements the corresponding entries relating to reserve-
funded expenditure within services (the drawdown from the reserve and the transfer 
into the specific service) are shown here. The total of £124k relates to projected 
reserve funded items as described within the Communities, Corporate Services, and 
Housing and Operations Directorate sections.

3.9.3 Business Rates Income: £194k favourable variance – the latest forecast for 
2019/20 business rates income takes into account the projected benefits resulting 
from membership of the Kent Business Rates Pool of £18k. Additionally, the 
projection for Section 31 grants received to compensate the council for various 
business rate reliefs granted (within the Government Grant Funding section) has also 
been updated, giving a further MTFP benefit of £69k.

3.9.4 Following the Council’s membership of the Kent Business Rates Pilot scheme in 
2018/19, subsequent year-end reconciliations of data across the region have been 
undertaken to finalise the overall position.. The resultant effect is a net further benefit 
to the Council of £107k relating to the Financial Sustainability and Housing Growth 
Funds.

3.9.5 Therefore the total variation for this section is a combination of the £18k Kent Pool 
benefit, £69k additional S31 Grant Funding and £107k additional Kent Pilot 2018/19 
monies – an overall favourable variance to the MTFP of £194k in 2019/20.

Page 109



8

3.10 Other Variances and Risks not reflected in the Current Budget

3.10.1 Staffing Budgets – the General Fund staffing budget for 2019/20 incorporates a 
vacancy allowance of £350k for the year. It is anticipated that this will occur 
throughout the establishment as a whole from natural staff turnover within day-to-day 
business activities as well as posts being held vacant pending the re-design of 
services. For the first half of the financial year, actual staffing spend was £96k lower 
than budgeted.

3.10.2 Fees and Charges (General) – Income received from fees and charges supports the 
annual budget. Monitoring to the end of September indicates that income streams are 
generally performing well against budget; monitoring will continue during the year 
with any known variances reported through budget monitoring reports.

3.10.3 Homelessness – monitoring to the end of September indicates that the service is 
currently operating within the budget for the year, after all government funding 
received by the council for this purpose has been applied.  Whilst demand for the 
service has seen an increase in the second quarter of the year, the number of 
households living in temporary accommodation continued to decrease during the 
quarter, down to 80 at the end of September 2019.  

3.10.4 During the first six months of 2019/20 there has been total actual and committed 
expenditure of £268k on temporary accommodation placements in the private sector, 
an average of £44.6k per calendar month. However, once compensating Housing 
Benefit receipts are taken into consideration, the net expenditure for this period is 
around £174k.  Targeted action is being taken by the Housing Options Team to 
reduce temporary accommodation costs through reducing reliance on private nightly 
paid temporary accommodation.

3.11 Working Balances and Reserves

3.11.1 The variances and Carried Forward items outlined in this report have the following effect 
upon the General Fund working balances:

Balance Brought Forward from 2018/19 9,287,850 
New Homes Bonus (Straight to working balances) 611,150 
Budgeted use of Working Balances to support the General Fund (742,500)
Variances per budget report (Incl.items Bfwd from 2018/19) 568,330 
Forecast Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 30 September 2019) 
including Minimum GF Working Balance 9,724,830 
Less: Minimum GF balance (1,250,000)
Less: Additional General Fund Reserve (4,000,000)

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 30 September 2019) 4,474,830 

Working Balances £

 Table 3: Effect on General Fund Balances

Page 110



9

3.11.2 The general working balance is supplemented by specific reserves, established to assist 
with future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
forecast movements on these specific reserves during the year.

Opening Forecast Forecast Forecast
General Fund Earmarked Reserves Balance Use of Reserve Contributions Balance

01/04/2019 (Expenditure) (Income) 31/03/2020
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Planning Policy Reserve 420 50 470 
Asset Enhancement Reserve 1,377 (608) 300 1,069 

 Spend to Save Reserve 157 3 160 
Leisure Centres Reserve 1,326 (75) 356 1,607 
Corporate Priorities Reserve 310 (30) 280 
Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 99 12 111 

 Local Authority Mortgage Scheme (LAMS) 
Reserve 

50 (25) 25 
Elections Reserve 172 (120) 52 

 NNDR Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 666 (166) 500 
IT Infrastructure Reserve 305 75 380 

 DSO Vehicle Capital Reserve 414 (435) 105 84 
 Freighter Replacement Reserve 780 232 1,012 
NNDR Growth Fund Reserve 478 (235) 220 463 

 Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 150 150 
Woodville Repairs Reserve 170 57 227 
Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500 500 
Housing & Commerical Growth Fund 700 700 
St George's Income Protection Reserve 422 422 

 Commerical Income Protection Reserve 424 59 483 
 Service Review Reserve 247 (83) 164 
 Playgrounds Reserve 167 (100) 67 
Decriminalisation Reserve 85 (100) 100 85 
Sub-total - Specific Earmarked Reserves 9,419 (1,977) 1,569 9,011 

 Revenue Grants not yet applied 1,819 (348) 1,471 

Total - All Earmarked Reserves 11,238 (2,325) 1,569 10,482 

Table 4: Analysis of Specific Reserves

3.11.3 Significant or new approved use of reserves include:

3.11.4 Corporate Priorities Reserve – £16k CCTV (Communities), £8k Corporate Debt 
Pilot System (Corporate Services), £2k Safer Place Officers’ equipment 
(Communities).

3.11.5 Service Review Reserve – £33k Parking equipment (Environment & Operations).

3.11.6 Revenue Grants not yet applied – £14k Making Tax Digital, £11k Income Cash 
Management System (both Corporate Services). 

Page 111



10

3.12 Medium Term Financial Planning

3.13 The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to 
take into account longer-term assumptions around inflation rates, central government 
grants and energy prices, together with building in all known variances to the Council’s 
budget as a result of Management Team and Cabinet decisions.  The latest version of the 
Medium Term Financial Plan is attached to this report at Appendix Two.

Local Government Finance

3.14 There continues to be little clarity on the long-term future of local government funding 
post 2020/21.  On 4 September 2019, the 2019 Spending Round was announced 
providing an outline of the Government’s plans for allocating resources to local authorities 
for 2020/21. This comprised of a single-year arrangement, pending the outcomes of the 
Fair Funding Review which is now scheduled to take place during 2020/21.  This will be 
conducted alongside a full Spending Review which is intended to enable a multi-year 
settlement to be provided to local government. 

3.15 Linked to this, a technical consultation has been published on the Local Government 
Finance Settlement for 2020/21.  The consultation document sets outs government’s 
intentions for the 2020/21 finance settlement to include:

 The removal of negative RSG (currently budgeted at £243,710 within the MTFP);

 That New Homes Bonus will be paid for in 2020/21 under the current scheme 
arrangements, subject to government retaining the right to adjust the baseline 
threshold (currently 0.4%);

 That the existing mechanism for Business Rates will continue into 2020/21; 

 A proposed Core Council Tax referendum principle for 2020/21 of 2% (with an 
additional 2% adult social care precept applicable to authorities with social care 
responsibilities).

3.16 It is expected that government will publish the Provisional Local Government Finance 
Settlement in December 2019.

Borrowing – Public Works Loan Board

3.17 On 9 October 2019, HM Treasury announced that it would increase the interest rates on 
all new loans from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) by 100 basis points (one 
percentage point) on top of usual lending terms.  This appears to be in response to a 
substantial increase in the use of PWLB by local authorities over recent months, given the 
cost of borrowing had fallen to record lows.  This action is likely to make the PWLB the 
lender of last resort and require the Council to identify alternative sources.  

3.18 Shorter term funding, up to five years, is likely to be available from some local authorities 
and banks but securing longer term funding could prove difficult.  Borrowing from the 
market longer term requires additional time both for planning and administration, and 
even then it might not be possible to find a lender that matches the specific requirements, 
forcing the Council to take on more expensive debt.  

3.19 As a result, the cost of borrowing for capital purposes will significantly rise, payback 
periods will lengthen and in some cases scheme affordability could be jeopardised.  It will 
be a case of waiting to see how the market reacts to this sudden announcement and what 
levels are achievable going forward.

Page 112



11

Brexit 

3.20 As the time of preparing this report, the council has received around £340k of funding 
from Central Government in order to assist with Brexit preparations. One of the biggest 
risks identified in the council’s Brexit contingency plans is the impact of potential traffic 
congestion in Kent on the delivery of services.

3.21 IT Services have been working with managers to review service provision arrangements 
in the event of significant disruption looking at where additional investment can improve 
resilience. This includes greater use of laptops and docking stations, enhancement of 
communications equipment for meeting and conferencing facilities and greater server and 
storage resilience.

3.22 The total estimated cost of these measures, combined with the existing roll-out of Surface 
Pro devices purchased in preparation for the original Brexit date in March, is anticipated 
to be around £182k and will be met from the funding from the Central Government.  The 
balance of funding is being retained to enable the council to respond to service delivery 
pressures that may arise after the point at which the United Kingdom exits the European 
Union.

Page 113



12

4. GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1 The following table details the position of General Fund Capital Programme as at the 
end of Quarter Two.  This includes the revised original budget for 2019/20, taking into 
consideration adjustments for carried forward items as approved by the Section151 
Officer and the Council’s Management Team.

Scheme

2019/20 
Original 

Budget inc 
C/Fwd              

£

2019/20 
Approved 

Adjustments                        
£

2019/20 
Working 
Budget                    

£

2019/20 
Actual 

Expenditure 
Qtr 2                  

£

Outstanding 
Balance               

£
Essential Repairs to Buildings 465,400 0 465,400 1,680 (463,720)
Gravesend Cemetery Improvements 21,580 0 21,580 6,750 (14,830)
Parrock St Car Park - resurfacing 0 150,000 150,000 0 (150,000)
Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) 535,000 52,870 587,870 252,550 (335,320)
Gatekeeper Replacement 50,000 0 50,000 0 (50,000)
New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling 100,000 0 100,000 0 (100,000)
Waste & Horticulture back office system 192,950 0 192,950 80,460 (112,490)
Replacement Playground Programme 185,300 0 185,300 2,770 (182,530)
IT Equipment Air Conditioning Unit 40,000 0 40,000 0 (40,000)
Brookvale Office Accommodation 1,400,000 (37,100) 1,362,900 5,160 (1,357,740)
Property Acquisition Programme 2,328,600 958,380 3,286,980 1,730 (3,285,250)
Land Acquisiton Programme 3,658,810 0 3,658,810 0 (3,658,810)
Land at Dering Way 4,735,000 0 4,735,000 3,360 (4,731,640)
Heritage Quarter - St George's Centre 5,461,640 2,810,370 8,272,010 607,860 (7,664,150)
Cascades Replacement Flumes 0 100,000 100,000 0 (100,000)
Replacement Artificial Sports Pitches 50,000 0 50,000 50,000 0
Heritage Assets 328,500 0 328,500 8,830 (319,670)
Back up Generator 75,000 0 75,000 0 (75,000)
Envelope Filling Equipment 20,000 0 20,000 0 (20,000)
Parking Machines 251,200 0 251,200 0 (251,200)

19,898,980 4,034,520 23,933,500 1,021,150 (22,912,350)

Table 5: General Fund Capital Programme 2019//20

 Essential Repairs to Buildings – there are various work streams currently underway, 
including:
- Resurfacing of the accessway to Brookvale Depot;
- The replacement of water heating plant to Kings Farm changing rooms, including 

cost and energy saving measures;
- Annual window servicing and follow-up repairs to windows at the Civic Centre;
- Rebuilding of boundary wall at St Peter & St Paul’s Church which is scheduled to 

take place later in the financial year.

 Gravesend Cemetery Improvements – the new cemetery management software is 
currently being implemented.

 Parrock Street Carpark resurfacing – following a meeting with representatives from 
Kent County Council Highways, officers are currently awaiting a quotation for the works 
from a Kent County Council contractor.

 Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) – fourteen new vans relating to the Housing Repairs 
service were delivered during the summer of 2019, with a further six vans due at the end 
of October 2019.  Officers are continually reviewing the fleet replacement plan to assess 
the timescales for further purchases, and an order has recently placed for two vans 
relating to the Cemeteries and Street Cleansing services, with anticipated delivery 
during November 2019. 

Page 114



13

 Gatekeeper Replacement – a number of options are currently being considered to 
deliver this option identified as part of the Service Review process.  

 New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling – a review is currently taking place considering 
blocks of flats to determine the number of bins required before any orders are placed.

 Waste & Horticulture Back Office System – the first stage implementing information 
systems for bin deliveries, domestic, and garden waste has been completed. The 
second stage of implementation, focusing on trade waste, is commencing in October 
2019.

 Replacement Playground Programme – the installation of new play equipment at the 
sites in Central Avenue, Durndale Lane and Waterton Avenue is starting in October 
2019.  It is intended that these works will be completed by April 2020.

 IT Equipment air conditioning unit – a way forward has now been agreed on the 
replacement of the server room air conditioning unit and Property Services have 
obtained quotes for the work, on behalf of IT Services.

 Brookvale Office Accommodation – demolition works in respect of structures at the 
Brookvale Depot have been completed.  External consultants are currently undertaking 
a feasibility study for the development and their report is awaited. 

 Property Acquisition Programme – there has been no further activity under this 
programme in the second quarter of the year.  The council continues to be pro-active in 
identifying suitable acquisition opportunities to add to its commercial property portfolio.  

 Land Acquisition Programme – there has been no further activity under this 
programme in the second quarter of the year.  The council continues to maintain an 
overview of strategic land sites in the borough so that, as sites come to the market, their 
acquisition can be considered as a means of delivering development and revenue 
generating opportunities for the council and the wider borough in the future.

 Land at Dering Way - The scheme is currently on hold pending the outcome of a wider 
master planning exercise for the various landholdings under the ownership of the council 
in the Denton area.  This master planning exercise will seek to consider complementary 
uses of the adjacent land holdings to ensure that development in that area maximises 
benefits to the council and to the wider community, taking advantage of opportunities to 
improve access to and provision of services, green space and high quality housing.

 Heritage Quarter (St George’s Centre) – work is continuing on the re-enlivenment of 
the mall areas of St Georges with new paving laid, removal of some of the non-structural 
canopies and improvement to the two mall entrance malls of the Centre.  The overall 
programme of works is expected to be completed in Quarter Three.

 Cascades Replacement Flumes – an updated survey of condition has been received 
from the original manufacturer, as well as programme of works and associated options 
to internal and external flume areas.  This has now been discussed with GCLL, with 
works due to take place end December / early January. Works are now estimated to 
cost around £60k, funded from a combination of S106 monies and existing Council 
budgets.

 Replacement Artificial Sports Pitches – the Gravesend Rugby Football Club site was 
highlighted within the Gravesham 2016 Playing Pitch Strategy as strategically important 
to the local area but in need of refurbishment.  Gravesham Sports Trust were successful 

Page 115



14

in raising the additional external funding required, and works to complete replacement 
carpet works on site have now been completed. 

 Heritage Assets – St Andrews Arts Centre – a river wall specification is being prepared 
for the tendering process which will complete in early 2020. Site works have been 
deferred to 2020/21 as they need to be carried out in warmer months, due to the 
materials being used. Further works are being evaluated at Gravesend Cemetery, the 
Blockhouse and New Tavern Fort.

 Back-up Generator – tender documents to procure a back-up generator have been 
prepared.  The project manager is currently making arrangements for the tender to be 
issued.

 Envelope Filling Equipment – due to an increasing number of breakdowns occurring 
with the current machine, the purchase of new equipment will be made in Quarter Three 
of this financial year.

 Parking Machines –the Parking Team continue to explore the most suitable options for 
the council in terms of parking equipment, whilst taking in to account local need and 
corporate objectives. Any new equipment purchased will be in operation over the next 
six to eight years, and therefore it is essential that the team ensure the new equipment 
is flexible enough to accommodate future changes if required.    

4.2 Capital Resources

4.2.1 The table below shows the General Fund resources available to fund capital 
projects in the future:

General Fund Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2019                 
£

Actual    
Income        
2019/20                           

£           

Anticipated 
Use of 

Funding 
2019/20                                                          

£       

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2020           
£

Capital Receipts (988,020) (213,340) 407,480 (793,880)
S106 Capital Contributions (531,060) (50,000) 0 (581,060)
Capital Grants unapplied (330,290) 0 273,250 (57,040)
Total Capital Resources (1,849,370) (263,340) 680,730 (1,431,980)

Table 6: General Fund Capital Resources 2019/20

Capital Grants Unapplied

Opening 
Balance           

01/04/2019                 
£

Actual      
Income        
2019/20                           

£           

Use of 
Funding 
2019/20              

£

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2020              
£

Transport Quarter Stage 3 (179,160) 0 0 (179,160)
Localised Council Tax Support (89,220) 0 0 (89,220)
Local Enterprise Partnership Funding (6,910) 0 6,910 0
Land at South of Hever Court Road (55,000) 0 0 (55,000)
Total Capital Grants Unapplied (330,290) 0 6,910 (323,380)

Table 7: Capital Grants Unapplied 2019/20

Page 116



4.2.2 The table below lists the S106 developer contributions currently held by the council.  These contributions are treated as specific grants as 
they have conditions attached to their use.

S106 Developer Contributions General 
Fund          

£
HRA               

£

Third Party 
Contributions     

£ 

Total S106 
Income 
2019/20                  

£

Purpose of S106

Infrastructure Maintenance Depot (IMD) 
Compensation fund (2,590) 0 0 (2,590)

This grant fund was established by money secured from Union Rail the 
developers of the Channel Tunnel Rail Link. The original contribution was 
£242,000. Its aim is to support the delivery of landscape access, wildlife and 
recreation schemes in the Wards and Parishes affected by the development. 

Land at the South of Hever Court Road 0 0 (80,000) (80,000) Highways contribution.

Whitehill Open Space (52,000) 0 0 (52,000)

Towards qualitative improvements to the wider Whitehill amenity space. These 
funds might be put towards a number of potential opportunities including, for 
example, new seating, footpath improvements, new planting and/or the levelling of 
the retained amenity space to the north of the proposed development.

Land South of Dalefield Way, Dering Way (67,000) 0 0 (67,000)
Flood Risk Management - £12,000, Bus Shelter - £5,000, £50,000 Cascades 
Leisure Contribution.

Whitehill Road   0 0 (1,000) (1,000) Highways contribution

Springhead Leisure Contribution (150,000) 0 0 (150,000)
To provide additional and/or improved play facilities at the Recreational ground 
and if not expended in 7 years after payment any unspent sum should be repaid

Bluewater - Gravesend Town Centre Improvements (259,460) (259,460)
A scheme to improve or enhance the environmental setting, visitor and shopper 
experience, and / or attractiveness of Gravesend Town Centre.

Dover Road - Open space (50,000) (50,000)

For use by Gravesend Council leisure for Springhead Recreation Ground pitch 
improvements at Dover Road Development,  Includes levelling works to make 
'pitch' 2  more usable to accommodate junior markings and potential 5V5 pitch.

Total S106 Contributions (581,050) 0 (81,000) (662,050)

Table 8: S106 Contributions 2019/20

P
age 117



5. TREASURY MANAGEMENT

5.1 The Council has adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management, which sets out the principles and 
guidelines to be followed in borrowing and investment operations undertaken by Local 
Authorities.  On 26 February Full Council approved the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement for 2019-20, based on the Code.  The authority’s Annual Investment Strategy 
is incorporated in the TMSS and outlines the authority’s investment priorities as being:

 Security of Capital

 Liquidity

 Yield

5.2 An update on Treasury Management performance is provided to Members through 
budget monitoring reports, with more detailed reporting of treasury management activity 
to the Finance & Audit Committee every six months. A full list of internally managed 
investments held by the Council at 30 September 2019 can be found at Appendix Three 
of this report.

5.3 The Council currently pursues a variety of investment opportunities within its Treasury 
Management strategy: 
a) Around £10m is invested in Externally Managed Property Funds generating returns 

in the region of 3-5% 
b) A further £10m is invested in three Multi-Asset funds generating returns of around 3-

4%.
c) Remaining cash balances are generally invested in short-term deposits and 

overnight money market funds currently generating returns of around 0.62%.
d) A total of £19.3m has been expended purchasing Investment Properties (including 

acquisitions and external professional support) from which initial yields have typically 
been upwards of 6%.

5.4 The following summary of Key economic developments within this reporting period has 
been provided by Link Asset Services, the authority’s Treasury Management.

5.5 UK – After only tepid annual economic growth of 1.4% in 2018, growth in quarter 1 
was unexpectedly strong at 0.5%.  However, this was boosted by stock building ahead 
of the original March Brexit deadline so quarter 2 was expected to be slightly negative 
and duly came in at -0.2% q/q, +1.3% y/y.

5.6 The Monetary Policy Committee raised Bank Rate from 0.5% to 0.75% in August 2018, 
but have abstained from any further increases since then.  We are unlikely to see any 
further action from the MPC until the uncertainties over Brexit clear.  If there were a no 
deal exit, it is likely that Bank Rate would be cut in order to support growth.  
Nevertheless, the MPC does have concerns over the trend in wage inflation which 
peaked at a new post financial crisis high of 3.9% in June before edging back to 3.8% in 
July, (excluding bonuses).  Growth in employment fell to only 31,000 in the three months 
to July, well below the 2018 average, while the unemployment rate remained at 3.8 
percent, its lowest rate since 1975.

Page 118



17

5.7 CPI inflation fell to 1.7% in August and is likely to remain close to 2% over the next two 
years.  If there was a no deal Brexit though, it could rise towards 4%, primarily as a 
result of imported inflation on the back of a weakening pound.

5.8 The rise in wage inflation and fall in CPI inflation is good news for consumers as their 
spending power is improving in this scenario as the difference between the two figures is 
now around 2.1%, i.e. a real terms increase.  Given the UK economy is very much 
services sector driven, an increase in household spending power is likely to feed through 
into providing some support to the overall rate of economic growth in the coming 
months.

5.9 USA.  President Trump’s massive easing of fiscal policy in 2018 fuelled a (temporary) 
boost in consumption in 2018 which generated an upturn in the rate of growth to 2.9% 
for 2018, just below his target of 3%.  Growth in quarter 1 of 2019 was a strong 3.1% but 
growth fell back to 2.0% in quarter 2.  The strong growth in employment numbers during 
2018 has reversed into a falling trend during 2019, indicating that the economy is 
cooling, while inflationary pressures are also weakening. After the Fed increased rates 
by 0.25% in December 2018 to between 2.25% and 2.50%, it has taken decisive action 
to reverse monetary policy by cutting rates by 0.25% in each of July and September in 
order to counter the downturn in the outlook for US and world growth. There are 
expectations that it could cut again in December.

5.10 EUROZONE.  The annual rate of growth for 2018 was 1.8% but is expected to fall to 
possibly around half that rate in 2019.  The European Central Bank (ECB) ended its 
programme of quantitative easing purchases of debt in December 2018, which meant 
that the central banks in the US, UK and EU had all ended the phase of post financial 
crisis expansion of liquidity supporting world financial markets by purchases of debt.  
However, the downturn in EZ growth in the second half of 2018 and into 2019, together 
with inflation falling well under the upper limit of its target range of 0 to 2%, (but it aims to 
keep it near to 2%), has prompted the ECB to take new measures to stimulate growth.  
At its March meeting it said that it expected to leave interest rates at their present levels 
“at least through the end of 2019”, but that was of little help to boosting growth in the 
near term.  Consequently, it announced further stimulus which provides banks with 
cheap borrowing every three months from September 2019 until March 2021.  However, 
since then, the downturn in EZ and world growth has gathered momentum so at its 
meeting on 12 September, it cut its deposit rate further into negative territory, from -0.4% 
to -0.5% and announced a resumption of quantitative easing purchases of debt.  It also 
increased the maturity of the third round of TLTROs from two to three years.  However, it 
is doubtful whether this loosening of monetary policy will have much impact on growth 
and unsurprisingly, the ECB stated that governments will need to help stimulate growth 
by fiscal policy.

The background papers to this report are held within the Accountancy Section

Page 119



18

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk Assessment The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 30 
September against the original budget set for the 2019/20 financial year, and 
illustrate how this affects the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by 
the Council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Succesfully 
Managing Key Business Risks

Page 120

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


19

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



BMR Q2 2019-20 Appendix 2

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

EXPENDITURE

Employees

Salaries (Gross) 10,948,640 10,817,890 10,846,850 11,113,170 11,400,130 11,686,940 11,981,010 12,282,390 12,591,280 12,953,620 12,951,630 

Vacancy allowance (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000) (350,000)

Salaries (Net) 10,598,640 10,467,890 10,496,850 10,763,170 11,050,130 11,336,940 11,631,010 11,932,390 12,241,280 12,603,620 12,601,630 

Temporary Staff 392,840 392,840 402,660 412,730 423,060 433,620 444,460 455,570 466,940 478,620 478,620 

Wages 221,870 221,870 104,410 107,010 109,680 232,430 115,250 118,140 121,090 124,120 124,120 

Pension and National Insurance Contributions 2,571,420 2,577,440 2,596,390 2,656,210 2,727,920 2,796,110 2,866,070 2,937,990 3,011,390 3,098,300 3,098,300 

Other (Training, Retirement Benefits, etc) 1,510,860 1,510,610 1,494,970 1,512,540 1,491,090 1,492,140 1,493,220 1,494,330 1,495,470 1,495,470 1,495,470 

Running Expenses 10,044,700 11,456,560 10,460,310 10,618,410 10,779,190 11,104,440 11,379,470 11,356,960 11,447,740 11,530,510 11,572,140 

Capital Financing 1,623,430 1,623,430 1,075,820 959,250 935,360 915,920 897,720 868,690 741,810 816,720 816,720 

Net Housing Benefit Subsidy (95,790) (95,790) (140,920) (52,120) 14,870 64,790 101,450 127,810 146,230 158,570 158,570 

Recharges to Other Accounts (3,014,100) (2,998,820) (3,022,410) (3,056,540) (3,094,220) (3,141,030) (3,181,940) (3,226,280) (3,262,570) (3,304,430) (3,304,430)

Other Government Grants (2,236,120) (2,966,890) (2,012,690) (2,037,440) (2,062,690) (2,088,440) (2,114,720) (2,139,640) (2,168,870) (2,196,750) (2,196,750)

Investment Income (843,720) (918,720) (453,530) (364,420) (486,350) (463,400) (434,620) (175,690) --   --   --   

Fees & Charges (7,433,120) (7,699,490) (7,175,280) (7,186,970) (7,181,360) (7,184,120) (7,196,830) (7,192,910) (7,135,010) (7,141,620) (7,141,620)

Rental Income (3,713,090) (4,254,000) (4,451,330) (4,594,150) (4,552,180) (4,580,530) (4,542,170) (4,666,510) (4,711,440) (4,757,710) (4,803,110)

APPROPRIATIONS

Capital Items met from Balances and Reserves 1,518,300 1,518,300 1,228,000 685,000 605,000 420,000 305,000 305,000 505,000 505,000 505,000 

Net Contribution to / (from) Reserves (622,740) (755,560) (422,390) 263,520 434,020 495,060 659,040 813,440 537,520 537,710 537,710 

Appropriation to / (from) Balances 611,150 611,150 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 

Parish Precepts 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 339,740 

BUDGET REQUIREMENT FOR THE YEAR 11,474,270 11,030,560 11,067,600 11,572,940 12,080,260 12,720,670 13,309,150 13,896,030 14,323,320 14,834,870 14,829,110 

Business Rates Income (3,085,050) (3,209,670) (2,698,680) (2,752,650) (2,807,700) (2,863,850) (2,921,130) (2,979,560) (3,039,150) (3,099,940) (3,099,940)

Residual Revenue Support Grant (RSG) --   --   243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 243,710 

Less: Passported Parish Grant (LSCT) --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

New Homes Bonus (611,150) (611,150) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000)

Council Tax Income (6,892,290) (6,892,290) (7,072,230) (7,256,830) (7,446,490) (7,640,960) (7,840,630) (8,045,590) (8,255,910) (8,471,670) (8,692,940)

Parish Precepts (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740) (339,740)

Transfers to / (from) the Collection Fund 196,460 196,460 --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   --   

Recycling of Excess Usable Working Balances above £4m (742,500) (742,500) (653,660) (920,430) (1,183,040) (1,572,830) (1,904,360) (1,522,510) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000)

--   (568,330) 0 --   --   --   --   705,340 1,838,230 2,073,230 1,846,200 

--   --   0 --   --   --   --   705,340 1,132,890 235,000 (227,030)

Projected 

2025-26

Projected 

2026-27

Projected 

2019-20

Original 

2019-20

Projected 

2024-25

Projected 

2022-23

Projected 

2023-24

GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

Projected 

2028-29

BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND)

NEW SAVINGS PER ANNUM

Projected 

2021-22

Projected 

2020-21

Projected 

2027-28

P
age 123



BMR Q2 2019-20 Appendix 2

2019-20      

Original

2019-20      

Projected

2020-21      

Original

2021-22      

Original

2022-23      

Original

2023-24      

Original

2024-25      

Original

2025-26      

Original

2026-27      

Original

2027-28      

Original

2027-28      

Original

Working Balances B/Fwd (Exc. £1.25m Min) 8,037,850 8,037,850 8,474,830 8,368,170 7,994,740 7,358,700 6,332,870 4,975,510 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000

New Homes Bonus 611,150 611,150 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000 547,000

Usage of Excess Working Balances to support GF (742,500) (742,500) (653,660) (920,430) (1,183,040) (1,572,830) (1,904,360) (1,522,510) (547,000) (547,000) (547,000)

Transfer from Balances to equalise Council Tax - - - - - - - - - - -

SUB-TOTAL (BEFORE SAVINGS REQUIREMENT) 7,906,500 7,906,500 8,368,170 7,994,740 7,358,700 6,332,870 4,975,510 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000

(Shortfall)/Underspend Against Original Budget - 568,330 (0) - - - - (705,340) (1,838,230) (2,073,230) (1,846,200)

GF Working Balances C/FWd (Exc. £1.25m Min) 7,906,500 8,474,830 8,368,170 7,994,740 7,358,700 6,332,870 4,975,510 3,294,660 1,456,430 (616,800) (2,463,000)

Specific Reserves (as at end of year)

Spend to Save Reserve (incl. Digital Team) 157,460 159,560 161,660 163,760 165,860 167,960 170,060 172,160 174,260 176,360 178,460

Corporate Priorities Reserve 309,500 280,400 280,400 280,400 280,400 280,400 280,400 280,400 280,400 280,400 280,400

Asset Enhancement Reserve 1,376,780 1,068,480 695,480 615,480 615,480 600,480 700,480 800,480 900,480 1,000,480 1,100,480

Planning Policy Reserve 420,060 470,060 520,060 570,060 620,060 670,060 720,060 770,060 820,060 870,060 920,060

Leisure Centres Reserve 1,326,020 1,607,320 1,596,220 1,880,120 2,164,020 2,507,920 2,851,820 3,195,720 3,539,620 3,883,520 4,227,420

Decriminalisation (General) 84,640 84,640 184,640 284,640 384,640 484,640 584,640 684,640 784,640 884,640 984,640

Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 98,480 110,980 99,480 111,980 124,480 107,980 120,480 132,980 121,480 109,980 98,480

Local Authority Mortgage Scheme Reserve 50,000 25,000 - - - - - - - - -

Elections Reserve 171,750 51,750 81,750 111,750 141,750 51,750 81,750 111,750 141,750 171,750 201,750

IT Infrastructure Reserve 304,730 379,730 284,730 239,730 314,730 349,730 294,730 369,730 404,730 439,730 474,730

DSO Fleet Vehicle Replacement Reserve 414,280 84,280 84,280 84,280 84,280 84,280 84,280 84,280 84,280 84,280 84,280

Waste Freighter Replacement Reserve 780,360 1,011,710 1,243,060 1,474,410 1,698,760 1,923,110 2,147,460 2,368,810 2,593,160 2,817,510 3,041,860

Business Rates Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 665,860 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

Growth Fund Reserve 478,430 463,070 463,070 463,070 463,070 463,070 463,070 463,070 463,070 463,070 463,070

Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000

Service Review Reserve 246,780 163,780 163,780 163,780 163,780 163,780 163,780 163,780 163,780 163,780 163,780

Playgrounds Reserve 166,660 66,660 66,660 66,660 66,660 66,660 66,660 66,660 66,660 66,660 66,660

Woodville Repairs Reserve 170,320 227,570 284,820 342,070 399,320 456,570 513,820 571,070 628,320 685,570 742,820

Commercial Income Protection Reserve 424,410 483,590 506,100 527,520 526,440 530,400 524,340 542,680 549,100 555,710 562,320

Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

St George's Centre Income Protection Reserve 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240 422,240

Housing & Commerical Growth Fund Reserve 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000

TOTAL BALANCES & RESERVES 17,325,260 17,485,650 17,356,600 17,646,690 17,844,670 17,513,900 17,015,580 16,345,170 15,444,460 14,308,940 13,400,450

NB: ADDT. MINIMUM WORKING BALANCES 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000 1,250,000

Analysis of Balances & Specific Reserves Balances 

as at the end of the Financial Year (i.e. 31 March)                                       

P
age 124



Class Type Deal Ref Start / 
Purchase Date Maturity Date Counterparty Profile Rate Principal O/S 

(£)
0 7 Deposit Fixed 857 12/10/18 11/10/19 Australia and New Zealand Banking Group 

Limited
Maturity 1.0400% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 858 25/10/18 25/10/19 Australia and New Zealand Banking Group 
Limited

Maturity 1.0600% -5,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 863 07/11/18 06/11/19 Toronto-Dominion Bank Maturity 1.1600% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 125 05/04/19 04/10/19 Standard Chartered Bank Maturity 1.0000% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 864 15/05/19 15/05/20 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) Maturity 1.2500% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 864a 15/05/19 15/05/20 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) Maturity 1.2500% -3,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 865 15/07/19 01/07/20 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) Maturity 1.2500% -2,000,000.00

Deposit Fixed 866 31/07/19 01/07/20 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) Maturity 1.2500% -1,000,000.00

Fixed Total 1.1370% -20,000,000.00

8 Deposit Call - 95 days notice 132 02/08/19 Santander UK plc Maturity 0.0100% -1,000,000.00

Call - 95 days notice Total 0.0100% -1,000,000.00

8 Deposit Call - 35 days notice 124 05/02/19 Santander UK plc Maturity 0.8500% -5,000,000.00

Call - 35 days notice Total 0.8500% -5,000,000.00

11 Deposit MMF Invesco RR MMF 11/06/18 Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity 0.7117% -1,158,974.71

Deposit MMF 250Invesco MMF 01/04/16 Invesco STIC Sterling Liquidity Inst Inc Maturity 0.7117% -2,845,025.29

Deposit MMF Insight Sterling Liquidity Fund 12/07/18 Insight Liquidity Sterling C5 Maturity 0.6588% -2,309,848.44

MMF Total 0.6923% -6,313,848.44

15 Deposit VNAV Fund 94 09/02/18 Aberdeen Diversified Income Funds Maturity 0.0000% -1,862,147.90

Deposit VNAV Fund 95 14/02/18 Jupiter Asset Management Maturity 0.0000% -2,751,575.74

Deposit VNAV Fund 96 22/02/18 JP Morgan Asset Management Maturity 0.0000% -4,939,862.54

Deposit VNAV Fund 51 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -2,738,803.62

Deposit VNAV Fund 49 27/05/16 CCLA Local Authorities Property Fund Maturity 0.0000% -1,928,101.80

Deposit VNAV Fund 52 27/06/16 Hermes Maturity 0.0000% -530,923.26

Deposit VNAV Fund 50 01/07/16 Lothbury Maturity 0.0000% -5,283,265.67

VNAV Fund Total 0.0000% -20,034,680.53

Deposit Total 0.5993% -52,348,528.97

Tot
al

To
tal Grand Total -52,348,528.97

Principal Outstanding
Gravesham Borough Council (Accounts: GENERAL FUND, HRA, Heritage Quarter - Capital 
Contribution, Heritage Quarter - Rent Reserve)

As At: 30/09/2019

Page 1 of 1Report Generated for Gravesham Borough Council at 17/10/19 09:24

P
age 125



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet
Finance & Audit Committee

Date: 11 November 2019 / 12 November 2019

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report  – 
Quarter Two 2019/20

Purpose and summary of report:
To provide Members with information on actual performance against the approved Revenue 
and Capital budgets for 2019/20, including known variances agreed or identified through 
budgetary control activity.
To update Members on other key arears of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan 
or Financial Statements.

Recommendations:

This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. The Constitution of the council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
council’s finances and financial performance.  This report therefore provides an 
assessment of performance against approved budgets for the 2019/20 financial year for 
the second quarter to 30 September 2019 as well as updating Members on other key 
areas of financial performance. 

1.2. The council continues to operate robust budgetary control actions to ensure good 
financial governance and respond to the pressures on the council’s finances.  In addition 
to the reporting of financial performance through regular budget monitoring reports, 
these actions include:

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to 
Management Team for discussion and approval;

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders;

 Requiring recruitment activity (relating to both permanent and temporary 
appointments, and including use of overtime) to be considered and approved by 
Management Team;

 Monitoring the delivery of activity under the council’s Bridging the Gap Strategy, 
as set out in the current Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

Page 127 Agenda Item 11



2

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

HRA (Revenue)

2.1. At the end of Quarter Two, income and expenditure for the year remains balanced, albeit 
with an increased anticipated contribution from reserves to fund projected revenue 
expenditure for the year. The main variance within the forecast position compared to the 
original budget is an increased contribution to meet carry-forwards from 2018/19 within 
the Capital Programme and current year capital spend. There are also projected 
underspends within salaries and repairs and maintenance.

2.2. The level of Working Balances at year-end are projected to be £3.0m, at the minimum 
level of Working Balances for the HRA.  Movements in the year are projected to result in 
a net decrease in the General HRA Reserves of £5.06m, with the level of reserves being 
£6.09m at start of year and projected to be £1.08m at year-end.

2.3. The significant risk to the HRA’s financial position continues to be the lack of clarity 
regarding funding and regulatory reform. 

Housing Capital

2.3.1. The revised budget for the Housing Capital Programme for the year is £18.6m, with    
expenditure and commitments to the end of Quarter Two of £10.4m.

3. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

3.1. Budget 2019/20

3.1.1. The table on the next page sets out the current forecast spend against the original 
budget for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA), based on variances to 30 September 
2019.  As at 30 September 2019, the forecast reflects a saving of £454k against the 
original budgets within Supervision and Management and Repairs and Maintenance.  
This figure, however, is offset by the increase to Capital Financing in order to meet the 
costs of the carry forward capital programme from 2018/19 as well as additional current 
year costs.  The net effect is an adverse variance to original budget of £1.54m.

Page 128



3

Description
Original 
Budget 

2019/20 (£)

Forecast   
2019/20 (£) Variation (£)

Supervision and Management 5,357,200 5,253,200 (104,000)
Repairs and Maintenance 7,618,140 7,268,140 (350,000)
Depreciation 6,911,810 6,911,810 0
Intensive Management Fund - Expenditure 667,490 667,490 0
Capital Finance 10,189,750 12,191,730 2,001,980
Sub Total Expenditure 30,744,390 32,292,370 1,547,980
Rents of Dwellings (25,031,400) (25,031,400) 0
Other Rental Income (29,300) (29,300) 0
Service Charges (1,399,800) (1,399,800) 0
Non Dwelling Income (140,000) (140,000) 0
Intensive Management Fund - Income (521,480) (521,480) 0
Other Income (112,450) (112,450) 0
Sub Total Income (27,234,430) (27,234,430) 0
Contributions to/(from) reserves (3,509,960) (5,057,940) (1,547,980)
Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0

Table 1: Housing Revenue Account 2019/20

3.2. SUPERVISION & MANAGEMENT –  £104k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.2.1. Vacancy Management: £104k favourable variance – the HRA staffing budget for 
2019/20 incorporates a vacancy allowance of £100k for the year.  It is anticipated that 
this will occur throughout the establishment as a whole from natural staff turnover within 
day-to-day business activities, as well as posts held vacant pending the re-design of 
services.  For the first half of the financial year, actual staffing spend was £104k lower 
than budgeted.

3.3. REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE – £350k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE

3.3.1. Repairs & Maintenance: £350k – favourable variance – The Responsive Repairs 
Team continue to deliver efficiencies and savings in its operations whilst providing a 
service that meets the council’s objectives as a landlord as well as managing tenant 
expectations.  Whilst the current projected underspend is likely, it is important to 
remember that this budget funds a reactive service where demand naturally fluctuates in 
response to factors outside of the council’s control.

Page 129



4

3.4. CAPITAL FINANCING – £2.00m ADVERSE VARIANCE

3.4.1. New Build Programme – £1.63m - adverse variance – The current forecasts indicate 
that spend in Quarters Three and Four will result in expenditure above the original 
budget.  This does not raise concern at this stage as it represents an acceleration of 
spend against the retained right to buy receipts and the council’s match funding but it is 
subject to change as the build programme progresses. 

3.4.2. The Housing Strategy Manager and Finance Officers continue to work closely to 
monitoring the progress of the current schemes to ensure that the Council is not 
required to pay back funds Central Government.

3.4.3. Capital Financing – £213k – adverse variance - In Quarter One an adverse variance 
of £413k had been identified due to the use of the revenue reserve to meet the needs of 
the carry forward capital programme.  However, in Quarter Two this variance has been 
reduced by efficiency savings of £200k within the capital programme.

3.4.4. Interest - £152k – adverse variance - The introduction of a two loans pool at the end of 
2018/19 has resulted in additional interest being apportioned to the HRA to reflect the 
current year position of the HRA associated loans.

3.5. Working Balances and Reserves

3.5.1. The variances outlined in this report have the following effect upon HRA working 
balances:

Working Balances £

Balance Brought Forward from 2018/19 3,000,000
Forecast Outturn position 2019/20 (5,057,940)
Forecast working balances C/Fwd (as at 30 September 2019) including 
minimum HRA Working Balance (2,057,940)

Add: Transfer from HRA General Reserve (Revenue) 5,057,940
Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd (as at 30 September 2019) 3,000,000

Table 2: Effect on Housing Revenue Account Working Balances

3.5.2. The working balances are supplemented by specific reserves established to assist with 
future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary of the 
forecast movements on these specific reserves during the year.

3.5.3. The opening balance on the Revenue Reserve stood at £6.08m with the approved 
budget expending £3.58m. However, due to the forecasted accelerated spend in 
quarters three and four for the new build programme, additional resources of £1.63m is 
anticipated. The additional funds are offset by savings recognised in quarter two against 
both the Capital and Revenue budgets.   

 

HRA Specific Reserves

Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2019 
£'000

Forecast 
Contributions 

(Income) 
£'000

Forecast Use 
of Reserve 

(Expenditure) 
£'000

Forecast 
Balance 

31/03/2020 
£'000

HRA General Reserve (Revenue) (6085) 0 (5058) (1028)

Total (6085) 0 (5058) (1028)

Table 3: Analysis of Specific Reserves – HRA

Page 130



5

3.6. HRA Business Planning

3.6.1. The HRA Business Plan is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to take into account 
longer-term assumptions around inflation rates, central government grants and energy 
prices, together with building in all known variances to the budget resulting from 
Management Team and Cabinet decisions.

3.6.2. The HRA Business Plan reflects the current and future financial spend profiles identified 
in the recent Stock Condition Survey produced by Penningtons in July 2018.  It also 
reflects future forecasts of the New Build Programme beyond the existing three year 
scheme based on the current assumption of the sale of 30 Council Houses per annum.

3.6.3. The latest version of the HRA Business Plan is attached to this report at Appendix Two.

3.6.4. On 9 October 2019 HM Treasury announced that it would increase the interest rates on 
all new loans from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) by 100 basis points (one 
percentage point) on top of usual lending terms.  This appears to be in response to a 
substantial increase in the use of PWLB by local authorities over recent months, given 
the cost of borrowing had fallen to record lows.  This action is likely to make the PWLB 
the lender of last resort and require the council to identify alternative sources.  

3.6.5. Shorter term funding, up to five years, is likely to be available from some local authorities 
and banks but securing longer term funding could prove difficult.  Borrowing from the 
market longer term requires additional time both for planning and administration and 
even then it might not be possible to find a lender that matches the specific 
requirements, forcing us to take on more expensive debt. 

3.6.6. As a result, the cost of borrowing for capital purposes will significantly rise, payback 
periods will lengthen and in some cases scheme affordability could be jeopardised.  It 
will be a case of waiting to see how the market reacts to this sudden announcement and 
what levels are achievable going forward.

Page 131



6

4. HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

4.1. The Housing Capital programme for 2019/20 is £18,632,520 of which £17,106,120 
relates to HRA capital schemes and £1,526,400 relates to non-HRA capital schemes.  
These budgets include £1,216,890 and £693,600, respectively that are carried forward 
from 2018/19.

4.2. The HRA capital schemes continue to focus on maintaining the minimum decent homes 
standard for the Council’s stock in 2019/20, with £8,763,820 earmarked for this purpose 
within the Replacement, Improvement and Health & Safety Works Programmes.  The 
council also continues its commitment to build new homes with £7,662,300 allocated for 
this purpose.

Ref No: Project
 Original Budget 

2019-20 inc CFwd 
(£)

Expenditure 
Including 

Commitments 
(£)

Balance 
Outstanding 

(£)

A Replacement Programmes 4,920,550 3,923,430 (997,120)
B Improvement Programmes 2,069,290 1,436,210 (633,080)
C Health & Safety Works 1,773,980 1,667,430 (106,550)
D New Build & Acquisions 7,662,300 3,009,490 (4,652,810)
E Housing Computer Systems 600,000 0 (600,000)
F Replacement Play Equipment 80,000 0 (80,000)

Sub Total (HRA Capital Programme) 17,106,120 10,036,560 (7,069,560)
G Disabled Facilities Grant 1,526,400 385,309 (1,141,091)

Total (HRA & GF Capital Programme) 18,632,520 10,421,869 (8,210,651)

HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Table 4: Housing Capital Programme 2019/20

4.3. The following works were undertaken or completed by the end of Quarter Two 2019/20:

4.3.1. Replacement Programmes (Ref A)

 101 kitchen replacements;

 72 bathroom replacements;

 10 properties had new window and door replacements.  A further 54 properties 
have had new windows, including properties and the communal area at The Hive 
which include properties and communal areas.  The Hive block programme is 
now 90% complete;

 639 properties had electrical tests and/or remedial works including rewiring, 
minor works and upgrades to consumer units;

 20 blocks has had communal electrical tests and/or remedial works completed;
 3 residential blocks had the roofing completely replaced;

 15 domestic properties have had roof renewals.

4.3.2. Across the Replacement Programmes, savings of £100k is expected to be achieved at 
the end of the Financial Year.  This is due to the Heating Installation Programme being 
delivered more competitively.

Page 132



7

4.3.3. Improvement Programmes (Ref B)

 273 properties had new central heating systems installed;

 13 properties had new storage heating installed;

 61 properties had level access showers/wet rooms/over bath showers installed;

 10 adaptations completed (kitchens, wheelchair accessibility);

 A major refurbishment project at Park Place comprising of 6 blocks has been 
completed.  This included the renewal of flat roofs, upgrades to the stairways, 
handrails, balustrades and new/re-surfacing to walkways.

4.3.3. Across the Improvement Programmes, savings of £100k is expected to be achieved at 
the end of the Financial Year.  This is due to the reduction in numbers of Kitchen Void 
work required to date within 2019/20.  

4.3.5. Health & Safety Works (Ref C)

 2 passenger lifts situated in Wallis Park have had major modernisation works 
carried out;

 The retrofitting of a Fire Sprinkler system at Homemead has been completed and 
awaiting the final sign-off from the project manager;

 Works are 90% complete in respect of the retrofitting of the fire sprinkler system 
at Gravesham Court;

 Works have commenced to upgrade the warden call equipment to 4 sheltered 
schemes, door entry equipment to 5 blocks, and access control equipment to 19 
sites.

4.4. New Build (Ref D)

4.4.1. The authority signed an agreement with the DCLG to retain part of the Right To Buy 
(RTB) receipts and use them as part-funding of new build and/or acquisition of additional 
social housing.  The following is the reported position at the end of Quarter Two:

 Construction continues at St Hilda’s Way with the housing scheme is expecting 
to be completed by the end of 2019.  The scheme is set to deliver 10 x 1 and 2 
bed flats, 4 x 2 bed maisonettes and 32 x 2 bed houses;

 Westridge Construction Limited are on site at the former Whitehill Tenants 
Associations Club site where they are constructing 24 x 1 and 2 bed flats and 8 x 
3 bed houses;

 Planning permission has been granted for the demolition of bedsits at Valley 
drive and the construction of 32 x 1 bed flats for over 55’s and 16 x 1, 2 and 3 
bed general needs flats.  The scheme is out to tender via the South East 
Consortium with tenders due to be returned by 8 November;

 Planning permission has been granted to build 23 x 1 and 2 bed flats on the land 
at St Patrick’s Gardens.  The tender documentation is currently being prepared;

 The erection of two single dwellings were permitted at Regulatory Board on 4 
October being 1 x 3 bed house at Wilberforce Way and 1 x 1 bed bungalow at 
Barr Road.  Continued consideration is being given to other sites across the 
borough to enable the delivery of new council homes

Page 133



8

4.4.2. The council is permitted to retain part of the RTB receipts to repay the debt incurred in 
2012 as part of HRA self-financing.  As at 1 April 2019, the balance on the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve fund stood at £438,550.  The proposal is to use the RTB 
Allowable Debt reserve to help fund the New Build projects, ahead of any other funding 
source, as this can either be used to repay debt or finance the capital programme. 

4.4.3. Table 13 summarises the one for one receipts retained from the sale of Right To Buy 
properties, since 2012, along with the level of GBC’s contributions required to deliver the 
New Build programme and a summary of when expenditure needs to be delivered to 
avoid having to return funds to Central Government.

One for one 
receipts 
retained

GBC 70% 
contribution to 
new build

Value of new 
build 
expenditure 
expected

Cumulative value 
of new build 
expenditure 
expected

Date of new 
build expected 
by

£ £ £ £

2012-15 c/f 3,330,320 7,770,750 11,101,070 51,278,050 31-Mar-17
2015-16
Q1 124,270 289,960 414,230 11,515,300 30-Jun-18
Q2 233,510 544,870 778,380 12,293,680 30-Sep-18
Q3 589,670 1,375,910 1,965,580 14,259,260 31-Dec-18
Q4 650,580 1,518,010 2,168,590 16,427,860 31-Mar-19
2016-17
Q1 697,650 1,627,850 2,325,500 18,753,360 30-Jun-19
Q2 205,200 478,790 683,990 19,437,350 30-Sep-19
Q3 541,710 1,263,990 1,805,700 21,243,060 31-Dec-19
Q4 532,670 1,242,890 1,775,560 23,018,620 31-Mar-20
2017-18
Q1 351,150 819,350 1,170,500 24,189,120 30-Jun-20
Q2 296,150 691,020 987,170 25,176,290 30-Sep-20
Q3 730,460 1,704,420 2,434,880 27,611,170 31-Dec-20
Q4 433,800 1,012,210 1,446,010 29,057,180 01-Jan-21
2018-19
Q1 694,160 1,619,710 2,313,870 31,371,040 30-Jun-21
Q2 484,630 1,130,800 1,615,430 32,986,460 30-Sep-21
Q3 379,770 886,130 1,265,900 34,252,360 31-Dec-21
Q4 238,610 556,760 795,370 35,047,730 31-Mar-22
2019-20
Q1 383,470 894,760 1,278,230 36,325,960 30-Jun-22
Q2 1,382,090 3,224,870 4,606,960 40,932,920 30-Sep-22

10,897,780 25,428,180 36,325,960

Table 5: New Build

4.5. Housing Computer System (Ref E)
4.5.1. Following the due diligence previously undertaken, and as advised in the Quarter One 

report, the review of the procurement options available to the council is ongoing.  To 
date, four suppliers have delivered system demonstrations to council officers.

Page 134



9

4.6. Replacement Playground Equipment (Ref G)

4.6.1. A draft action plan has been drawn up to establish the current needs in the form of a 
play-site replacement programme.  Once reviewed and approved, the capital funding will 
be allocated against the areas that are identified as the highest priority.

4.7. Disabled Facility Grants (DFGs) (Ref I) 

4.7.1. The grant funding awarded to the Council, via the Better Care Fund, in 2019/20 was 
£832,800.  The total funding available is £1,526,430 which includes carry forward from 
2018/19 of £693,630.

4.7.2. The Council continues to offer the Disabled Facility Grant programme to homes eligible 
for assistance that comply with the wider remit of the Better Care.  In Quarter Two of 
2019/20 a total of 85 cases have been processed, of which the breakdown is as follows:

 14 grant cases were approved

 16 households had works completed

 7 applications were cancelled due to changes in the client’s circumstances

 48 grant cases are awaiting approval

4.7.3. The Council distributed £92,710 to private homeowners within the borough who qualify 
for Disabled Facility Grant assistance and additional grants totalling £192,300 have been 
approved in principal.

4.7.4 A total of 19 people have benefited from the Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy 
which enables people to gain access to funding which otherwise would not have been 
available.  It has assisted 8 people to have better managed hospital discharges and a 
further 11 people have been discharged from hospital into a safer home environment.

4.8. Capital Resources
4.8.1. The table below shows the resources available to fund capital projects in future.

Housing Capital Resources
Opening 
Balance 

01/04/2019 (£)

Income 
2019/20 (£)

Use of 
Funding 

2019/20 (£)

Projected 
Balance 

31/03/2020 (£)
Capital Receipts - HRA (1,318,810) (257,300) 1,099,970 (476,140)
Capital Receipts - GF Housing (68,900) 0 0 (68,900)
Capital Receipts - PV Panels (3,573,000) 0 0 (3,573,000)
Major Repairs Reserve - Dwellings (1,402,480) (6,911,810) 8,314,290 0
Major Repairs Reserve - Non Dwellings (652,030) 0 652,030 0
New Build Reserve: 1-4-1 Receipts (5,544,950) (2,752,840) 2,298,690 (5,999,100)
Right to Buy Allowable Debt Reserve (438,550) (726,230) 1,155,570 (9,210)
Disabled Facility Grants (693,640) (832,800) 1,526,400 (40)
Christianfields Overage (766,000) 0 0 (766,000)
Total (14,458,360) (11,480,980) 15,046,950 (10,892,390)

Table 6: HRA and General Fund Housing Capital Resources 2019/20

4.8.2. Projected Capital Expenditure and funding requirements for the HRA can be found at 
Appendix Three to this report.

 

Page 135



10

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this report.

Risk Assessment The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 30 
September against the original budget set for the 2019/20 financial year, and 
illustrate how this affects the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by 
the Council.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Succesfully 
Managing Key Business Risks

Page 136

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


11

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 HRA - Business Plan Revenue Summary.pdf

Original 

Budget Q2

HRA Budget Monitoring 2019.20 2019.20 2020.21 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29

Expenditure

Supervision and Management 5,357 5,253 4,852 5,551 5,729 5,924 6,125 6,334 6,549 6,772 7,002

Repairs and Maintenance 7,618 7,268 7,917 8,067 8,244 8,442 8,645 8,852 9,065 9,282 9,505

Depreciation 6,912 6,912 7,116 7,297 7,455 7,635 7,820 8,009 8,202 8,401 8,604

Intensive Housing Management - Expenditure 667 667 686 705 728 753 778 805 832 860 890

Capital Finance 7,017 7,176 7,864 7,637 7,922 8,140 8,354 8,308 8,250 8,185 8,111

RCCO 3,173 5,015 392 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Expenditure 30,744 32,292 28,827 29,258 30,078 30,893 31,722 32,308 32,899 33,500 34,111

Income

Rents of Dwellings (25,031) (25,031) (26,209) (27,014) (27,718) (28,494) (29,291) (29,819) (30,355) (30,899) (31,452)

Other Rental Income (Phone masts etc) (29) (29) (29) (29) (29) (29) (29) (29) (29) (29) (29)

Service Charges (1,400) (1,400) (1,435) (1,474) (1,519) (1,568) (1,619) (1,671) (1,725) (1,781) (1,838)

Non Dwelling Income (Garages & Commercial) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140) (140)

Intensive Housing Management  - Income (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521) (521)

Other Income (Interest, Ins Reimburse & CCentre) (112) (112) (112) (112) (112) (112) (112) (112) (112) (112) (112)

Total Income (27,234) (27,234) (28,447) (29,291) (30,040) (30,865) (31,713) (32,293) (32,883) (33,483) (34,094)

Contributions to/(from) reserves (3,510) (5,058) (380) 33 (39) (28) (9) (15) (16) (17) (18)

Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balances and Reserves

HRA Working Balances

B/fwd Balance 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000

Variances per budget report (3,510) (5,058) (380) 33 (39) (28) (9) (15) (16) (17) (18)

Forecast Working Balances C/fwd (510) (2,058) 2,620 3,033 2,961 2,972 2,991 2,985 2,984 2,983 2,982

Movement (to)/from HRA General Reserve 3,510 5,058 380 (33) 39 28 9 15 16 17 18

Forecast Usable Working Balances C/fwd 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000

HRA General Reserve

Opening Balance 6,085 6,085 1,028 256 289 250 222 213 199 183 166

Use to support revenue position (337) (43) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Use in capital financing (3,173) (5,015) (392) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Surplus on HRA revenue account 0 0 0 33 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Deficit on HRA revenue account 0 0 (380) 0 (39) (28) (9) (15) (16) (17) (18)

Forecast HRA General Reserve Balances C/fwd 2,575 1,028 256 289 250 222 213 199 183 166 148

Funding Shortfall 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 139



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 HRA - Business Plan Capital Summary

Original Budget Q2

HRA Capital Budget Monitoring 2019.2 2019.20 2020.21 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 2026.27 2027.28 2028.29

Capital Expendture

Capital Maintenance Expenditure

Replacement Programme 4,921 4,821 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Improvement Programme 2,069 1,969 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Health & Safety 1,774 1,774 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Planned Maintenance 0 0 1,038 3,611 4,575 7,517 5,314 5,431 5,550 5,673 5,797

Kitchen 0 0 1,014 1,032 1,052 1,075 1,099 1,123 1,148 1,173 1,199

Bathroom 0 0 386 393 401 410 419 428 437 447 457

Heating Installations 0 0 1,220 1,241 1,266 1,294 1,322 1,351 1,381 1,411 1,443

Disabled Adaptations 0 0 509 517 527 539 551 563 575 588 601

Asbestos Management 0 0 71 72 74 75 77 79 81 82 84

Electrical Testing 0 0 809 822 839 857 876 895 915 935 956

Precaution Works 0 0 679 691 316 323 331 338 345 353 361

Communal 0 0 657 668 682 697 712 727 743 760 777

Major Voids 0 0 400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Savings Required 0 0 0 (692) (1,188) (4,050) (1,770) (1,804) (1,839) (1,874) (1,909)

Capital Maintenance Expenditure Total 8,764 8,564 6,784 8,356 8,545 8,737 8,931 9,132 9,338 9,549 9,765

Other Capital Expenditure

Housing Computer System 600 600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Virtual Desktop & IT Infrastructure 0 80 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Play Equipment 80 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Maintenance Expenditure Total 680 680 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build Expenditure

Packham Road 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Purchases from the Market 0 1,666 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Kings Farm 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

St Hilda's 0 1,360 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Whitehill Road 0 3,233 2,561 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Valley Drive 0 2,694 6,655 125 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Claremont Place 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Chichester Rise 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Development Enabler 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build 7,662 157 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New Build Programme Unidentified Scheme 0 0 1,280 5,959 9,176 11,118 11,711 12,308 12,926 13,566 14,228

New Build Expenditure Total 7,662 9,123 10,497 6,084 9,176 11,118 11,711 12,308 12,926 13,566 14,228

Total Capital Expenditure 17,106 18,367 17,281 14,440 17,721 19,855 20,642 21,440 22,264 23,115 23,993

Financing

HRA Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA New Build Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

MRR (8,966) (8,966) (7,116) (7,297) (7,455) (7,635) (7,820) (8,009) (8,202) (8,401) (8,604)

RTB - Attributable Debt (1,156) (1,156) (828) (819) (819) (819) (819) (819) (819) (819) (819)

RTB - LA Share 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB - Transaction Costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other Capital receipts (1,100) (1,100) (740) (264) (264) (264) (264) (264) (264) (264) (264)

Gen Cap Reserve 0 0 (0) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Gen Cap Reserve 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA General Reserve/RCCO (3,586) (5,015) (392) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

HRA Reserve 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

RTB - 141 Receipts (2,299) (2,130) (1,652) (1,797) (2,753) (3,335) (3,513) (3,692) (3,878) (4,070) (4,268)

Capital Grant 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

S106 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Returned to Capital Reserve 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Borrowing 0 0 (6,552) (4,264) (6,431) (7,802) (8,226) (8,656) (9,101) (9,562) (10,038)

Total Financing (17,106) (18,367) (17,281) (14,440) (17,721) (19,855) (20,642) (21,440) (22,264) (23,115) (23,993)

Net Over/Under Financing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 141



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6 Audit & Counter Fraud Update - Q2
	2. Appendix 2 - A&CF Update 01 Aug 2019 to 30 Sep 2019

	7 NFI Progress Report
	8 Treasury Management Mid-Year Review 2019/20
	Appendix 2 - Deposits Dashboard Investments
	Appendix 3 - Investments as at 30 September 2019

	9 Corporate Risk Register Mid-Year review 2019/20
	2. Corporate Risk Register 2019-2020
	3. Mid Year Progress Information V2

	10 General Fund Budget Monitoring Report - Q2 2019/20
	Appendix 2 MTFP - V4 - 2019-20 - BMR Q2
	Appendix 3 - Investments as at 30 September 2019

	11 Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report - Q2 2019/20
	Appendix 2 HRA - Business Plan Revenue Summary
	Appendix 3 HRA - Business Plan Capital Summary


